Public Document Pack

eeds

CITY COUNCIL

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

Meeting to be held in Room 700, Leeds Central Library,
Calverley Street, Leeds LS1 3AB on

Thursday, 20th October, 2016 at 9.30 am

There will be a pre-meeting for Board members 9.00 until 9.30am

MEMBERSHIP
Councillors
R Charlwood (Chair) S Golton G Latty
D Coupar
L Mulherin
Representatives of Clinical Commissioning Groups
Dr Jason Broch NHS Leeds North CCG
Dr Andrew Harris NHS Leeds South and East CCG
Dr Gordon Sinclair NHS Leeds West CCG
Nigel Gray NHS Leeds North CCG
Matt Ward NHS Leeds South and East CCG
Phil Corrigan NHS Leeds West CCG

Directors of Leeds City Council

Dr lan Cameron — Director of Public Health
Cath Roff — Director of Adult Social Services
Steve Walker — Director of Children’s Services

Representative of NHS (England)
Moira Dumma - NHS England

Third Sector Representative
Kerry Jackson — St Gemma’s Hospice

Representative of Local Health Watch Organisation
Lesley Sterling-Baxter — Healthwatch Leeds
Tanya Matilainen — Healthwatch Leeds

Representatives of NHS providers

Sara Munro - Leeds and York Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
Julian Hartley - Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust

Thea Stein - Leeds Community Healthcare NHS Trust

Agenda compiled by:
Governance Services — 0113 2474355



AGENDA

Item
No

Ward/Equal
Opportunities

Item Not
Open

Page

WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS

APPEALS AGAINST REFUSAL OF INSPECTION
OF DOCUMENTS

To consider any appeals in accordance with
Procedure Rule 15.2 of the Access to Information
Rules (in the event of an Appeal the press and
public will be excluded)

(*In accordance with Procedure Rule 15.2, written
notice of an appeal must be received by the Head
of Governance Services at least 24 hours before
the meeting)

EXEMPT INFORMATION - POSSIBLE
EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC

1 To highlight reports or appendices which
officers have identified as containing exempt
information, and where officers consider that
the public interest in maintaining the
exemption outweighs the public interest in
disclosing the information, for the reasons
outlined in the report.

2 To consider whether or not to accept the
officers recommendation in respect of the
above information.

3 If so, to formally pass the following
resolution:-

RESOLVED - That the press and public be
excluded from the meeting during
consideration of the following parts of the
agenda designated as containing exempt
information on the grounds that it is likely, in
view of the nature of the business to be
transacted or the nature of the proceedings,
that if members of the press and public were
present there would be disclosure to them of
exempt information, as follows:-




LATE ITEMS

To identify items which have been admitted to the
agenda by the Chair for consideration

(The special circumstances shall be specified in
the minutes)

DECLARATIONS OF DISCLOSABLE
PECUNIARY INTERESTS

To disclose or draw attention to any disclosable
pecuniary interests for the purposes of Section 31
of the Localism Act 2011 and paragraphs 13-16 of
the Members’ Code of Conduct.

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

To receive any apologies for absence

OPEN FORUM

At the discretion of the Chair, a period of up to 10
minutes may be allocated at each ordinary meeting
for members of the public to make representations
or to ask questions on matters within the terms of
reference of the Health and Wellbeing Board. No
member of the public shall speak for more than
three minutes in the Open Forum, except by
permission of the Chair.

MINUTES

To approve the minutes of the previous meeting
held 61" September 2016 as a correct record

THE LEEDS APPROACH TO COMMISSIONING
AND DECOMMISSIONING

To consider a report which provides an introduction
to the current approach to commissioning and de-
commissioning in Leeds, highlighting progress
towards a shared approach and key challenges. It
provides an opportunity to shape future
developments to ensure that the city is well placed
to deal with current and future financial challenges.




10

11

12

STAYING FOCUSSED ON THE WIDER
DETERMINANTS OF HEALTH

To consider a report which reiterates the
importance of the Board’s responsibilities around
poverty and the wider determinants by including an
update and information about existing work to
tackle poverty and improve health. The report
acknowledges that Anti-Poverty work programmes
are indirectly supporting most priorities in the
Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy and asks the
Board to provide strategic direction to the health
and care system to ensure a maintained focus on
the wider determinants of health.

MAKING A BREAKTHROUGH: IMPACT OF
BREAKTHROUGH PROJECTS ON HEALTH
OUTCOMES AND REDUCING HEALTH
INEQUALITIES

To consider a report which provides an update on
Leeds City Council’s eight Breakthrough Projects
and outlines each project’s key aims and activity.
The projects are designed to be cross-cutting and
outcome focused and the report notes that each
one has a link to the most recent Health and
Wellbeing Strategy. The report recognises the
important role the Health and Wellbeing Board can
play in helping to make a breakthrough in these
areas and so each project includes one key ask
where the Board’s support and influence would be
a valuable addition.

FUTURE IN MIND LEEDS - A STRATEGY TO
IMPROVE THE SOCIAL, EMOTIONAL AND
MENTAL HEALTH AND WELLBEING OF
CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE AGED 0-25
YEARS

To consider a report which sets out the shared and
ambitious strategy to transform how support is
offered and improvements can be made to the
emotional and mental health of children and young
people and therefore, ultimately impact on the
wellbeing of all the population.

The report references Future in Mind: Leeds
(attached as Appendix 1) - a single overarching
strategy - underpinned by the Future in Mind:
Leeds Local Transformation Plan (Appendix 2).

31-
76

77 -
84

85 -
124



13

14

15

17

DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL
REPORT 2016

To receive and note the Director of Public Health’s
Annual Report 2016 entitled “1866-2016: 150
years of Public Health in Leeds — a story of
continuing challenges”.

FOR INFORMATION - UPDATE ON LEEDS
TRANSFORMING CARE THREE YEAR PLAN

To note a report on the progress of work ongoing
across Leeds to implement the integrated strategic
commissioning and local delivery plan designed to
deliver the Transforming Care Programme.

FOR INFORMATION - LEEDS LETS GET
ACTIVE EVALUATION FINDINGS

To receive an update on the Leeds Let’s Get
Active (LLGA) project. The report outlines key
findings from the year 3 evaluation of the project
and references research findings which
demonstrate that LLGA has been effective at
increasing physical activity levels and reducing
sedentary behaviour amongst inactive individuals
as well as engaging with individuals with wider
Lifestyle Risk Factors.

ANY OTHER BUSINESS

DATE AND TIME OF THE NEXT MEETING

To note the date and time of the next meeting as
Monday 20t February 2017 at 9.30 am (with a pre-
meeting for Board members at 9.00am).

125 -
144

145 -
150

151 -
162



Third Party Recording

Recording of this meeting is allowed to enable
those not present to see or hear the proceedings
either as they take place (or later) and to enable
the reporting of those proceedings. A copy of the
recording protocol is available from the contacts
named on the front of this agenda.

Use of Recordings by Third Parties— code of
practice

a)

b)

Any published recording should be
accompanied by a statement of when and
where the recording was made, the context
of the discussion that took place, and a
clear identification of the main speakers and
their role or title.

Those making recordings must not edit the
recording in a way that could lead to
misinterpretation or misrepresentation of the
proceedings or comments made by
attendees. In particular there should be no
internal editing of published extracts;
recordings may start at any point and end at
any point but the material between those
points must be complete.




Public Document Pack Agenda Iltem 8

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD
TUESDAY, 6TH SEPTEMBER, 2016
PRESENT: Councillor R Charlwood in the Chair

Councillors S Golton, G Latty, L Mulherin

and E Taylor
Representatives of Clinical Commissioning Groups
Dr Jason Broch NHS Leeds North CCG
Matt Ward NHS Leeds South and East CCG

Visseh Pejhan-Sykes NHS Leeds West CCG

Directors of Leeds City Council
Cath Roff — Director of Adult Social Services
Sue Rumbold — LCC Children’s Services

Representative of NHS (England)
Moira Dumma - NHS England

Third Sector Representative
Hannah Howe — Forum Central

Representative of Local Health Watch Organisation
Lesley Sterling-Baxter — Healthwatch Leeds
Tanya Matilainen — Healthwatch Leeds

Representatives of NHS providers

Dawn Hanwell - Leeds and York Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
David Berridge - Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust

Sue Ellis - Leeds Community Healthcare NHS Trust

Welcome

Councillor Charlwood, as the new Chair of the Health and Wellbeing Board
welcomed all present to the first formal Board meeting of the 2016/17
Municipal Year. Councillor Charlwood expressed thanks to Councillor
Mulherin for her leadership and significant work during her time as Chair of
the HWB.

The following appointments to the Board were noted:

Councillor Graham Latty

Third Sector - Kerry Jackson, St Gemma’s Hospice

NHS Providers - Sara Munro, Leeds & York Partnership NHS Foundation
Trust

Councillor Charlwood expressed her thanks and best wishes on behalf of the
Board to Jill Copeland (Leeds & York Partnership NHS Foundation Trust),
Neil Buckley and Lucinda Yeadon (Leeds City Council) for the work they had
undertaken as former members of the Board.

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Thursday, 20th October, 2016

Page 1



Appeals against refusal of inspection of documents
There were no appeals against the refusal of inspection of documents.

Exempt Information - Possible Exclusion of the Press and Public
No exempt information was contained within the agenda.

Late Items

No formal late items of business were added to the agenda; however Board
members were in receipt of a supplementary pack in respect of Agenda item 9
Appendix 1 - the draft Work Plan for the Health and Wellbeing Board (Minute
9 refers).

Declarations of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests
No declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests were made.

Apologies for Absence

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Debra Coupar, Sara
Munro, Phil Corrigan, Gordon Sinclair, Julian Hartley, Thea Stein, Kerry
Jackson, Nigel Richardson, Dr lan Cameron and Nigel Gray. The HWB
welcomed the following substitutes to the meeting:

Councillor Eileen Taylor

Visseh Pejhan-Sykes — NHS Leeds West CCG

Sue Rumbold — LCC Childrens Services

Hannah Howe — Forum Central (Third Sector)

Dawn Hanwell - Leeds & York Partnership NHS Foundation Trust,
David Berridge - Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust

Sue Ellis, Leeds Community Healthcare NHS Trust

Open Forum
The Chair allowed a period of up to 10 minutes for members of the public to
make representation on matters within the remit of the Health and Wellbeing
Board (HWB).

Sustainability and Transformation Plans (STPs) - Gilda Petersen addressed
the Board outlining her concern over the presentation of the STPs to the
public. She sought reassurance that the HWB would seek to provide a clear
message to the public over the reshaping of health and care services and why
change was required.
RESOLVED -
a) To thank Ms Peterson for her comments and to note the contents of
the representation
b) To note that a written response to Ms Petersen would be provided in
due course.

Minutes
RESOLVED - To approve the minutes of the last meeting held 215t April 2016
as a correct record.

Leeds Health and Wellbeing Board Work Plan 2016/17

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Thursday, 20th October, 2016

Page 2



10

Further to minute 78 of the meeting held 21st April 2016, the Chief Officer,
Health Partnerships, submitted a report on the process taken to develop the
2016/17 work plan for the Health and Wellbeing Board.

The report set out a proposed approach for the regular review and update of
the work plan; which included sessions to support the priorities of the Board
and the emerging Sustainability and Transformation Plans. Board members
received a copy of Appendix A - the draft Work Plan as a supplementary pack
following the despatch of the main agenda.

During discussions, the following points were noted

e "Working with people" should reflect "working with and being open with
people". The work plan suggested that this theme would be picked up
at the 20 October 2016 HWB meeting,

e "All ages, all age strategy" and the need to ensure that young people's
voices were heard. It was reported that the workshop planned for 24
November 2016 would concentrate on children and young people

RESOLVED -

a) That approval be given to the Health and Wellbeing Board work plan
for 16/17

b) To approve the approach proposed in paragraph 3 of the submitted
report to keep the work plan live

c) To note the comments made during discussions

Towards Better Joint Health and Care Working - A Governance Update
The Chief Officer, Health Partnerships, submitted a report on the current
health and care partnerships for Leeds and West Yorkshire. The report
explored the relationships between the ‘top tier’ structures and the Health and
Wellbeing Board (HWB) and highlighted where relationships could be
strengthened or shifted in order to provide the transparent and effective
governance needed to achieve the outcomes of the Leeds Health and
Wellbeing Strategy 2016-21.

The report noted the changing nature of the health and care system at local,
regional and national levels, alongside the continuing financial challenge and
enduring health inequalities. The report posed two key questions for the
Board to consider:
- Is the Board assured that the right partnership structures are in place?
- And do the structures allow the Board influence across the partnership
to help achieve our shared ambitions for Leeds?

It was reported that governance arrangements would evolve with the
partnerships structures. Key to this, were the partnerships described within
paragraph 3.3 of the report between HWB, Leeds Health and Care
Partnership Executive Group (PEG); the Integrated Commissioning Executive
(ICE); Leeds Academic Health Partnership (LAHP) and the Leeds Clinical
Senate (LCS). Importantly, the HWB would receive reports on the ICE work
programme and LAHP update in the future as part of the HWB work plan.

The Board noted the following discussions:

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Thursday, 20th October, 2016

Page 3



11

The request for a “plan on a page” diagram approach to identify
partnership links

Acknowledged the report presented the top-tier structures and
partnerships, if this structure was agreed, further work would be
undertaken to identify Third Sector, Voluntary and smaller groups
within the partnerships

Recognition that if the HWB was to have oversight of finance
arrangements in the future, then this would need to be factored into
governance arrangements.

Where the separate West Yorkshire and Leeds own STPs overlapped,
clear governance structures were required

RESOLVED -

a)

b)

c)
d)

e)

f)

¢)]

To agree to ensure that that the right partnership structures are in
place and that they help to achieve our shared ambitions for Leeds

To confirm that the partnership structures create a space in which
significant things can happen between or outside of Health and
Wellbeing Board meetings (in which the Board has influence)

To endorse the proposals set out in section 3 of the submitted report
To confirm that the proposals around reference/engagement groups
such as the Leeds Academic Health Partnership and Leeds Clinical
Senate do satisfy issues around clinical voice and leadership

To request that an update on the progress of the Leeds Academic
Health Partnership and Leeds Clinical Senate is presented to a future
meeting of the Board

To request a further update and options for governance at a future
meeting of the Board

To note the comments made during discussions for action and to note
the intention for reports on the ICE work programme and LAHP update
in the future as part of the HWB work plan.

Sustainability Transformation Plans (STPs)
The Board considered two reports seeking endorsement of ongoing work
which supports the overarching aims and priorities of the HWB.

The first report provided an overview of the emerging Sustainability and
Transformation Plans (STPs), including the background, context and
relationship between the Leeds and West Yorkshire STPs. It also highlighted
some of the key areas to be addressed within the Leeds plan which will add
further detail to the strategic priorities set out in the recently refreshed Leeds
Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016 — 2021. The paper also sought
assurance that the Board supports the approach being taken.

The second report addressed the purpose of the Local Digital Roadmap — to
contribute to the delivery of the digital infrastructure capability required to
meet the needs of the health and care system in the future. A copy of the
publication “Leeds Local Digital Roadmap 1st Submission 30" June 2016” was
included in the second report.

Matt Ward, Chief Operating Officer NHS Leeds South & East Clinical
Commissioning Group, presented the report on the Sustainability and

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Thursday, 20th October, 2016

Page 4



Transformation Plans (STPs), primarily focussing on the progress of Leeds'
individual STP; with reference to the emerging West Yorkshire STP and the
complexity of linking local STPs to the West Yorkshire STP, as detailed in the
diagram at paragraph 3.9 of the report.

The Board received assurance that the Leeds approach continued the focus
of the previous 5 Year Plan through the continuance of key issues and
themes as summarised in the tables shown in paragraphs 3.19 and 3.31 of
the report.

Finance and resources remained an issue, with a budget gap of £723m
identified, however it was reported that the gap could be potentially addressed
through service transformation and CCG efficiency savings

Key solutions to address gaps and create sustainable health and care for the
future, as described in paragraph 5.3, would be the focus of a future HWB
workshop and consider what the STPs mean for service users. Additionally,
the Board noted the intention to hold discussions at the next HWB meeting on
the introduction of consultation/conversations on the STPs to the public.

HWB discussed the following key issues:

Public/staff involvement and engagement — Noted the suggestion that the
table at paragraph 5.3 represented the brief for holding discussions with the
public as it clearly described how and what will change. The Board also noted
the need to start sharing information with service providers and build relevant
consultation into the timeline for developing the STPs - figures show 51,000
local healthcare professionals and 800,000 potential service users (the
approximate population of Leeds), who all need to be involved in future
discussions on their view of healthcare.

Relationships between the Leeds and West Yorkshire STP - HWB received
reassurance from Sue Ellis as Chair of the Leeds STP group that connections
were made with the West Yorkshire STP

The progress of the West Yorkshire STP — The Board noted comments
seeking to ensure that the best practice operated by Leeds in terms of
consultation and engagement is reflected in the WY STP and identifying a
deficit of openness and governance in the WY STP.

Risks - How will the HWB be assured of the impact of the WY STP on Leeds'
resources and citizens? What mechanism will be available for HWB to
challenge WY STP decisions? How can HWB ensure that change is made at
a pace which did not negatively impact on service delivery? It was noted that
all three Yorkshire and Humber STPs would address their approach to risk
management and impact on local service delivery through their emerging
governance structures.

External forces - Recognition of the impact of external forces on the Leeds
STP - such as services provided externally; neighbouring inter-related

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Thursday, 20th October, 2016

Page 5



economies - and the need to consider how the HWB can ensure that outside
providers support the Leeds STP

‘Changing the conversation’ — The Board discussed the de-medicalisation of
some treatments, an issue which formed part of the STP, seeking to
encourage service users to take control of their own treatment and access
treatment in other more local settings or through social prescribing for those
patients who do not necessarily require a medical solution. Additionally, a
national discussion on later life and end of life care was required to account
for the changing nature of care, with the role of Community Care more
robustly referenced

(Councillor Golton joined the meeting at this point)

(Tanya Matilainen and Sue Rumbold withdrew from the meeting for a short
time at this point)

Jason Broch, NHS Leeds CCG and Dylan Roberts, Chief Digital Officer,
presented the report on the Local Digital Roadmap (LDR), noting that the 5
Year Forward Plan had emphasised the importance of digital progress. The
Health and Care sector had been asked to draw up a Digital Roadmap, noting
funds for investment would be made available. The LDR would afford Leeds
the opportunity to draw in those funds and support the STPs.

The Board made the following comments during discussions:

e Welcomed the “place based approach”, however concern was
expressed over how “place” was determined

e Would the LDR appreciate service delivery on a locality scale?

e Acknowledged that links to regional provision and locality level
provision needed to be considered

e The links to the Council’s own Breakthrough Projects to be further
pursued

In respect of the Update on Development of the Sustainability and
Transformation Plan (STP) the Board
RESOLVED -

1. To endorse the approach described within this paper for the continued
development of the Leeds STP within the nationally prescribed
framework;

2. To request that the comments made in respect of the progress of the
West Yorkshire STP (specifically in respect of consultation and
engagement, openness and governance) be fed into the future
development of the West Yorkshire STP within the nationally
prescribed framework;

3. To note the key areas of focus for the Leeds STP described in this
report and how they will contribute to the delivery of the Leeds Health
and Wellbeing Strategy;

4. To note that the Leeds Health and Wellbeing Board will continue to
provide a strategic lead for the Leeds STP;

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Thursday, 20th October, 2016

Page 6



12

13

14

5. To note the key milestones outlined in this paper and the officers from
the Leeds health and care partnership who are leading the
development of the Leeds STP and the West Yorkshire STP;

6. To receive a further report in November 2016 with an overview of the
proposed key changes and impacts outlined in the Leeds STP and the
West Yorkshire STP as we move forward towards implementation and
oversight.

In respect of the Local Digital Roadmap (LDR) the Board
RESOLVED -

a) To endorse the Local Digital Roadmap as a key contributor to the
delivery of both the Leeds Sustainability and Transformation Plan and
Leeds Health and Wellbeing strategy.

b) To note the contents of the discussion in respect of consideration of
Board members’ role in championing the adoption of technology and
ensuring that the realisation of benefits is seen as a core part of all city-
wide ‘change’ initiatives.

For Information - Leeds Better Care (BCF) Update

Further to minute 82 of the meeting held 21st April 2016, the Board received
an update report on the Leeds Better Care Fund

RESOLVED - To note the contents of the report

Any Other Business
No matters were raised.

Date and Time of Next Meeting
RESOLVED - To note the date and time of the next meeting as Thursday 20t
October 2016 at 9.30 am.

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Thursday, 20th October, 2016

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 8



Agenda Iltem 9

Report authors: Holly Dannhauser,
Leed S Health & Rob Goodyear, Sue Robins, Sarah
Wellbein g Board Lovell, Mick Ward, Chris Dickinson

Report of:  Rob Goodyear, Director of Commissioning (Partnerships and Performance),
NHS Leeds North CCG and Chris Dickinson, Head of Commissioning and
Market Management, Children’s Services, Leeds City Council

Reportto: The Leeds Health and Wellbeing Board

Date: 20 October 2016
Subject: The Leeds approach to commissioning and decommissioning
Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion [ ] Yes X No
and integration?
Is the decision eligible for Call-In? [ ] Yes X No
Does the report contain confidential or exempt information? [ ] Yes X No

Summary of main issues

In September 2016, the Leeds Health and Wellbeing Board agreed their principle role in
overseeing the financial sustainability of the Leeds system, operating as one organisation
around a shared vision, and spending the Leeds £ wisely to drive change across the local
health and care system.

Strategic oversight of the Leeds £ requires all members of the Health and Wellbeing Board
to be equipped with a sound understanding of our approach to commissioning and
decommissioning in Leeds. This must be considered in light of the financial context and
pressures that have already been brought to the attention of the Board®.

This paper acts as an introduction to the current approach to commissioning and
decommissioning in Leeds. It also details existing joint arrangements and further progress
made towards a shared approach, highlights commonality and difference where possible,
and asks the Board to provide the strategic direction for future progress.

NHS England has a commissioning role within Leeds, both as a key commissioner of
services from LTHT and also as co commissioners of Primary care with the three CCG'’s.
The co commissioning arrangements for primary care have been established and are a
further example of successful integrated and aligned commissioning of significant local
services.

Recommendations
The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to:
e Consider whether the current approach and future steps adequately support the
vision and role of the Board

! Please see the Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2021 and item 11 (Sustainability and
Transformation Plans) of the 6 September 2016 Health and Wellbeing Board meeting

Page 9



11

e |dentify any further opportunities to progress towards a shared approach to
commissioning and decommissioning

e Provide strategic direction for future progress towards a shared approach to
commissioning and decommissioning

e Take learning from best practice within the system and apply to future decision
making

e Support the Integrated commissioning executive to set system priorities for
shared challenges and testing further integrated commissioning models

Purpose of this report

This report does not seek to outline what is commissioned in Leeds. Nor does it aim
to provide details of any contracts or services. Rather, this paper is a means of
introducing the planning processes, exploring the ‘Leeds approach’ to commissioning
and decommissioning in its current form. This includes some areas where integration
between organisations has begun, where there is a similar or common approach
taken, and where there are differences in approach. Where appropriate or possible,
the paper will also explore future ambitions or work already in motion.

The Board is asked to consider this report in the context of the health and care
financial pressures, which the Board is already well sighted on. The report seeks to
be open and transparent about existing work and provides the Board with an
opportunity to shape future developments to ensure that the city is well placed to deal
with the financial challenges we face now and in the months and years to come.

Why explore a Leeds approach to commissioning and decommissioning?

The development of a Leeds approach aims to improve outcomes for service users,
maximise the use of resources, ensure best value, use co-production, and develop
and support an enterprising and resilient provider market in Leeds. A shared
approach also enables the impact of commissioning and decommissioning to be
understood across the system, with better preparation and reaction to change.

The Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2021 sets out the Health and
Wellbeing Board'’s relentless focus on reducing health inequalities and creating a
high quality and sustainable health and care system in our city. Therefore, the gap in
funding for health and care will need to be addressed while ensuring that Leeds
citizens continue to receive safe, high quality accessible services. The Health and
Wellbeing Board must be confident that commissioning activity and contracting
approaches of the collaborative commissioning teams in Leeds are delivering
efficiencies from core budgets and making use of best practice.

Background information

For the past few years, the health and care community in Leeds has been working
collectively towards creating an integrated system of care and commissioning that
seeks to wrap care and support around the needs of the individual, their family and
carers and helps to implement our shared vision for Leeds, as set out in our Leeds
Health and Wellbeing Strategy.

We have developed the concept of the ‘Leeds Pound (£)’, which describes our

collective resources across the health and care system. The Leeds £ helps move the
system towards a shared responsibility for the financial challenge and create a

Page 10



sustainable high quality health and social care system fit for both the current and the

next generation.

At the September 2016 meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board, a governance
update? tasked the Partnership Executive Group (PEG) with implementing the Leeds
Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP), which sets the ambition for addressing
the 3 gaps in the health and care system: the finance gap; the care gap and the
inequalities gap. The Third Sector has had the opportunity to engage with the
development of the Leeds STP through systems leadership events and through the
representation on the Leeds Health and Wellbeing Board.

Commissioning language can be complex, so a glossary is included at appendix | to
explain common terms found within this report.

2.2

Planning
NHS Leeds CCGs

NHS England sets out a national approach to
planning. This requires all CCGs to engage in a
top-down planning process that can deliver
signed contracts with main NHS providers prior
to the start of a new financial year (running
April-March).

The Leeds CCGs are required to re-assess
their commissioning priorities on a yearly basis
and allocate funds appropriately to meet
national and local healthcare needs. This must
be done in accordance with NHS England
(NHSE) guidance and follow a yearly planning
cycle.

Budget setting
NHS Leeds CCGs

Much of the CCGs’ expenditure has been
“allocated” by NHS England guidance. As a
starting point, CCGs are required to purchase
services from our major providers such as NHS
Leeds Teaching Hospitals Trust (LTHT), NHS
Leeds and York Partnership Foundation Trust
(LYPFT) and NHS Leeds Community
Healthcare (LCH) based on the previous year’s
demand. Additionally NHS England may add
further requirements such as an additional
investment in Mental Health regarding Parity of
Esteem. A pie chart is included below from
2015/16 for illustrative purposes.

2 6.09.16 Health and Wellbeing Board report pack

Clinical Commissioning Group and Leeds City Council approaches

Leeds City Council

Leeds City Council seeks a consistent
approach to commissioning / decommissioning
across directorates throughout the
commissioning cycle (Analyse, Plan, Do,
Review) and efficiency when working with
providers who provide services across different
directorates.

Leeds City Council

The Local Authority annual budget is set by the
Executive Board of the Council in
January/February each year. This is informed
by the Chancellor's Autumn Statement and any
previous changes to local authority income.
However, LCC attempts to plan its budget
setting longer term than one year (though the
recent pace of reductions to the budget has
made this more difficult). Below is an example
high-level timeline for LCC budget setting.

Within LCC a substantial amount of each
Directorate’s budget is spent on commissioned

Page 11



2017-18 sees a national change in the prices
we pay for services. These planning
requirements together with other financial
requirements, such as maintaining a surplus,
reduce the percentage of money available for
decisions to commission additional services to
singular percentage terms. 2016/17 planning
guidance and business rules further removed
the 1% local commissioning monies and
reduced the 4% other commissioning monies.

services and that this has grown significantly
with the reduction in directly provided services
(particularly within ASC, where the
commissioned budget is 85% of the total
budget). The total commissioning budgets of
Environment & Health, Children’s, Adult Social
Care (including Learning Disabilities Pooled
Budget), and Public Health were £294m in
2015/16 .This includes £102m spend on the
Third Sector.

NHS Leeds CCG expenditure
2015/16 (for illustration

pu rposeS) 4% Other Commissioning
2% Running Costs
1% Primary Care
13% Prescribing
9% Community Health
12% Mental Health
High-level

timeline for LCC
budget setting

1% Programme Projects - Citywide

1% Commissioning — Non Acute - Local

1% Systems Resilience

Expenditure

2015/16 30% Acute

Commissioning

25th Nov 2015 Comprehensive Spendi

23rd Sept 2015 Strong Economy & Compassionate City - Ambition &  Executive Board
Draft Outcomes
Executive
Development of options for 2016/17 & 2017/18 Members &
Directors
21st Oct 2015 Medium Term Financial Strategy 2016/17 to 2019/20 Executive Board
eview announced
Mid-December Draft local government finance settiement announced
16th Dec 2015 2016/17 and 2017/18 Ini udget Proposals Executive Board
Scrutiny and Budget Consultation
10th Feb 2016 Clearance of 2016/17 and 2017/18 budget proposals Executive Board
Refreshed Best Council Plan
Full Council

24th Feb 2016 Approval of Budget 2016/17

Page 12




Decision making

NHS Leeds CCGs

Leeds City Council

The three Clinical Commissioning Groups in
Leeds have a shared commissioning process,
which is detailed in the diagram at appendix II.
This process commenced in 2016 for services
commencing in 2017/18. It is anticipated that
national requirements for the 2017/18 planning
round are part of a 5 year process that is
aligned to the delivery of the Leeds
Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP).

Given the complex nature of the commissioning
process and the importance of standardisation
and fairness between CCGs, a clear process
for collection, analysis and approval of these
commissioning plans is required.

Therefore, as well as the shared
commissioning process, the three NHS CCGs
in Leeds have developed a ‘service
change/commissioning for value’ toolkit,
building on good practice nationally and the
principles of Leeds Adult Social Care
commissioning and decommissioning
guidance. This toolkit has been developed to
support all commissioners, managers and
clinicians working within the Leeds healthcare
system to understand when and why to
consider a material service change and/or the
decommissioning of a service. The toolkit also
details the governance and processes to be
undertaken when developing the business case
to take forward that change.

The toolkit, its templates and governance
process are to be used for any NHS saving or
efficient change to the Leeds £, whether that is
towards the Leeds STP or CCG Quality,
innovation, productivity and prevention
(QIPPS). It advises on the circumstances under
which commissioners should consider pathway
redesign, service redesign or
decommissioning.

Commissioning/de-commissioning decisions
are driven by the overarching strategic plans of
the city, including the Leeds Health and
Wellbeing Strategy, Best City Plan, Leeds
Children and Young People’s Plan and, where
appropriate, by specific joint local plans
supported by joint boards.

The Council has adopted a whole lifecycle
approach, articulated through ‘Commissioning
for Better Outcomes’, which although focussed
on Adult Social Care, has a strong resonance
across directorates commissioning ‘people
services'.

This is supported through procurement via a
‘category management approach’. All
categories work to common principles and
rules, but outputs are tailored to meet the
needs of the specific category, reflecting the
service area, stakeholder needs and the
market place, to ensure quality outcomes and
value for money are achieved. Relevant
purchasing also may be grouped together to
improve quality, savings and efficiency.

Specific commissioning decisions follow the
Local Authority’s rules and procedures, using
the Council’s Executive Board, Delegated
Decisions, and Administrative Decisions,
Equality Impact Assessments and Executive
Member briefings where appropriate. Where
decisions result in the de-commissioning of
services, a de-commissioning tool kit is used.
This is a detailed plan of the work needed to be
taken to safely and effectively de-commission
any service, including close working with the
relevant provider.

Commissioning to meet partner priorities

Commissioning teams often lead on certain areas of commissioning, but there is a clear
understanding that these services will often contribute to a range of city priorities. Therefore, it's
important that we take account of this as part of the commissioning cycle.

As an example, the commissioning of drug and alcohol treatment services was led by

Page 13




commissioners in Public Health with a priority for promoting recovery from substance misuse, but
the service was specified to meet other commissioner’s priorities. Children’s services sought to
have care leavers and parents with children under the age of 2 targeted, while the CCGs’
priorities were linked to a reduction in harm caused by alcohol misuse. Adult Social Care
identified safe referrals to residential rehab as essential and Environment and Housing required
appropriate services for offenders requiring treatment for opiate usage. A process of
consultation led by Public Health commissioners ensured that all of these priorities were

addressed as part of the new service.

Governance

NHS Leeds CCGs

Leeds City Council

The Planning Implementation Group (PIG) runs
throughout the year and any commissioning
intentions or disinvestments brought forth,
regardless of the time of year, are to be
brought to PIG for approval. A Leeds City
Council commissioning representative has
recently been invited to join this Group. Given
that plans will involve changes to contracts
upon completion they will be forwarded to the
Commissioning For Value Group for sign off.

The Health and Wellbeing Board is sighted on
NHS commissioning intentions to ensure that
they take proper account of the Leeds Health
and Wellbeing Strategy.

Any commissioning decision will need to take
account of likely views of commissioning
partners, notably Leeds City Council and NHS
England, in role as Co-Commissioner, and
other Clinical Commissioning Groups (if the
proposal is likely to have cross border issues).
Commissioners need to consider likely political
implications of any decision and likelihood of
support from elected council members. The
perspective of patients, public, carers,
providers, primary care and clinicians is also
taken into consideration. All engagement work
and perspectives analysis is captured in a
stakeholder dimensions checklist and must be
submitted with proposals.

A commissioning dimensions checklist, based
on the CCG prioritisation framework, is used to
assess each case for change in a standardised

Chaired by Councillor James Lewis, a cross-
directorate Corporate Strategic People
Commissioning Group has been established to
oversee commissioning activities across LCC
and make recommendations to improve
outcomes and align priorities. It is supported in
its work by the People Commissioning
Operational Group.

These groups have already delivered improved
outcomes and change as part of both individual
directorate and joint plans including,
establishing a single contracts register for all
Directorates, stream-lining of commissioning
structures, Pooled Budgets between LCC and
the 3 CCGs3. Commissioning related Project
Boards have been consolidated into a new
cross-directorate People Commissioning
Operational Board, directly responsible to the
Corporate Strategic People Commissioning
Group, driving joint/integrated commissioning
to realise savings in commissioning.

There has been increasing co-ordination
through joint boards such as the Learning
Disabilities Board, Mental Health Board, Carers
Strategic Board and Dementia Board, and
recently the Joint Adult Community
Commissioning Group (JACCG) — which both
coordinates commissioning activity across ASC
and CCG’s but also acts as the Better Care
Fund sub-group for the Third Sector pot.

LCC, CCGs and Third Sector are working to
agree a Social Value Charter” for Leeds, settinl

% learning disability (E77m), community equipment (E4m) , South Leeds Independence Centre (E4m), Better

Care Fund (£59m)

* The Charter itself and a 4 page guide — which includes examples of how to implement it — are available
at: https://doinggoodleeds.org.uk/socialvaluecharter.html

Page 14




way. All commissioners are expected to out our shared ambitions to promote social

provide detail for each consideration and responsibility, build social capital and deliver
submit with a case for change. This enables social value, in support of the vision for Leeds
those reviewing the proposals an insight into to be a healthy, fair, compassionate and caring
rationale and potential impact of proposed city where everyone benefits from the city’s
changes. economic growth. The Charter has now been

2.3

signed off by LCC and key partners, including
CCGs, the Universities and the Chamber of
Commerce.

Adult Social Care

Adult Social Care (ASC) publishes a Market Position Statement. This is produced
every few years, but updated through the year, and is aimed at all providers and
potential providers, and outlines ASC’s broader current position and commissioning
intentions.

New work to address numbers of children entering care with GPs

Recent research highlights that 10% of GP practice locations support approximately
50% of those children who were taken into care or became subject to a child
protection plan last year.

An outcome based accountability session has been used to bring together GP
Practices, Children’s Social Work Service, Clusters and representatives from other
organisations to help shape our citywide response to this research. The aim is to
work closer together to ensure services better prevent and respond to the needs of
parents who we know are at risk of both current and future state intervention.

Third Sector

There is blurring between the Third Sector and Independent Sector, as the Third
Sector is increasingly assuming a commissioning function.

Plans

The City aims to have a sustainable, diverse third sector economy, with organisations
from the smallest self-help group through to larger, local and national service
providers and the ambition is to use the Leeds £ to invest in a local infrastructure that
has a legacy beyond the life of any single funding programme.

Adult Social Care, Public Health, and Children’s Services and Clinical Commissioning
Groups commission a number of third sector organisations independently of each
other, with priorities set through contract arrangements and the quality and outcomes
measures reflecting local needs. The plans, which are derived from Leeds Health
and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2021, national guidance and local population needs,
are then shared across organisations using existing partnership structures.

Changes in investment patterns by LCC commissioners have seen a move from
short contracts of 2-3 years with individual providers to contracts of 5 years and
longer with more services being delivered by consortia. For example the Forward
Leeds drug and alcohol treatment procurement, which brought 18 different contracts
into one new integrated service.

® ASC Market Position Statement,
http://www.leeds.gov.uk/docs/Market%20Position%20Statement%202015-18%20V02%20June%202016.pdf

Page 15



2.4

3.1

Process

This year, Scrutiny Board (Adult Social Services, Public Health, NHS) conducted an
inquiry into the Involvement of the Third Sector in the provision of Health and Social
Care Services across Leeds. The Commissioning, NHS Provider and Third Sector
partners who contributed to the Scrutiny Inquiry welcomed the report, which provided
a fair overview of the commissioning arrangements, partnership working and
organisational relationships between the statutory and third sector partners already in
place and highlighted the positive work happening in the city, whilst also identifying
areas for further development. The responses to the specific recommendations are
now being worked on by partners and they are sharing the report and
recommendations within organisations, and also across partnership structures, most
notably the Third Sector Partnership, to inform wider strategic plans in regard to third
sector development.

There is strong evidence of co-production and joint working when reviewing Third
Sector services or contracts. For example the recent recommissioning of housing
support and domestic violence services have use an Outcomes Based Accountability
(OBA) approach to engage service users, third sector providers and other partners in
discussions about how best to address changing patterns of need and service
demand in the city. This approach helps to ensure Third Sector organisations are
jointly involved in identifying local priorities and solutions.

The Third Sector Partnership, chaired by Councillor Coupar, ensures Third Sector
representatives meet with the Council and the Clinical Commissioning Groups’
commissioners to discuss the shared commitment to maintaining and developing a
thriving third sector.

Joint Boards (as mentioned previously) provide strong engagement with the sector
and are supported by commissioners working with ‘Forum Central’ This is the
overarching Health and Well-Being Third Sector Network, jointly commissioned by
the CCGs and Adult Social Care.

Deputy Director of Integrated Commissioning

The recruitment process has begun for a Deputy Director of Integrated
Commissioning, a post designed to bring Adult Social Care and NHS commissioning
closer together. This will be a shared post, jointly accountable to LCC Adult Social
Care Services, Leeds North CCG and Leeds South and East CCG. The post-holder
will report to the Director of Adult Social Services and the Chief Officers for Leeds
North CCG and Leeds South and East CCG, but will act on behalf of and in support
of all three Leeds CCGs in accordance with the collaborative commissioning
memorandum of understanding between the CCGs.

Main issues

Despite some great progress, the complex commissioning landscape demonstrates
difficulties inherent in coordinating a system of individual organisations and sectors.
This creates a number of challenges and ambitions, which are explored below.

Principles for commissioning and decommissioning

Commonality can be found in the principles for decommissioning outlined in both
CCG and LCC decommissioning toolkits.

Page 16



The CCG ‘Commissioning for Value’ toolkit outlines a process to ensure

commissioners embed the following principles for decommissioning:

e All decommissioning proposals should be based on tangible evidence

e Impact on stakeholders has been considered and where necessary have been
consulted before the decommissioning decision is made

e Detailed consideration must be given to the broad-ranging impact of the
decommissioning proposal

e Provider must be engaged as early as possible to allow time to adjust to the
proposal

e All proposals must consider particular impact on Primary care providers

e All teams must support colleagues in the provision of data and information

Within the LCC decommissioning toolkit, the following areas must be evidenced and
considered in particular:

Financial requirements

Political perspective

Needs of services users

Perspective of parents and carers

LCC commissioning decisions are also guided by the framework for Better
Outcomes, which has nine standards for good commissioning:

e Person centred and focused on outcomes

Co-produced with service users, their carers and the wider local community
Well led

A whole system approach

Uses evidence about what works

A diverse and sustainable market

Provides value for money

Develops the workforce

Promotes positive engagement with providers

All commissioning partners in Leeds have signed up to the Compact for Leeds which
sets out the following seven principles to guide public and third sector working
partnerships in order to deliver the best possible outcomes for the people of Leeds:
Working together

Involving communities

Sharing information

Allocating resources

Building communities and third sector capacity

Promoting volunteering

Promoting equality, fairness, good community relations and equality of outcomes
for all

A key aspect of this is a commitment to offer six months of notice on decisions to
reduce investment or end contracts with the Third Sector. Commissioners in Leeds
City Council have been working hard to meet this objective, however the timing of
recent cuts to local authority funding following the annual autumn statement have not
always provided enough time to achieve these intentions. To help address this
uncertainty, commissioners seek to have an early and open dialogue with Third
Sector Providers about the issues impacting budget decisions. The Compact is
currently being refreshed in a piece of work overseen by the Third Sector
Partnership.

Page 17



3.2

3.3

3.4

3.5

3.6

Budget reductions

A key barrier to developing significant programmes of joint investment is a backdrop
of significant budget cuts. Shrinking resources means there is little investment
available to pilot new areas of joint working. This makes the discussions about
aligning budgets an even greater priority, but it also makes the process much harder
as commissioners are being forced to make tougher decisions about how to respond
to service needs.

Misalignment of Commissioning Cycles:

CCGs and Local Authority have very different commissioning cycles, with NHS
contract decisions being confirmed on an annual basis while Leeds City Council
generally renewing investment decisions every three to five years. This is partly due
to differences in budget setting arrangements, but it also reflects the differences in
provider markets and procurement rules.

Leeds City Council has moved away from annual contracts, responding to the need
to create a diverse and stable provider base, with contracts being generally 3-5
years. LCC also contracts with hundreds of different organisations across the Third
and Independent Sector, varying enormously in size, from major national providers to
small and medium and even micro enterprises. Whereas CCGs tend to commission
services from much larger NHS trusts and often do contracts/grants for just one year
with the Third Sector.

Within LCC, annual budget setting processes can misalign with commissioning, as
each contract has its own commissioning cycle based on the starting date and length
of the contract. This can mean directorates re-negotiating the value and specification
of contracts mid-contract due to budget pressures, as well as potentially setting a
new contract value and service model/specification at the start of any re-
commissioning exercise.

Procurement Rules

Procurement rules for Local Authorities mean that services funded by Leeds City
Council are more likely to be been subjected to competition, usually through a review
and tender process which is resource intensive and can only be justified with longer
contracts.

Different Provider Markets

While there is some crossover, CCGS and the Local Authority have some differences
in traditional providers markets. CCGs often commission with large health trusts and
LCC commissioning with a mix of partners from which the third sector is prominently
represented. These differences in provider markets limits the scope for service re-
modelling and requires more fundamental changes to service design when
considering joint-commissioning opportunities.

Integrated Services

There is a growing trend in Local Authority commissioning to award larger contracts
for integrated services rather than several small contracts to individual providers. This
is driven partly be the desire to remove service barriers and support improved service
users outcomes. And while this approach has been successful in helping to find

Page 18



savings through reduced overheads, there is a belief that this approach is less
favourable for smaller or more specialist third sector organisations who may struggle
to successfully tender for large integrated services on their own. Commissioners
have sought to offer support to develop consortia and to develop the capacity of
organisations to bid for larger contracts.

There needs to be more of a focus this year and in future years on disinvestments,
QIPPs and how services can be commissioned or delivered differently, utilising Right
Care Guidance and Commissioning for Value toolkits. From a partnership
perspective the CCGs are keen to learn from partners who have experience of
undertaking this process and the challenges that any changes in re-commissioning
services presents.

3.7 Workforce

Nationally and locally there is growing interest in commissioning for outcomes, driven
by ambitions to deliver new models of care in the Five Year Forward View. The three
CCGs are exploring how the workforce might need to be re-aligned to facilitate
effective commissioning for outcomes.

For Leeds City Council (LCC), an audit has been undertaken against the revised
version of ‘Commissioning for Better Outcomes’ national standards®. The audit
showed that it would not be effective to merge all the different commissioning teams
into one structure, as there was a significant danger of losing the required specialist
knowledge associated with commissioning complex people services. This knowledge
this is vital in the context of the need to reduce costs, stimulate and support a
broader market, reduce LCC direct delivery, and strengthen links with NHS
Commissioning and Localities.

It is likely that a staffing review will need to be undertaken by the Deputy Director of

Integrated Commissioning to ensure best use of Leeds £. It is hoped that all staff

would eventually be based in one building to create a city-wide hub for integrated

commissioning. This Integrated Commissioning Unit will ultimately contain the

following lead functions:

e Integrated commissioning strategy for the portfolio

e All of adult social care commissioning: i.e. older people’s services, mental health,
learning disabilities, physical disabilities, carers

e All ASC contracts management and quality surveillance functions

e ASC Project Management Office — service development function

e The NHS collaborative commissioning functions for dementia, learning disabilities
and mental health, Better Care Fund, and community beds

e Transformation of services in accordance with agreed city wide strategies and
emerging new models of care

e LNCCG Mental Health and Learning Disabilities contracting and performance
management/ partnership working

e Market development within the portfolio

e Linking to System Resilience Group and wider resilience functions including
Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response (EPRR) and Business
Continuity (linking with Public Health)

® Thisis a nationally validated tool created by the University of Birmingham and advocated by the
Association of Directors of Adult Social Services (ADASS), the Department of Health and Think Local Act
Personal (group of over 30 national partners committed to real change in adult social care).

Page 19



Phase
Initiation

Phase 1

Phase 2

Phase 3

Phase 4

Phase 5
Phase 6

3.8

¢ Management for shared budgets as appropriate and associated with the portfolio

The phasing of the work is anticipated to be as follows, where the phasing may be
concurrent or overlapping and is subject to change as system thinking develops:

Action

Development of an Integrated Commissioning Strategy including establishment of a
Memorandum of Understanding and appropriate governance arrangements

Full integration of Learning Disabilities commissioning and resourcing (this may
precede the appointment)

Integration of EPRR and Business Continuity linking with Public Health to ensure
optimal shared use of resources to maintain the system and respond to pressures

Integration of System Resilience commissioning and response (building on existing
work of the SRG)

Integration of Mental Health commissioning (preparatory work underway in
accordance with previous papers to ICE)

To explore concepts of Integration of Older People’s and Carers commissioning
To explore concepts of Integration of Urgent Care commissioning

Integrated Commissioning Executive (ICE)

Chaired and attended by partners from Leeds City Council and the NHS, ICE
provides a forum for commissioners from organisations to discuss and share their
plans for making the best use of the collective resources, agree joint priorities and to
inform decision making. ICE has previously agreed to work towards an integrated
commissioning budget for mental health and work associated with developing this
capability. ICE has the authority to make investment decisions about the delivery of
the Leeds STP.

While the group is well placed to lead significant programmes of joint commissioning,
there are challenges in realising the full potential of this partnership which
commissioners are seeking to overcome, including:

e Differences in commissioning cycles which makes it difficult to align decision
making (explored further in section 3 of this report)

e Differences in traditional providers markets, which limits the scope for service re-
modelling and requires more fundamental changes to service design when
considering joint-commissioning opportunities

e Financial pressures limit the scope for piloting new areas work, but it also takes
up considerable staff resource as commissioning teams work to re-negotiate
reduced contract values and retender services with the available budget

There is more work needed to develop the capacity of the Integrated Commissioning
Executive to address a broader range of shared challenges, such as reducing the
number of looked after children or responding to domestic violence and abuse.

Building on existing models of joint investment like the Better Care Fund, it would be

helpful to have clearer, joined-up processes covering all areas of commissioning from
which commissioners could develop new areas of joint working.

Page 20



3.9

3.10

3.11

Third sector

LCC Commissioners have stated their intentions to improve the integrated
commissioning of the Third Sector, achieving best value for the Leeds £ and
supporting the Third Sector through more coordinated partnership working.

As part of a recent inquiry, Scrutiny Board is expecting:

1. Service commissioners across Leeds’ health, wellbeing and social economy to
provide a joint report that clearly sets out the, current and projected, financial
challenges for services commissioned through the Third Sector and how, through
collaborative working, impacts across the sector have and will continue to be
minimised and/or mitigated.

2. Commissioners to produce a joint report in relation to joint commissioning across
Leeds’ health and social care sector that sets out, in detail, the progress made to
date and any future proposed actions; with a particular emphasis on the
efficiencies and improved outcomes achieved and targeted.

3. Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust, Leeds Community Healthcare NHS Trust
and Leeds and York Partnerships NHS Foundation Trust work collaboratively to
set out the strategic relationship with the Third Sector and how that might
contribute to the delivery of Trust objectives.

The increase in contracts compared to grants with voluntary sector organisations has
offered some stability to the sector, but it has also created challenges, sometimes
displacing smaller providers from the market and potentially limiting the breadth of
innovation. There is a need for further discussion about the impact of the length and
size of contracts awarded by CCG commissioners on Third Sector providers.

Improved Place-Based Commissioning

The ambition to deliver new models of care with an emphasis on place-based
commissioning could create new issues if we don’t increase the current level of joint
working and coordination. This ambition is reflected in the changing needs of the
population. The ageing and deprived populations in particular require CCGs and local
authorities to re-design distinct services into integrated ones. Commissioners must
work to overcome the barriers posed by misaligned, geographic administrative
boundaries and respond to these changing needs by increasing the level of
coordination.

The senior management of the three Leeds NHS CCGs are looking at commissioning
through “One Voice”. This is being discussed and developed through a series of bi-
weekly meetings. Local Authority colleagues have been invited to be involved within
the process but due to the speed of this work (concludes in December) it is
concentrating on bringing together the three CCGs as “One Voice”. Whilst processes
may remain unchanged, governance may alter in future.

Leeds £

In order to further the concept of the Leeds £, we need to develop a ‘common
language’ among commissioners and decision makers in Leeds about how we co-
produce and assess the cost-benefit of commissioned services, recognising that
broad agreement will be needed about how we move investment from individually
commissioned services to ones that achieve joint outcomes by aligning our limited
resources. Commissioners in Leeds City Council have adopted the use of Outcome

Page 21



4.1

4.2

4.3

Based Accountability” to support the development of a shared understanding of how
we commission services to respond to measurable need.

Health and Wellbeing Board Governance

Consultation and Engagement

A Leeds approach to commissioning should be supported by a Leeds approach to
service user engagement as part of the commissioning cycle. Whilst approaches
may differ in practice all put the service user at the heart of commissioning decisions.

Public Health in Leeds City Council have some recent examples of involving service
users in the re-tendering of both drug and alcohol services and housing support
services. In both cases service users took part in OBA sessions, they were involved
in evaluating the existing service consulted on the service design. For the drug and
alcohol service, service users were involved in setting tender evaluation criteria and
actually scoring the bids that were submitted.

Any commissioning decision made using the NHS CCG toolkit will need to take
account of likely views of commissioning partners, notably Leeds City Council and
NHS England, in role as Co-Commissioner, and other Clinical Commissioning
Groups (if proposal likely to be cross border issues). Commissioners need to
consider likely political implications of any decision and likelihood of support from
elected council members. The perspective of patients, public, carers, providers,
primary care and clinicians is also taken into consideration. All engagement work and
perspectives analysis is captured in a stakeholder dimensions checklist and must be
submitted with proposals.

Each CCG has established links with the local area committees in Leeds City
Council, which provides an additional mechanism for gathering local population
needs in relation to health and wellbeing. The three CCGs have strong patient
engagement teams and methods that work at the level of the city, the CCG and the
practice level.

Leeds City Council takes a co-production approach, consulting and engaging with
stakeholders throughout the procurement lifecycle, to ensure procurements properly
reflect need and opportunity, and take account of the wider context, including the
council’'s plans and strategies, locality working and collaboration with others.

This report has been prepared in partnership between colleagues from the three
NHS Leeds CCGs and cross-directorate from Leeds City Council.

Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration

There are no direct equality and diversity implications from this report.

Resources and value for money

This report must be considered in the context of the financial challenges the city
faces, which the Health and Wellbeing Board has been well sighted on. Tackling
these challenges is part of the delivery of the Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy
2016-21 and the Leeds Sustainability and Transformation Plan.

" http:/www.leeds.gov.uk/docs/8%20-%200BA%20-%200utcomes%20Bsed%20Accountability%20-
%20September%202013.pdf

Page 22



4.4

4.5

Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In
There are no access to information and call-in implications arising from this report.

Risk Management

The NHS and local authority are founded on fundamentally different principles. For
example, most NHS services are free at the point of use whereas the majority of local
authority services are means tested. These principles will be challenged by the
attempts to coordinate or integrate commissioning approaches.

Programmes relevant or mentioned will have their own risk management
arrangements and the business of the Board will receive assurances that partners
work collaboratively for mitigation and resolution of these risks.

The Leeds STP is helping to manage the financial risk to the city by making the
health and care system more sustainable.

Conclusions

Despite the fact that there are very different commissioning cycles between the
CCGs and LCC, we already do a substantial amount of joint commissioning. This
includes where one of us is the lead commissioner via a section 75 arrangement with
a pooled budget, where we have a section 256 arrangement in place and one
organisation acts as lead commissioner with a third sector organisation, or where
simply we work together when commissioning a service or group of services to
ensure the commissioning process is informed by the other partner(s). Leeds can
demonstrate good practice in joint commissioning of services such as the Leeds
equipment services and several winter schemes we jointly work on to maintain
system resilience.

We are also developing our joint commissioning roles and gaining experience
through national projects such as the Urgent Care Vanguard / Pioneer / New Models
of Care programme with NHS England and other commissioning groups across West
Yorkshire.

While there may be some different approaches taken by various commissioning
partners, there are already some similar principles that guide our decision making
that could be developed into some common principles that underpin the way we
work, with agreed common language.

The approach taken by Adult Social Care and CCGs to align their investment aimed
at reducing lengthy hospital admissions and supporting people to remain
independent at home for longer should be viewed as a positive model from which
other areas of joint commissioning could be developed.

We need to build on existing successful approaches as we look to address the joint

commissioning priorities for children young people and families. A draft set of shared

outcomes which would benefit from taking this approach includes:

e Ensuring everyone will have the best start in life

e Offering integrated and personalised services for children with complex needs

e Providing a comprehensive emotional and mental health service for children and
young people

Page 23



e Responding to the needs of children who enter and leave care and improved
services for children whilst in care

With ever tighter financial budgets and controls, the CCGs are keen to learn from
partners who have been required to make savings and how they have
decommissioned or re-commissioned services. It is especially important to maintain
quality and to bring the public with us.

There is much evidence that the Council have been able to do this over the last five
years of cuts. Although the CCG approach is untested, the processes and
governance are established — with particular note to engagement. It is essential that
the Council are involved in this work as we approach the 2020/21 and the
amalgamation of budgets. The city has experience of this already through the BCF,
but there is more to learn as we work together as joint partners.

6 Next Steps

The Leeds system needs to work towards a new approach to integrated

commissioning models and requires the support of the HWB Board and also of the

Leeds Integrated Commissioning Executive (ICE) to:

e Build on existing good practice for commissioning together e.g. BCF

e Develop common commissioning and de-commissioning principles / draw
existing principles together

e Debate and synthesise the approaches to commissioning for outcomes / social
values etc

e Develop a joint position on commissioning of 3rd sector organisations

e Develop a shared set of principles for commissioning/decommissioning

e Seek ways to include the 3rd sector more as a commissioning partner where
appropriate

7 Recommendations

The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to:

e Consider whether the current approach and future steps adequately support the
vision and role of the Board

e |dentify any further opportunities to progress towards a shared approach to
commissioning and decommissioning

e Provide strategic direction for future progress towards a shared approach to
commissioning and decommissioning

e Take learning from best practice within the system and apply to future decision
making

e Support the Integrated commissioning executive to set system priorities for
shared challenges and testing further integrated commissioning models

8 Appendices
Appendix | — Glossary of commissioning language

Appendix Il — CCG shared commissioning timeline

Page 24



Appendix |

Aligned budgets/funding: Partners jointly considering their budgets and aligning
their activities to deliver agreed aims and outcomes, whilst retaining accountability
for their own resources.

AQP (Any Qualified Provider): A commissioning approach where any provider who
meets quality standards can be listed as a possible supplier of services. Designed to
allow maximum user choice whilst maintaining safety.

Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs): Groups of GPs, which from April 2013
will be responsible for purchasing local health services in England.

Commissioning: Assessing needs and services to ensure the best use of resources
to improve outcomes for the population served. The Commissioning Cycle is the
whole process that covers the stages of Understand, Plan, Do and Review.

Commissioning Intentions: Newly proposed initiatives/services or changes to
existing services which would require funding.

Commissioning Strategy/Commissioning Framework: A document that outlines
how commissioning will operate. Some strategies are sector specific, whilst others
deal with specific services.

Compact: A statement of shared principles and guidelines for effective partnership
working between government/local public bodies and the third sector.

Cost pressures: Absolute unavoidable costs for the service.

Direct Payments: Money paid directly to social care users so that they can
purchase services from providers themselves to meet their needs.

Decommissioning: The process of planning and managing a reduction in service
activity or terminating a contract in line with commissioning objectives.

Eligibility Criteria: The means by which councils decide who is eligible for public
funding for social care. The criteria are based on national guidance and set four
bands of need - critical, substantial, moderate and low. Most authorities now only
fund critical and substantial needs, subject to a means test.

Framework Agreement: Sets out the contractual terms between commissioners
and Any Qualified Providers governing price and quality, with services then usually
purchased by a call off arrangement.

Individual (Personal) budgets: Bringing together income streams from different
Statutory Sector organisations to provide a sum for an individual to control how it is
spent.

Integrated Commissioning: The process where organisations come together to
consider their commissioning strategies and decisions. This may/may not include

Page 25



aspects of work where joint arrangements do not materialize, but where there is an
agreement to be open and transparent about all commissioning activity.

Joint Commissioning: The process where organisations jointly consider their
commissioning strategies for particular pathways or services and pool their
resources (formally or informally) towards improving outcomes. This may lead to
formal legal arrangements including section 75 agreements. Joint commissioning
may/may not be part of a wider integrated commissioning approach.

Joint Health & Wellbeing Strategy: From April 2013 a duty will be placed on local
authorities and CCGs to develop a Joint Health and Wellbeing strategy to meet the
needs identified in their local Joint Strategic Needs Assessment.

Joint Purchasing
Services purchased jointly by at least two partners to meet jointly agreed needs.

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA): This is the process by which partners
and the community identify the population’s current and future health and wellbeing
needs. It is proposed that it will be used to inform the Joint Health and Wellbeing
Strategy and the commissioning actions of CCGs and the NHS Commissioning
Board.

Lead Commissioning: An arrangement where one organisation acts as the ‘host’
that commissions care services on behalf of its other partners.

Leeds £: Describes the collective resources across the health and care system

Local Healthwatch: The new bodies that will champion the interests of health and
social care service users from April 2013.

Marmot Review of Health Inequalities: A review of the social and economic
determinants of health inequalities by Professor Sir Michael Marmot that
recommends a set of public health strategies to inform JSNAs.

NHS England: The body that will support and oversee CCGs and commission
specialist medical services from April 2013. It will promote patient and public
involvement in commissioning and joint working across health and social care.

NHS Operating Framework: The annual planning document issued by the
Department of Health setting priorities for the coming financial year.

OBA: Outcomes Based Accountability is based on working backwards from the
ends we wish to achieve to the conditions of well-being on which we are trying to
make an impact — and then taking a step by step approach to understanding how we
want those conditions to look and feel different; This is often called ‘turning the
curve’.

Outcome Based Commissioning: Commissioning that starts with a focus on the
desired outcome rather than starting with what service to buy.

Page 26



Personalisation: This underpins the current direction of social care and seeks to
allow every person who receives support to have choice and control over the shape
of that support in all settings.

Pooled budget (or pooled fund): A formal arrangement where partners make
financial contributions to a single fund to achieve specified and mutually agreed
aims. A single host usually manages it under a partnership agreement that sets out
aims, accountabilities and responsibilities. Powers for these arrangements are
contained in Sections 75/76 of the NHS Act 2006 and Section 10 Children Act 2004.

Pre-commitments: Funding which has been pre-committed for agreed citywide
initiatives.

Procurement: The stage of the commissioning cycle that involves the purchase of
goods and services, with a focus on ensuring legal compliance and setting contracts.

Public Service Agreement (PSA):n agreement negotiated between central
government and a local authority to deliver improved outcomes in return for greater
freedom in the means of delivery, and financial incentives. It specifies how public
funds will be used to ensure value for money.

Purchasing: The operational activity set within the context of commissioning, of
applying resources to buy services in order to meet needs, either at a
macro/population level or at a micro/individual level.

Quality, innovation, productivity and prevention (QIPP): The NHS productivity
and efficiency programme.

Risks: Financial risks that may result in the need for reserves to be held against
future budget allocations.

Section 10: Section 10 of the Children Act 2004 enables any of the named ‘relevant
partners’ to make contributions to a fund out of which relevant payments may be
made and which can be managed by one of them.

Section 75: The NHS Section 75 agreement allows the pooling of funds where
payments may be made towards expenditure incurred in the exercise of any NHS or
‘health-related’ local authority functions. Section 75 also allows for one partner to
take the lead in commissioning services on behalf of the other (lead commissioning)
and for partners to combine resources, staff and management structures to help
integrate service provision (integrated management or provision), commonly known
as ‘Health Act flexibilities’. It also makes provision for the functions (statutory powers
or duties) to be delivered on a daily basis by another partner, subject to the agreed.

Section 76: The NHS Section 76 Agreement allows local authorities to make
payments (service, revenue or capital contributions) to NHS bodies to support
specific additional NHS services, where this ensures a more efficient use of
resources.

Page 27



Section 113: Section 113 of the Local Government Act allows staff to be available to
‘non-employing’ partner organisations so that staff can be seconded/transferred and
managed by another organisation’s personnel.

Section 256 NHS Act 2006: This gives powers to the NHS to make payments to
local authorities to support or enhance specific council services. Section 256 funds
refer to the funding that has been provided to social care in local authorities to
benefit health.

Separate funding: Allocation of a partner’s resources, or contribution of resources,
with accountability still within that partner

Page 28



Appendix Il

Engagement: all year round

B

eCommissioner QIPP savings identified through STP process DoCs
*PIG meeting 23 August

eCollaborative citywide leads requested to identify pre-comitments, risks, disinvestments, cost
pressures and QIPP

#2016/17 non recurrent schemes collated for individual CCGs
#2016/17 non recurrent schemes collated for the city

e

September

*PIG meeting 20 September \
eCollation of Comissioning pre-comitments, risks, disinvestments, cost pressures and QIPP
sBaselines to be set for projected activity and finance

ePlanning guidance released 22 September

eCouncil meeting - inform re revised timeline 13 September

|CE meeting 27 September )

*PIG meeting 18 October \
sFeedback/prioritisation collated
eScrutiny/challenge of proformas to take place as individual CCGs

*Recurrent Cl and Non-recurrent Cl paper written and circulated to PIG members and
respective CCGs for comments

*HWB 20 October - verbal update
*|CE meeting 11 October

November

*|CE meeting 1 November \
*PIG meeting 15 November

eFinal prioritisation and sign off

eAgree contract baselines and duscussion around contract envelopes

eContract baselines reviewed

eCost pressures paper written and circulated for comments

eNetwork 22 November

sFirst draft of 2 year operational plans to be submitted 24 November /

December

*|CE meeting 6 December \
*PIG meeting 13 December

eFinal Citywide sign-off

sLocal/citywide budgets decided Network / ICE?

*Contract negotiations to take place, including any changes to tariff process TBC
sContracts to be signed

*Governance sign off

*Network 13 December

*HWB Extraordinary meeting to be arranged (tbc)

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Iltem 10

Report author: Myrte Elbers, A
Leeds Health & Froarson, Sophia Ditta, Holly
. Dannh
Wellbeing Board SnAReEt

Report of:  lan Cameron (Director of Public Health, Leeds City Council)

Reportto: The Leeds Health and Wellbeing Board

Date: 20 October 2016
Subiject: Staying focused on the wider determinants of health
Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion X Yes [ INo

and integration?

Is the decision eligible for Call-In? [ ] Yes <] No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information? [ ] Yes X No
If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:

Summary of main issues

Anti-Poverty work programmes are indirectly supporting most priorities in the Leeds Health
and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-21 but the strongest links are with the following:

Priority 5 - A strong economy with quality local jobs. To reduce social inequalities, Leeds
needs a strong local economy driving sustainable economic growth for all people across
the city.

Priority 10 - Promote mental health and physical health equally

This report summarises some key anti-poverty initiatives around social prescribing, income
poverty, food and fuel poverty. The Leeds Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP) is
recognised a key contributor to the Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy it does not cover
all the priorities of the Strategy. The Board must be confident that appropriate focus is
placed on wider determinants in order to help to achieve the shared ambitions around
reducing health inequalities and the prevention agenda.

Recommendations

The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to:

e Consider the supporting communities and tackling poverty update to Executive
Board and information on initiatives being undertaken around poverty to improve
health and reduce inequalities.

e Discuss the following:

o What more can the Board do to support the four key propositions that are
being used to tackle poverty outlined in the Executive Board report?

0 How can the Board make strategic links between the work to improve the
wider determinants of health and work to create a financially sustainable
system — in this case, the poverty update and the STP?

o0 What can the Board do to make significant progress on this agenda?

Page 31



1.0

2.0

o0 What issues do the Board need to consider as part of its future work plan?
Purpose of this report

Anti-Poverty work programmes are indirectly supporting most priorities in the Leeds
Health and Wellbeing Strategy. This paper reiterates the importance of the Board’s
responsibilities around poverty and the wider determinants by including an update
and information about existing working to tackle poverty and improve health. This
paper also asks the Board to provide strategic direction to the health and care
system to ensure a maintained focus on the wider determinants of health.

Background information

On 21st September 2016, a paper entitled ‘Supporting Communities and tackling
poverty update’ was presented at Leeds City Council’'s Executive Board (attached
as appendix I). The report provided an update on progress made in supporting
communities and tackling poverty in Leeds over the last 12 months, activities
planned for the next 12 months and an update on key challenges. The approach to
tackling poverty is built around 4 key propositions:

e Helping people out of financial hardship

e Providing integrated and accessible services and pathways

e Helping people into work

e Being responsive to the needs of local communities

The Council’s Best Council Plan identifies as a key priority the need to “Support
communities and tackle poverty”. In 2013 the Council brought together a number of
services under the new Citizens and Communities directorate tasked with taking a
lead on addressing the poverty agenda, working with other directorates, services
and partners.

At the September meeting of Health and Wellbeing Board, a governance update
reiterated the role of the Health and Wellbeing Board. This included ‘operating as
one organisation around a shared vision, as set out in the Leeds Health and
Wellbeing Strategy 2016-21, and spending the Leeds £ wisely to drive change
across the local health and care system. The Board has a relentless focus on
reducing health inequalities and creating a high quality and sustainable health and
care system to help achieve our shared ambitions. This is achieved by using all
resources of the Board from the statutory commissioning and delivery of services by
Board members through to the broadest partnership influence on the wider
determinants of health outcomes.

The governance paper also noted that highly effective Health and Wellbeing Boards
provide a hub function, but also act as a fulcrum around which things happen.
These are boards that create a space in which significant things happen between or
outside of meetings, in which the board has a pivotal influence.

The STP is a crucial document that sets out objectives of meeting the financial
challenge posed to the health and care system. It is a key contributor to the Leeds
Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-21. However, it does not cover all the priorities
of the Strategy. The Board must be confident that appropriate focus is placed on the
wider determinants, in order to help to achieve our shared ambitions for Leeds;

Page 32



3.0

3.1

3.2

including our relentless focus on reducing health inequalities and creating a high
quality and sustainable health and care system.

This paper reiterates the Board’s focus on poverty and the wider determinants of
health and asserts its role as a hub and fulcrum. It does this by including the
poverty update and information about existing locality working to tackle poverty.

Further information can be found in the King’s Fund paper, Tackling poverty:
Making more of the NHS in England®.

Main issues
National and Local Policy Context

Nationally, the impact of poverty on health has been known for some time and
numerous research studies have provided evidence of this. Recently, for example,
the Picker Institute Europe published a briefing on Debt and Health? which found
that people in debt are between 2.5 and four times more likely to have a mental
health problem. The Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-21 also
acknowledges this and identifies vulnerable groups and areas of the city which
experience health inequalities. This includes people living in poverty, migrants,
refugees and asylum seekers, the homeless and people with disabilities.

Anti-Poverty work programmes are indirectly supporting most priorities in the Leeds
Health and Wellbeing Strategy but the strongest links are with the following:

Priority 5 - A strong economy with quality local jobs

To reduce social inequalities, Leeds needs a strong local economy driving
sustainable economic growth for all people across the city. This includes creating
more jobs and better jobs, tackling debt and addressing health related
worklessness.

Priority 10 - Promote mental health and physical health equally

Good employment, opportunities to learn, decent housing, financial inclusion and
debt are all key determinants of emotional wellbeing and good mental health.
There is a range of anti-poverty work programmes being undertaken to improve
health and reduce inequalities by Leeds City Council, Clinical Commissioning
Groups and partners. The following paragraphs summarise some key initiatives
around social prescribing, income poverty, food and fuel poverty. It is worth noting
that the new public health funded Locality Community Health Development
contracts have been, as a result of a service review, re-focused on helping to
address the wider determinants of health.

Social Prescribing

Social prescribing is a way of linking patients in primary care with sources of
support within the community. It provides primary healthcare workers with a non-

! http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/sites/files/kf/field/field publication file/tackling-poverty-research-
paper-jrf-kingsfund-nov14.pdf

2 Paparella, G. 2015: http://www.pickereurope.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/12/Debt-and-Health-A-
briefing.pdf

Page 33



3.3

medical referral option that can operate alongside existing treatments to improve
health and wellbeing.

The three Leeds Clinical Commissioning Groups are funding Social Prescribing
schemes. These involve teams of wellbeing co-ordinators that connect people to
local activities and support, building on their own individual strengths and their
identified needs. The three schemes have agreed to work closely together and are
developing a joint city centre hub. Overall, the types of services, groups and
activities that patients have been accessing as a result of the service are very
diverse, reflecting a wide range of social and health needs. These include: income
and debt, finding employment, training and education, adult social services,
befriending, leisure/ creative activities (including community choirs, gardening
groups, art groups) faith/cultural activities, volunteering, relationship support,
physical/ fithess, mental health support, substance misuse, equipment aids and
adaptations, maintaining or finding accommodation, offending. In addition, Leeds
South and East CCG have invested in additional welfare advice for their patients, as
part of the Advice Contract (see below), offering debt and welfare benefits advice in
community venues. Interestingly, some CCGs in England have commissioned
Citizens Advice Bureau to provide their social prescribing schemes, such as
Liverpool CCG.

Income Poverty

Leeds City Council and public health commissioners have long recognised the
linkages between health improvement and financial support initiatives, and a
commitment to support and fund the advice sector. One local research study
includes the following findings: A survey of Leeds residents who have had Financial
Inclusion support found that over 63% of credit union clients believe that their
quality of life had improved. 67% of residents receiving debt advice said they had
reduced stress and worry as a result of receiving services, and 41% said their
health had improved. A significant number of those surveyed said that they could
now buy the amount of food that they needed to feed their families and to pay for
heating their homes. All of this can have significant health implications and in turn
result in fewer demands on the health service. (Economic Impact Study Dayson,K
et al, 2009)

As highlighted in section 2.4.4. of the attached Executive Board Report, in-work
poverty is now more prevalent than for those who are unemployed, highlighting the
need for “fair pay or Living Wage”. In order to address this, Public Health
contributes to the Leeds Occupational Health Advisory Service (LOHAS) as well as
the Council’s Advice Contract discussed in said report, jointly with NHS Leeds
South and East CCG, Adult Social Care, Children’s Services, and Citizens and
Communities being the main funder. As stated on page 4 of appendix |, there was
an increase in the numbers of residents in full-time work earning less than the
Living Wage (26,000 in 15/16 compared to 24,000 in 14/15).

Citizens Advice Leeds, Citizens Advice Chapeltown and the Welfare Rights Unit
provide (public) health funded advice sessions across 20 GP surgeries/ Health
Centres and 6 community venues (e.g. One Stops, libraries) on issues such as
benefits, debt, employment and immigration. Citizens Advice Leeds also provides
outreach in 11 different mental health inpatient units, day centres and community
health services across Leeds.

Page 34



3.4

In the first two years of the advice contract, more than 5,000 people have received
advice through the outreach services in GP surgeries, mental health services and
Children’s Centres. Feedback from a sample of clients indicated that 62% felt their
stress or anxiety had improved as a result of the advice.

A “Poverty and Primary Care” survey with GP practice staff, undertaken in 2014
highlighted the need for more information on different services in order to signpost
patients appropriately. This coincided with the launch of the Money Information
Centre (MIC) managed by the Council’s Financial Inclusion Team. MIC is an online
signposting resource on where to access support around poverty and money
worries. Services include Citizens Advice, Leeds Credit Union, Money Buddies and
information how to access support such as the Warmth for Wellbeing scheme. MIC
can be accessed via the link www.leedsmic.org.uk. MIC has been widely promoted
with Council, NHS, and voluntary sector staff, and is a well-used resource.

In order to ensure frontline staff are able to pick up on any money worries a resident
may have and be able to confidently refer onto the appropriate service or resource ,
the Financial Inclusion Team have developed a short training session. The first of
the training sessions were delivered to the council’s contact centre staff in June and
July 2016. Furthermore, Public Health Locality Teams have co-ordinated similar
briefing sessions in the community, involving services that alleviate income poverty,
such as Money Buddies, Leeds City Credit Union and Food Aid Network.

In addition to Section 2 of the Executive Board report, there are numerous case
studies available from third sector advice agencies to demonstrate the impact of
money advice on clients’ physical and mental health.

Food Poverty

In 2014, Advice Leeds (former network organisation of all advice providers across
Leeds) carried out a study on the impact of welfare reform in the city. The study
concluded that reforms were having a negative impact on the capacity to maintain a
balanced diet and avoid hunger (mentioned by 50% of respondents), the capacity to
heat their homes, and their long-term health.

In order to combat food poverty the council supports Leeds Food Aid Network
(FAN). Leeds FAN brings different people, initiatives and institutions together who
are involved in tackling food poverty in the city of Leeds. As well as the Local
Welfare Support Scheme, run by the Council, there are 6 foodbanks and

6 organisations providing food parcels. Last year, demand for foodbanks increased
by 25% compared to 2014/15. There are also 11 drop ins / soup kitchens, 4 Street
Outreaches, 2 specialised services providing food for Asylum seekers / Refugees, a
number of informal parish pantries and certain forms of Social Enterprise run on a
community café/pay as you feel model e.g. The Real Junk Food Project. In addition,
Public Health has partnered with Fare Share to set up 6-7 Fare Share outlets in
Inner East Leeds.

Breakfast cereal is being provided in Leeds school clusters representing 92

schools, involving around 6,000 children, with more schools expressing an interest
in taking part. The scheme is also providing fresh fruit to schools from a

Page 35



3.5

4.0

4.1

new partnership with a major wholesale Fruit and Vegetable supplier. In the last 12
months enough food has been supplied to provide 383,175 breakfasts.

Public Health is working with Food Aid Network and Feed Leeds to plan and deliver
an event to discuss food issues in the city. The insight from this event will be used
to inform the proposed Food Charter. Furthermore, Public Health leads the Eatwell
Food Forum, who have devised resources to support food budgeting which have
been shared with food aid providers across the city.

Fuel Poverty

Fuel poor households are those with above average heating costs and lower than
average incomes. In Leeds, 11.6% of households are fuel poor. Many inner city
areas with older terraced housing which are difficult to insulate and make efficient
and low income households with a transient population and high levels of private
renting are particularly susceptible to fuel poverty.

The Leeds approach to tackling fuel poverty and improving affordable warmth relies
on improving the energy efficiency of dwellings through the installation of insulation
and improved heating, relieving pressure on household income by referring people
for benefits advice for example, and attempting to reduce energy bills through
encouraging switching and promotion of the local energy company, White Rose
Energy.

The Council, in collaboration with external partners, constantly seeks to increase
support for vulnerable households for example it is due to submit a Local Growth
Bid for large heating/insulation measures that has been supported by all three
CCGs. Public Health and CCGs already fund or support small scale heating
improvements and energy advice through the Warmth for Wellbeing Service, run by
Groundwork Leeds. The HWB Strategy acknowledges the correlation between fuel
poverty and health as it contains an indicator to monitor progress i.e. “People
affording to heat their home”.

Fuel poverty in Leeds has been stable at 11.6% of households for a few years.
However, the latest figures from 2014 have shown a small increase to 11.9%. This
is likely to be due in large part to a relative decline in incomes, as the energy
efficiency of the housing stock has been improving in energy efficiency due to
various heating and insulation schemes over the past twenty years.

Health and Wellbeing Board Governance

Consultation and Engagement

This report has been prepared by officers from Leeds City Council in Public Health
and Citizens and Communities. The report is designed to prompt Board discussion
and seek direction.

Engagement with target populations and the public takes place through
partnerships with the voluntary and community sector in Leeds (e.g. FAN, Financial

Inclusion Steering Group) and services/projects acting on the feedback that clients
give them on a regular basis.

Page 36



4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

5.0

6.0

Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration

The report outlines actions that have been taken with the intention of reducing
inequality and through greater engagement with communities, increasing cohesion
and diversity.

Resources and value for money

The report itself does not require any resource allocation. The key activities detailed
in the report are resourced from existing budgets.

Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In

There are no legal implications, access to information and call-in implications
arising from the contents of the report.

Risk Management
There are no identified or specific risks arising from this report.
Conclusions

A large amount of work is being undertaken by Leeds City Council and partners
using an approach to tackling poverty built around four key propositions:

Helping people out of financial hardship

Providing integrated and accessible services and pathways
Helping people into work

Being responsive to the needs of local communities

The impacts of poverty on health have been known for some time. There are a
number of current key initiatives aimed at improving health and reducing
inequalities around social prescribing, income poverty, food and fuel poverty. Anti-
Poverty work programmes are indirectly supporting most priorities in the Leeds
Health and Wellbeing Strategy. The Board is asked to consider its role in
maintaining an appropriate focus on wider determinants, in order to help to achieve
the ambitions around reducing health inequalities and the priorities and relentless
focus of the Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy, including the prevention agenda.

Recommendations
The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to:

e Consider the supporting communities and tackling poverty update to Executive
Board and initiatives being undertaken around poverty.
e Discuss the following:
o What more can the Board do to support the four key propositions that are
being used to tackle poverty outlined in the Executive Board report?

Page 37



How can the Board make strategic links between the work to improve the
wider determinants of health and work to create a financially sustainable
system — in this case, the poverty update and the STP?

What can the Board do to make significant progress on this agenda?
What issues do the Board need to consider as part of its future work
plan?

Page 38



Appendix 1

@

- CITY COUNCIL

I eedS Report author: S Carey
Tel: x43001

Report of Assistant Chief Executive (Citizens and Communities)
Report to Executive Board

Date: 21°' September 2016

Subject: Citizens@Leeds — Supporting Communities and tackling poverty update

Are specific electoral Wards affected? [ ] Yes X No
If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion [X| Yes [ ] No
and integration?

Is the decision eligible for Call-In? X] Yes [ ] No
Does the report contain confidential or exempt information? [] Yes X] No
If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:

Appendix number:

Summary of the main issues

In June 2015, Executive Board received a report on the progress made in establishing the
Citizens@Leeds approach to supporting communities and tackling poverty. The report
focused on four key propositions which are the building blocks for a city-wide response to
tackling poverty and deprivation. The four propositions cover:

e the need to provide accessible and integrated services;

e the need to help people out of financial hardship;

e the need to help people into work; and

e the need to be responsive to the needs of local communities.

The June 2015 report set out the key aims for the next five years in terms of tackling
poverty and supporting communities and also set out a 12-month plan of action against
each of the four key propositions. This report provides information on progress made
against both the annual plan and the 5-year aims.

In looking at the progress made, the report provides additional context for Members of the

Executive Board, including further information on the Government’'s welfare reforms and
key statistics relating to poverty in Leeds.

Page 39



Recommendations

1.

Executive Board is asked to

Note the information provided in this report;
Note the plans for the next year; and

Request a further report in 12 months setting out the progress made in supporting
communities and tackling poverty.

1. Purpose of this report

1.1

The report provides an update on progress made in supporting communities and tackling
poverty in Leeds over the last 12 months. The report also sets out the planned activities
for the next 12 months and provides an update on key challenges including the
Government’s ongoing programme of welfare reform.

2. Background information

2.1.

2.2.

The Council’'s Best Council Plan identifies as a key priority the need to “Support
communities and tackle poverty”. In 2013 the Council brought together a number of
services under the new Citizens and Communities directorate tasked with taking a lead
on addressing the poverty agenda, working with other directorates, services and
partners.

The approach to tackling poverty is built around 4 key propositions:

Helping people out of financial hardship: with a focus on reducing dependency on
local and national benefits, improving access to affordable credit as well as
tackling high costs lending, reducing debt levels and increasing financial
resilience of the poorest citizens and communities in the city;

Providing integrated and accessible services and pathways: with a focus on
developing integrated pathways of support that are accessible to local
communities and create local partnerships between council-led services and
other relevant organisations;

Helping people into work: with a focus on working with those adults who are
furthest away from employment and developing programmes of support that
meet individual needs and promote citizen engagement;

Being responsive to the needs of local communities with a focus on establishing

a voice for local communities within the democratic process that leads to
community-supported actions to address local issues

Page 40



2.3

24

241

242

243

The propositions are being delivered against a context which is changing constantly. In
December 2015, Executive Board received a report entitted ‘EMERGING 2016/17
BEST COUNCIL PLAN PRIORITIES, TACKLING POVERTY AND DEPRIVATION’
that provided information on the latest statistics about poverty in Leeds.

The 2015 report identified a number of key findings that highlighted the state of poverty
and deprivation in the city. Below is an update of these statistics to show the latest
position:

People living in poverty:

The number of people estimated to be in ‘absolute poverty’ has reduced from 175,000
as stated in the December 2015 report to 155,000 as estimated by the latest figures
released in June 2016. Around 163,000 people are estimated to be in ‘relative poverty’.

It should be noted that an element of the reduction in the number in ‘absolute poverty’ is
due to a change in the inflation measure used to estimate the absolute poverty figure.

Relative Poverty measures the number and proportion of individuals who have
household incomes below 60% of the median average in that year. Absolute Poverty
measures the number and proportion of individuals who have household incomes 60%
below the median average taking the base year as 2010/11. Subsequent year’s figures,
after 2010/11, are adjusted for inflation.

Up until 2015, the number of people in Absolute Poverty has been increasing and was
estimated using Retail Price Index (RPI) inflation. In the most recently published
estimates, released in June 2016, the Office for National Statistics has changed the
inflation measure for determining Absolute Poverty from RPI inflation to Consumer Price
Index (CPI) inflation. Under the newly published estimates for 2014/15, the figure for
absolute poverty in Leeds has fallen by 20,000. However, although there has been a fall
in Absolute Poverty, approximately 7,000 of this reduction is as a result of the changed
method of calculation. It must be born in mind therefore that current and future poverty
figures cannot be compared with previously published figures.

Food bank use
The number of residents who have needed assistance with food via a food bank has
increased from around 20,000 in 14/15 to 25,000 in 15/16. The increase appears to be
related to the ongoing impact of welfare reforms and the application of sanctions by
Jobcentre plus.

Children in poverty

The latest figures are for 2014/15 and estimate that around 26,000 (18.1%) of Leeds
children are in poverty, 67% of whom are estimated to be from working families. In
comparison, the previous year’s figures from 2013/14 estimated that 28,000 (19.5%) of
Leeds children were in poverty, 64% of whom were estimated to be from working
families.

The figures show a decrease in the number of children living in poverty but also show
that a higher percentage of those living in poverty are from working households. This is

Page 41



244

24.5

246

2.5

26

likely to be connected to an increase in the number of Leeds residents earning less than
the Living Wage and an increase in the number on zero-hours contracts as set out
below.

In-work poverty

The number of people estimated to be in in-work poverty reduced slightly from 15,000 in
2014/15 to 14,000 in 2015/16. Despite this reduction, there was an increase in both the
numbers of residents in full-time work earning less than the Living Wage (26,000 in
15/16 compared to 24,000 in 14/15) and the number of residents on zero-hour contracts
(9,500 in 2015/16 compared to 8,000 in 14/15).

Council Tax Support

The number of families dependent on Council Tax Support continues to reduce. Since
the launch of local Council Tax Support schemes, the number of families claiming CTS
has reduced by just under 10% from around 78,000 to 71,000. The reduction appears
to be as a result of more residents moving into work and the volume of reductions in the
last 10 months will be connected to the Personal Work Support Package offer which
now forms part of the CTS scheme.

Fuel poverty

There has been no further update on fuel poverty since the December 2015 Executive
Board report so the figures remain the same with over 38,600 Leeds households in fuel
poverty and around 8,000 of these households paying their fuel bills via prepayment
meters.

Welfare Reform

A number of Government welfare reforms have been introduced since 2013. The most
significant reforms include the social sector size criteria (sometimes called ‘bedroom
tax’ or ‘spare room subsidy’) and the benefit cap which limits benefit entitlement to a
maximum of £500 a week. The number of tenants affected by the social sector size
criteria changes has remained broadly the same for the last 2 years at around 6,300
tenancies. The fact that the number affected has remained fairly static reflects the fact
that the majority of affected tenants now require 1-bed accommodation in order to avoid
being classed as ‘under-occupying’ the property and also the effectiveness of policies
that aim to avoid placing tenants in properties where they may be deemed to be under-
occupying for benefit purposes.

The Benefit Cap is currently set at £26,000 a year or £500 a week and there are around
270 families affected by the cap at any one time in Leeds. The families that are affected
by the Benefit Cap are larger families with 4 or more children and include families in
both the social rented sector and the private rented sector. From November 2016, the
Benefit Cap reduces to £20,000 a year in Leeds or £385 a week. DWP has now
confirmed that an additional 1150 families will be affected by the cap. Those already
affected by the £26,000 cap will lose a further £115 a week in Housing Benefit or the
rest of their Housing Benefit, whichever is the lower figure.

Page 42



2.7

2.8

29

2.10

3.1.

3.2.

To date around £10m has been spent in providing discretionary housing payments or
emergency support for families since 2013. The additional change to the Benefit Cap
will increase this figure further.

A number of key policy changes have been made to tax credits since April 2012
including the removal of the second income threshold. As a result, 10,700 families that
were in work, with children, stopped receiving child tax credit from April 2012. This has
affected 14,300 children from working families across Leeds.

More welfare reforms were introduced in 2016 and further reforms are planned from
2017 onwards.

e a 4-year freeze on working age benefits came into effect from April 2016 and this is
expected to save £1.03bn;

e changes to Tax Credits were planned for 2016 but these were subsequently
scrapped

e however, the proposed Tax Credit changes were also mirrored in Universal Credit
and these have been implement with effect from April 2016

e from 2017, the Government is limiting to 2 the number of children eligible for
additional support. This change is expected to save £0.59bn

e removing auto entitlement to housing costs for 18-21 year olds is expected to save
£0.03bn

e limiting ESA (Work Related Group) to the same rate as JSA claimants is expected to
save £0.06bn

Universal Credit has now started to be rolled out in Leeds. This is currently limited to
single unemployed people who would otherwise claim Jobseekers Allowance. A wider
roll out in Leeds is not now expected until 2018 at the earliest.

Main Issues

The background information provided in this report shows the difficulty in relying only on
statistics to measure progress in tackling poverty in the City. The ongoing programme
of welfare reform and the redefinition of the ‘absolute poverty’ measure are examples of
external factors that can impact on key indicators and mask progress made in areas.

The propositions that underpin the Citizens@Leeds approach to tackling poverty are
intended to direct the way we deliver services and the opportunities we create for
residents and communities to help themselves where appropriate. The overall aims of
the approach, as approved by Executive Board, are set out below along with a synopsis
of the progress made.

e Every household in the city is aware of and able to access services that provide

practical solutions to deal with financial hardship, support work-related ambitions
and promote community-led anti-poverty initiatives

Page 43



Key achievements against this aim have been the development of a Personal Work
Support Package offer as part of the Council Tax Support scheme and the ongoing
implementation of a reconfigured advice service that is set to exceed contractual
targets for the provision of advice in the next year and provide advice to more clients
than ever before.

The online Money Information Centre continues to provide up to date advice on all
money-related issues and a significant programme of financial inclusion briefings to
front-line staff has been carried out to increase awareness across the Council.

Local organisations have been supported to deliver local solutions to help address
financial exclusion matters and provide welfare-related support to people in need.
This has been funded through the Social Inclusion Fund and through the funding
provided by the council to help with refugee and asylum seeker needs within the city.

A network of Community Hubs with well-developed cross-sector partnerships that
deliver integrated pathways of support

The delivery of the Community Hubs is split into multiple phases due to the scale of
the programme and to accelerate delivery, as follows:

e Phase 1 Pathfinder sites - Armley, Compton Centre and St George’s Centre.
These opened in April 2014.

e Phase 1a Priority Sites — Initial works have been undertaken to allow Integrated
Library and One Stop services to be formed at the Priority 1a sites using revenue
funding from Citizens & Communities Directorate. Phase 1a Community Hubs
are now operational at Yeadon, Kippax, Moor Allerton, Pudsey, Horsforth and
Rothwell.

On 22nd June 2016 Executive Board approved the Community Hubs Phase 2
business case to develop Community Hubs in the following locations:

Dewsbury Road
North Seacroft
Morley
Middleton
Bramley
Chapeltown
Headingley
Harehills

Otley

Armley

Garforth

The City Centre (Queue and Appointment Management)

Page 44



The first priority schemes within phase 2 are scheduled to be the North Seacroft
Community Hub at Deacon House, The Dewsbury Road Community Hub and the
Bramley Community Hub.

All Community Hubs now offer fully-integrated pathways of support and cross-sector
partnerships are developing as the Hubs become established. Examples of good
cross-sector partnerships in the Community Hubs include Police, NHS, Leeds City
College, and Money Buddies. The roll out schedule is on track to deliver a network
of Community Hubs over the next few years.

A Centres of Excellence approach that delivers more effective and efficient council
services that provide connections with localities and integrated pathways of support

3 centres of excellence have been set up around Care & Safeguarding, Welfare and
benefits and Environment & City i9nfrastructure and now provide a more joined up
approach to customer service which is built around the needs of customers.
Customer Service Officers (CSOs) are being multi-skilled around related services so
that they can identify broader services that may be relevant to customers who make
contact with the contact centre.

This is part of our approach to deliver a more tailored service around the specific

needs of individual customers. We have developed the skills and awareness of our

customer service officers (CSOs) across traditional service and functional

boundaries to enable them to:

e pick up on broader needs, e.g. a caller ringing with difficulties paying their rent
may also have wider debt problems

e join up services, e.g. rather than handle just the presenting enquiry, the CSO
would identify and handle related enquiries or bring in colleagues that could help

e signpost related services to add value to the customer and help resolve wider
issues.

The approach is resulting in longer calls for some customers, where broader needs
are identified. But overall there should be a reduction in repeat and multiple calls to
different services, and the approach will particularly benefit the most vulnerable
customers. We are planning to develop a digital centre of excellence as a way to
handle a vast number of straight-forward queries via self-serve, freeing up the time
for CSOs to support the most vulnerable customers with complex needs and
queries.

A network of cross-sector partnerships that provide relevant and timely support to
enable all vulnerable citizens to manage and maintain Universal Credit claims

Universal Credit went live in Leeds in February 2016. The roll out of Universal credit
is currently limited to single unemployed people who would otherwise claim
Jobseekers Allowance. Nevertheless, good progress has been made in ensuring
that there is relevant and timely support to help claimants get online and to help
manage monthly payments of Universal Credit. DWP has extended the Universal

Page 45



Credit roll out period by another year to 2022 and this means that further roll out
beyond the single unemployed group is not expected until late 2018 or early 2019.
Undoubtedly, greater challenges lie ahead when Universal Credit is rolled out to
more vulnerable citizens but the principle of a multi-agency approach to supporting
Universal Credit claims has been established and will help as the roll out of
Universal Credit progresses.

Devolved welfare schemes delivered locally that provide integrated and wrap around
support to customers

The Citizens@Leeds approach to tackling financial hardship has shown how local
delivery of key support schemes can be used to deliver more wrap around support.
Schemes such as the local Council Tax Support scheme, the Local Welfare Support
scheme and Discretionary Housing Payment scheme are often delivered alongside
other support requirements, including support with work and with debt. There has
been little, if any, encouragement from Central Government to date to look at further
devolution of welfare schemes. There may be an opportunity to push for greater
welfare devolution following the appointment of the new Prime Minister.

In conjunction with Leeds Credit Union (LCU), deliver a 5-year strategy that delivers
significant growth in membership, loans, savings and products through a modern
banking platform

The Council’s partnership with the Credit Union continues to go from strength to
strength. The Credit Union has now set out a 5-year strategy that looks to deliver
and grow its services using a modern banking platform that provides increased
access and convenience for its members. A new web site with enhanced
functionality has been launched, along with a new Payday product and expanded
‘Your Loan Shop’ service. Plans are being developed to upgrade the back office
systems and to significantly improve administrative efficiency and services provided
to LCU members.

As at the end of June 2016, LCU’s loan book had grown to £10.3m gross and its
membership stood at 29,847

An effective, affordable and joined-up network of advice for all Leeds residents that
embraces new technologies and recognises and builds on the strengths of all
partner organisations

More citizens are now accessing advice than ever before following a reconfiguration
of the way advice is provided and the implementation of an effective triage service
that identifies the need for either face-to-face support or telephone support.
Nevertheless there are significant challenges ahead in continuing to deliver an
effective advice service. The programme of welfare reforms, including the roll out of
Universal Credit, is expected to increase demand for advice. At the same time,
there is significant pressure on available funding for advice. These pressures mean

Page 46



3.3.

3.4.

4.1.

5.1.

6.1.

that greater consideration needs to be given to alternative methods of delivering
advice if the 5-year aim is to be achieved.

e Supported community-led initiatives that address food poverty and support a food
strategy for Leeds that increases local resilience.

The council continues to support Leeds Food Aid Network which helps to deliver a
joined-up approach to emergency food provision at a local level. Integral to the
success of the Food Aid Network is the partnership the Council has with FareShare
(Leeds). FareShare (Leeds) redistribute excess food from supermarkets which not
only helps support the Food Aid Network but also reduces landfill. The partnership
with FareShare (Leeds) has seen an expansion of their support into areas such as
breakfast clubs at schools and food aid to centres supporting asylum seekers and
refugees.

A more detailed update on actions taken over the last 12 months is provided at
appendix 1.

The intention behind the Citizens@Leeds approach to service delivery is to help change
people’s lives. A selection of case studies are provided at appendix 2 that demonstrate
the impact of the approach to helping residents improve their situation. Finally,
appendix 3 sets out the Citizens & Communities Directorate Priorities for 16/17 which
are intended to deliver further progress towards the 5 —year aims

Corporate Considerations

Consultation and engagement

The report is for information only and does not require consultation.
Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration

The report outlines actions that have been taken with the intention of reducing inequality
and, through greater engagement with communities, increasing cohesion and diversity

Council Policies and Best Council Plan

The four key propositions play a key element in tackling poverty and reducing
inequalities, the stated aim of the 2016/17 Best Council Plan. The scheme contributes
to the Best Council Plan outcomes for everyone in Leeds to ‘Earn enough to support
themselves and their families’ and Live in good quality, affordable homes’ and to the
specific 2016/17 priorities around ‘Providing skills programmes and employment
support’ and ‘Helping people adjust to welfare changes’.

Page 47



7.

8.1.

9.1.

10.

Resources and Value for Money

The report itself does not require any resource allocation. The key activities detailed in
the report which require resource allocation have been subject to separate reports and,
where appropriate, detailed business cases.

Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In

There are no specific legal implications or access to information issues with this report.
The report is subject to call-in.

Risk Management
There are no identified or specific risks arising from this report.

Conclusions

10.1. It is felt that good progress is being made in developing and delivering initiatives that

support the 4 key propositions for supporting communities and tackling poverty. It is
important that we continue to make progress in this area and the proposals for 16/17 set
out a programme of work that will continue to contribute to a 5-year vision for what we
need to achieve.

10.2. The achievements to date are also based on excellent inter-directorate working and

support form partner organisations both in the public sector and in the third sector and
voluntary sector. We need to continue to develop these arrangements.
Recommendations

Executive Board is asked to

- Note the information provided in this report;
- Note the plans for the next year; and

- Request a further report in 12 months setting out the progress made in supporting
communities and tackling poverty.

Background documents

None'

' The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, unless
they contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include published
works.

10
Page 48



Ll

useamlaq S)UI| UonedIUNWWOD ©8ANdaUe ybnoly] 's)ebie] pasealoul
JaW sey Yolym aolAIas e dojaAasp 01 DD YIM [|9M payJom Sey WnILosuo) ay |
‘puewsap Bunssw Ul 8sealoul ||BJBAC UB 0] P3| UYdIYM SpaaT 82IApY Suazii)
JO uoneINBIUODaI |NJSS80NS B Js)e PalaAl|dp SEM JOBIUOD 8Y) JO Syluow Z|
1Se| 8y "salunwwo)) spas Jeneg pue umoljedey) 82IApY Suszii) ‘spesT
9OIAPY SUBZIIID 8Je slaquiall 8SOUM ‘WNIUOSU0D 82IAPY 8yl AQ palaAljap
Buieq sI 10B1U0D By "JeaA pJiyl SIl Ul MOU SI JOBIUOD 82IAPY S,|louno) 8y

puewsap 198w 0)
S92IAI8S BDIApPE 8|gISSedoe alow Bulpiroid

‘uonednooo-lapun pue ded vuag ay) ‘Upal) |esianiun Aq
pajoaye sjueud) 0} uaalb Bulaq si Ajuold ‘JuswAojdwa pue Buluiely Buissaooe
pue ‘sjunodoe Ajnn ‘uaswAed bBuisnoy Aleuonslosiqg Joy uoneoldde ‘1qep
Jo Juswabeuew Buipnjoul quawabeuew j6pnq ‘uonesiwixew awooul ‘suondo
Buisnoyal mainal 0} sjueus) pajoaye 0} uoddns jeuonippe Bulsyo sI wes)
ayl ‘wJojal aseyop\ AQ perosye sjueus) 0} Woddns 8jeulpio-02 0} SISO
BuisnoH 1sienads g| Jo wea)] e ysigelse 0} ‘Woddns |euosiad pue |eloueuly
Buneibayul ybnouyy paAsiyoe aq ued yolym sawooino pasoidwi ayy paybiybiy
yoiym ‘09loud syej) Aaiols ninw ayy wod buiuies| ay) pasn sey spas BuisnoH

sljauaq pue alejjam punose
uoddns jo sAemyied paejeibajul Buusaleg

"paau Ul 1sow 8soy) 0} UaAIB sI Woddns ainsus 0} senunuoo Bulioluow
pue sawayos 8say] U0 puewap |euonippe uesw |IM 910z Bulnp psjusws|dwi
aq 0} anp de) jyouag paoNpal ay) pue }pald [BSISAIUN JO uoldNPOAUIl Y|

uoddns SANT Jo/pue dHQ paAIadal sjueus) 00S/.
"YoaMm ¢ 13 Jo abelsaAe ue Buiso

‘“Lloddns Buisnoy ul uononpal e paoe) SJUBUS) J0108S [BI100S 000‘9 J8AQ
'SyUOW Z|, ISE| 8y} U

‘Woddns jiyeuag BuisnoH ul suononpal JO 8d.} 8y} Ul S8I0UBUS) UlejuleW
pue salouabiawa Yyim [eap 0] Sjueus) a|gelau|nA Buligeus ul [BoLID udaq aARY
soaweyos sjuswAled BuisnoH Aseuonasosiq pue poddng alejop) |BOOT BYL

a|geJau|nA Jsow ay) Joddns
1ley) saswsayos uoddns |eoueuly BuusAleg

diyspJey jeioueuly jo 1no ajdoad buid|sH

91/5102Z :suonoe pasodoud uo ayepdn :| Xipuaddy

Page 49



¢l

2o1d 8y} JO MalAal B ayeuapun [IM YD 4 8y ‘uolienbal-}sod pue-aid juejsuod
paulewas sey jualo Jad sueo| AepAed yum senssi jo adA} pue Jaqunu ay)
‘ug||e} sey swajqold ueo| AepAed yym sjuaio Jo Jaquinu ay} ybnoyyy “ediApe
Buissaooe swajqoud ueo| AepAed yum sjusio Jo Jaqwinu 8y} Ul uondonpal
%G B U9as 0Os|e sey 92IApY suaziyl) "aoe|d ojul sweod suolenbal Jayybiy aouls
19yJew ay} payxe aAey swiy AepAed Jo 9,8¢€ 1By} puno} (91L0Z yoJep) yoieasal
92IAPY SUdZIID |eUOiBU ‘I9ABMOH "uonoe D4 Buimoljo} ‘sueo| AepAed punose
Ayolignd jo [aAs| ybiy ayy o} payull &g ueod sjule|dwod ul 8su siy} ey} palels
uewspnquiQ ay| ‘aJojaq Jeak ay) /GL | O} patedwod ‘9l/GL0Z Ul SUBO| WJd)
-1loys jnoqge sjuie|dwod gLz‘s alam alay] ‘910z yaJtel 0} Jeah ayy ul %8/ 1 Aq
paJeos saluedwod ueo| AepAed jnoge sjuie|dwod JO Jaquinu ay) 1ey} pajeanal
yolym uodas |enuue Jisy} pases|al uewspnquQ [eloueuld ayy ‘gdwexs Jo4

"JoyJew ay] Uo 108a Sil Ssasse 0] Allea 00} s JI 1ey) s1sebbns yoiym
10edwi sy) uo suodas paxiw usaqg aAeYy alayl G0z Alenuer ul Joyoas Bulpug)
AepAed sy} jo uonenbal Jo)ouLls Sy 8yl JO uoidnposul 8yl aoulg -aoeld
Buiyel usaq sey JOMm [BOO| pue |euOlleU 8|qeJapISu0d SIeak g 1se| 8yl JaAQ

SJapua| 1509 ybiy bBuipoe |

"SUOISUSd pue MJIOAA Jo) 81e1S Jo Alejaloag mau ay)
pue Ja)SIUIp\ swlld Mau ay) Aq uoneiapisuod Joj padojaasp aq uiebe aouo |Im
sawiayos alejjom paubisep pue palaAljap A||e20| 80w JO S)|auaq ay) ‘JoASMOH
‘uolnjoAsp auejjem Joj sjesodosd pabeinoous Jou SBY JUSWUIBAOS) 8y

suoniguwe sall) 8109
a8y} poddns 03 sanlqisuodsal aiejjom Jo
uonnjoAap Jajealb oy sjesodosd Buidojeraq

G6.'€C 902'9C |ejo |
80S‘Y 9¢/'C solebing
1478 4" 99001 90e}-0}-908
€/S'vL yov'clL s||eo suoyds|a |
91/5102 12414

'syjuowW g| 1se| ay)
JoA0 pasealoul sey aoIApe Buisseooe Jaquinu a8yl Moy SMOoYs Mojaq a|qel ay |

"9]qISS920k alow Bulwooaq adIAIaS ay) 0} anp
pad|ay sjualo JO Jaquinu JO SWd) Ul JeaAk 1sJi 8yl uo panosdwi S)nsal g Jea A
1ey) jueaw sey siy| ‘papiroid Auenbal si syabie) 0y Bunejal uonewsoul pue
paAladal AjISea SI ¥oeqpas) ‘WNIJoSU0)) ayj PUe [IoUN0) 8y} 1B SISUOISSILIWOD)

Page 50



€l

upatn AuD spaa pue |1Iouno) ay) usamiaq diysiauyied oibsielis wia) buo| ay)
1IN0 Bumes G0z 41990100 Ul Jodal e pasiopud pue pPaAledal pJeoyg SAIINdSXT]

"Slepus| 1500 YbBIy pasn asimiay)o
aAey Aew slaswoisno 8say| "9€'6/2°L3 P9JeIol 9L0Z aunp Buipus Jsuenb
8y} 10} SJaWwo)sno papnjoxa Ajjeloueul 0} SUBO| UOIUN 1IP8JD JO 8njeA [ejo] ay |

S9IIAISS }IpaJd g|gepJoye apinoid
0} uolun }Ipaid AjD spas yim Bupuopn

‘Aj@rendosdde 1sodubis pue asiubooal 0) way] ajgeus 0} ajua)) JOBU0D
3y} UIyUM Jels auljjuoly ||e 0} palaallep sem Buluiesy 910z Ainp/aunp Buung

‘€102 Buunp uoydio ul aseo e woly
91/S10z Buunp Buipun} Bwi) JO SPaad0Id, poAladal os|e Aay| -bBunesado aq
0] UMOUY aJe S)Jeys UBO| 8J8YM SPadT Ul SJuspISal WO} PaAISdal UoIewIojul
JO weals Apea)s e papodal Ay wWea| 3}Jeys ueo ay) ‘syjuow g ise| ayy uj

‘'ssoualeme asiel 0} sia)sod pale|dsip aAey
sdnoub sjuapisay pue sjueus| ||e pue auizebew SSWOH SPadT 8y} ul papn[oul
usaqg sey bBuisiuenpy -awly aAlsuadxa Alen e AjjeaidA} si yoiym ‘sAepijoy
|O0OYOS YjIm apIoulod 0} Ainp Bulnp siene| sJealdie || YuMm Jno juds spiedjsod
pue spJeoq aonjou siel} Aalois nw [je ul pake|dsip usaq aAey sisisod Mieys
ueo ‘seladosd QO 01 paltaAldp alam spiedisod jeuonowold pue jusjeaslid
ale s)leys ueo| aisaym seale ul aoe|d uaye} aaey sAep uondy °‘GLOZ aunp
— yoJe|N woly s1aoyjO buisnoy [je 03 sbuysuq palalsp sey spas BuisnoH

‘peau ul aq Aew oym sjusljo 1sodubis 0] alaym pue SaoIAI8S Y] JO aleme
aJe JJe1s ainsus 0} suolIssas Bululel) UO JJelS SUIjjUOJl YIIM paleys useq sey
aAd SIYL "1uspisal spaaT |ed0] B JO 8l] 8] pajoajje yJeys ueo| e moy Jo Alois
alll [eal 8y s||8) yoliym ospiA |euonowold gAQg e pedojensp wes] BuipusT
Kauopy [eBaj|| 8yl Yjm UOIBIOge[|09 Ul WEes) SUOIIBdIuNWWOo) S|Iounoyd 8y

‘wea | Buipua Asuoyp |eba||| |leuoneu ayy yum diysiauned

ybnoiayy bBuipus| 1s00 ybiy pue 1gep apPoel 0} subiedwed paseq-Ayeoo)
alow dojaAasp 0] Sem 91/GL0Z 10} Wie S |Iounod) a8yl ‘|dA9] |ed0| alow e 1y

'/10g ul deo

Page 51



142

")08yo | ue sarelbajul yolym wio} diysiequisu B pue |00) Suoisiosp
ueo| e se Uons sainjea) paroidwil MBU S8pNoUl 8)IS MaU 8y| UOoI08s
Buijueq auljuo pue Joje|noes paAcidwil Ue SulelUOD pue Ajpusli) 18|ge)/s[iqow
os[e SI UYdIyM ‘8jiIsgem Mau JIsy) payoune| os|e Mou sey uolun 1pal) 8yl

"uolun NpalD ay} Jo aieme sjualed axew pjnom
gnjo 8ayJ "S|ooyds ul Moys 0} paonpold ussq sey ydlym uonewliue ue
eIA pajowoud Buleq Apuaino si aAeniul siy -gnjo sbuines [ooyos uolun
Hupalto e uni pue uado o0} Buiealbe jooyos Atewid ay} uodn [euonIpuOD
sl siyl ‘(¢ Jesp) spdnd g abeig Aay 404 JunodoE Yoes ojul paysodsp
ag |Im 013 ‘uado 0] sqn|o mau abeinoous 0} 8AUSOUI U SYY “|ellod gam
e buisn ‘spaa ssosoe sjooyos Alewud ul gnjo sbuines |[00YdS Mau ay| e

"s@]eJ uolun JIpaJo a|jgepioye
] ueo| wis) Moys e siayo yoiym 1onposd AepAed suluo mMau Yy e

‘passalboid usaq aAey SaAnenIul BUIMO||0) 8Y) 1870100 92UIS

"Juswabeuew Asuow Jood 1o Sawodul
MO| 0] anp jual Jisy) Aed o) Bulbbnis pue siealle ul aie oym SjueUd)
BuisnoH 1e pasnooy Ajuewnd sI 82IAI8s 8y "9oIAIeS Bunebpng pue
Juswabeue|y Asuo|\ apIMALID e JBAIIBp 0) SPaaT BuIiSNOH YlM BUIOpAN e

‘'sdoys yseod 15090 ybiy
ayl yum 1eans ybiy ayy uo Apoauip a1odwod 0} aqua) uoydwon ay) le
pue peoy Aeypunoy uo ,doyg ueoT JNOA, JO Sayouelq om} Buiyoune] e

‘paau ul
1SOW 8SOY}) 0} S82IAISS [eloueul) paseq A|jeao| Buipiaoid ‘Ajo ay) ssoioe
}omau asuan) doyg auQ pue gnH Ajunwwod 8y} woly Bunessadp e

papN|oul SaAleIuUl JUSLIND “Suoljique aininy YIm
Buoje ‘Auanod spjoe} 03] HoYd Ue Ul [1IouUno) Yy} yum diysiauped ul uo Bupom
u9aq Sey uolun lpaJd 8yl SoAlleNIuUIl JO S|ieldp  pauleluod uodal ay]  "uolun

Page 52



Gl

-[lomM % yjjeay :sJiojoe} joays juswAoldwae A8y JO Jequinu B uleluod asayj -
908} SI9WO0)SNI INO sanss! xa|dwod jeym Buimoys ‘sajdwexa ajl| |eal uo paseq
seuosJtad Jawolsno dojaAsp 0} pasn sem Jybisul ay) sjusna asay) Buimo|jo4

"Ydom 1o} Buiyoo| ase Aay) uaym pasu Asy) Jeym way) woulj 1no puls

pue siasn a82IAI8s Buneaw ‘AJI0 8y} punole sa)is 1 JN0 palled SeM |oIeasay
"Yoeqgpas) pue ybisul Jawolsno buisn yiom ojul sjdoad

Buidjay 1o} Aemyied, ay) buidojarsp je paxoo| am aseyd AIBA0ISIp [eniul 8y} U|

"Jay}abo) yoieasal ubisap paljuad Jasn jno BulAued pue wol) Buiuies)
- 9|doad »ong Aoueynsuoo ubisap aaiAles ayl yim aoejd Buyjel usaq sey YIopA

sgnH AJlunwiwo) uIym ajo.
s|Ms pue juswAoldwae oyl Buunbiyuoosy

yJom ojul ajdoad BuidjoH

‘slojquieb we|go.d 1o} poddns pue adIApe 3|ge|IleAR M3IASI pue Spaa]
ssosoe Bulqueb wasjqoid jo aous|eAasd 8y} ssasse 0] N0 pauled Buleq sl
Apnjs yosessal e ‘1oedwi |enuajod syl pueisiapun 0} J8pJO U] ‘OUISBO Mau ay}
wouj wuey [enuajod Aue sjebiiw djgay yoiym saosiaies uoddns 0y pajeooje aq 0}
paau [|Im 4|S Jo uoiodolud e ‘gLz JequiaAoN ul suado ouised ablie| ay} aduQ
‘N1 yum syoeloud diysisuped 1ounod 0} pajeooje usaq sey 4|S 9102 Ul

'SSBUISNQ 9409 118y} Bunjoaye Inoypm ‘Aem 3su mo| e
ul syo8foud mau 1s9) 01 Ajlunuoddo ue yum suonesiuebio papiroid pue ssa20ns
paAaiyoe 1 eyl smoys swuwelboid o8y} JO M3IABI ||BJSAO Uy "uOljepuno4
Ajlunwwo) spaa] eIA papun) osje aJom s)oafoid ojeos Jgjews ybig

‘Allunwwo) ayj ul ssauisng elA sdnolb
pabejueapesip Joj saniunuoddo Buluiesy pue qol pue saiUNWWO) SpPaaT
Jayag EBIA 82IAI8S 92IAPE 8JB) O} 9JB) SUI|UO UB JO uoIsiAold ‘suspies) Jogq3
Joy Aylunuoddo esiyouely e Bulnoas ul pajnsal papuny syoafoid abie| ay) Jo
924y ‘paienjeAs pue paiojiuow aiam syoafoid paya|dwod || ‘GLOZ |Hdy wou4

‘7102 YoJe|\ Ul pJeog aANOSXT
Ag panoidde e8] 8Y) YIM BUI| Ul papun) usag aABY S8AlleIUIl JO Jaquinu

[@A8] |EDO] B 1B pUN UOISN|oU|
[e100S 8y} Jo 10edwi ay) Buisiwixep|

Page 53



9l

awiayos ay) ajowoid 0] 08PIA BUI| UO Ue Jo uonesalo ay] ‘Buibeinoous
pue Apualy sI abessaw ay) ainsus 0] aoe|d usye) Sey JUsiuod
9)ISgem ay) pue sJa)a| 8)IAUl 8Y) JO MBIABI Y :S19B1U0D JISWO0ISN) g

"WB)SAS aAISUBjuUl Ulwpe / J9ayspealds jJualind ay) adejdal o} pakojdap
aq 0} sI ulodaleys uo walsAs Juswiuiodde mau vy :siuawiuloddy °|

-:pajesodiooul usaqg aABY awayos
8y} 0] sjuswaAoidwi Jo Jaquinu B ‘G0z J8qo1oQ JO alep oAl 0B ay) 8ouIS

"/ 10Z yoJepy 01 Joud swsyos ay) dn aye} os|e 0} Sesed
VSI wud) Buo| ale oym s1awolsno g6/ L ayy buiaul uebaqg am 910z AN u|

‘pouad yeam 9z e Jano
Jawo)sno yoea yum sjuswiuiodde mainal 9 Bunajdwoo sieoiQ uswabebu]
Alunwwo) yum pajuswaldwi usaq sey [apow juswabeuew ased apim-AlI0 v

"yjuow Jad sawoojno qol /| Jo 19s 10bue)}

Alyiuow ay) Buipaadxa mou ale sia21yQ Juswabebug Allunwwo) pue G0z
18g0J00 Ul 8AI| JUBM BWBYDS By} doUIS PaAaIyoe uaaq aAeY Sawooino qol g
JAAQ "awayog abeyoed poddng JIOAN [BUOSIS XB] |IoUN0)) 8y} UO 818 OYM
sdoys gor ayj uiyum siayaasqol gL Jo peojaseo e buibeuew Ajjualind ale sp\

yJom ojul gjdoad
Buidjay uo snooj Jesd e sey Yolym awayos
uoddng xeJ [1ouno) mau 8y} bBuusaleg

‘[opow apim A0 B se Jno pajjod 89 ||IM }I pasijeuly
90UO0 — BWI} Jasn 92IAI8S/1821J0 JO 8sn }sa8q ainsua 0} yeys doysqol Aq Bunojd
Buleq Apuauind si yoeoidde siy] ‘wayl yum Miom ol Aemyjed [enpiaipul
umo J1ay) dojeAasp 0} sn o|geus 0] sndooy a8yl Bulbueyod ‘lswoisnd B yum
10BJUOD }SJ1} UIno abeuew mou am moy abueyd 0} sn pajqeus sey sisAjeue siy ]

‘Ao
3y} JO Seale JuaIByIp Ul SPaau Jualaylp dABY SJBWOISND JUudIBlIp SB JueAd|al
JOU SeM SJaWolsnd ||e J0) |9pow pJepuels e leyl Pamoys B2UspIne oyl

‘obesn aoiAI8s g Juswabebus
[e100S ¥ Ajlwe} ‘ spusly ‘[9A8] UOIBAIIOW ‘|9A3] |IINS ¥ ssaulpeal qol ‘Bulaq

Page 54



Ll

Ajlunwwod pue eipaw |e100s uo saniuniuoddo qol |eao| Jo uoneolgnd
Bunyiom diysisuped

pJeoq s|INS pue uswAojdwz ybnoay; s|is pue sqol o) suoidweyo
aapiwwo) Ajunwwo) Aq ps| senss! JuswAojdwas |eoo| uo Juswabebu]
suolejal poob 181soy) 0] sessaulsng Aay yym juswabebu]

suoeoo| Ajunwwod Jo AlaleA e je sqnjo qol Jo uoisinoid

S910)S |ea0|

IPIV pue epsy ‘6°8 ‘sbuiuado ssauisng mau yym pajeloosse Auenoised
‘S8S10J9X0 Judwyiinioal uo Aj|eoo| siaAojdwa saiunwwod |eoo| AJaA ol
yoeal yim suonesiuebio 10j0as pJiyl ybnoayy s 33N yum bupjiom |eoo
sJayo diysaonuaidde

ajowoid pue suonesiuebio |eoo] yym saniunyoddo Jaxouq ‘ejdoad BunoA
JO uolIqwie ay} YjIm Joauuod 0} paubisap SjusAa papnjoul Sey SIy] “YIom
0] |00Y2S WoJ} uonisuel) ay) buises uo pasnoo) sey S|00YdS YJIM MJOAA

ylom ojul ajdoad
Buidjay uo snooy pasi|eoo| e ainsua
0] seaniwwo) Allunwiwo) yym Buijdopn

"Yoono jeuosliad pue s||iys Jidy) ul JuswaAoidwi 0] uone|a.
Ul sJawo)sno Ag paj|eAe]) 8oue)sIp, Jnoge uonew.ojul Bunos|joo
pue Buunsesw Jo} sseooid e dojaasp 0] BuIOO| aJe BA) :SBW02INO G

‘paJayo aq
[Im Joddns Jo |9A8] Jaybiy e padinbas djay al1ow yonw si 848y} 84aym
‘paJayo aq ueo poddns Jo [8A8] Jamo| e uayj ‘qol e Bulpulj spiemoy
[1om Buyiom Apealje sl Jowojsnd e aiaym :63 — uonenyis s Jawoysno
yoes juswa|dwod [|Im Jey} poddns JO S|oA8] 88y} Jayo ||IM SIYL
‘poddns 0} yoeoudde-paialy, e bunojid ate ap) :11oddng ase) abell] ¢

"PBIBYO B [|IM

Woddns Jo [9A8] Jeym saibe pue spasu SIawo}snd ay) ainyded 0} 18dlo

Juswabebus Ajunwiwod J1dvy} yim uswiuiodde |eniul Jabuo| e 1oy ul

SJBWOISND Y00  ||IM A|Nf WOoJ} pue 08pPIA BUIjUO By} Yim sbuljoaw asay)
woJ} uonewlojul paoejdas aney ap) :sbunsaw Aioyonposiul dnois °¢

‘2oe|d ul mou os|e SI

Page 55



8l

"JIpal) [esiaAlun 0} Bunejal sanssi aAj0sal d|jay 0} yul| |[euonippe ue

soplAoJd Os|e 18210 8y "swayds Joddng xe| |1Iouno) |e207 8y} JO JUBWS|d
abeyoed woddng YIop\ [euoslad 8y} JaAlep diay 0} sqnH Ajlunwwo?) ay} wod)
Buiyiom snid 843u82qoQ WOJ) J821JO Ue S88S Jey) Juswabuelle JuswpuooIas
BAIJ08Yo Ue oS|e Sl alay| “sjuswAed jipal) |esiaAlun Jisy) abeuew

pue wieo 0} JBPJOo Ul JI paau oym asoy} 0} Joddns BuldAl@p ul [1IoUN0) 8y} JO
8]0J 8} 1IN0 S}8s Yoiym juswaalbe diysiaupued AlaAlisq e sey mou [1Iouno?) ay |

Bbuuojdxa pue sn|d anuadqor yim
yoeolidde diysiaupned ino Bulusyibusng

92IAJIBS JIpal) [BSIBAIUN

9AIJOBYJO puB 9B|qISS8J0B UE SIBAIIBP Jey)
SUOISUBd pue SYIOAA JO Juswuedaq

ay}) yum diysiauped aAioays ue buneal)

sonssi buibiswsa 0] Buipuodsal pue uonejuswa|dwi Yyjoows

Bulinsua 0} [elIA SI DD pue dMA dY) usamiaq diysiauped aAosye uy e
spJeog s|INS

pue juswAojdw3 A}eo0o| 8y} WO} SSBWOIIN0 PUB UOIBWIOUI BJeUIWSSSIQ o
Juswiinioal 0} auljaedid

woJ} saniunuoddo qol [eoo] uo uolewIoUl JO UoleUILWBSSIP 8y} aAoidwl e

Juswabebua pue uoneoIuUNWWO)

spJeoq s||INS pue JuswAoidwg Auenoied -Ajaoe diysiaulied J1oa)S e
alejlopA pue s|IMS ‘uswAojdw3 Joj suoidwey)

aaIwwo) Alunwwo) yum Ajgsojo ylom pue uoddns 0} anunuod e

AJIaAIBp pue uoleuIploo)

S91J11E20| UIYIIM 82JN0S8l 9A1309)|00 8] }obue) pue
9]euIpJO0D J8)}aq 0} swes | Joddng ealsy yym |0o0jold Bujiom e dojarsp e
SJUSAS paWaY] 99))IWWO0D AJlUNWWO) pPaseq douUapIA po| spaau dojoraq e
Ajioud sejeolpul ejep
JUBWIE|O YJOM-JO-]NO BY) 8J8YM Seale 8soy} uo aouabijjajul ay) anoidw| e
paau Buipuejsiapun

-:U0 SN0} ||IM 3JoMm Bulwoodn

8J1U82 JI9Y} WO} SBOIAISS 82IAPY ABUO|\ pUB + 843ud) qor saplAocid yoiym
-108l01d Jaulo) AJlunwwos 8s0|H MOD 8y} 0} papiroid usaq sey Joddng e
asle Aay} se sanjiunuoddo Joy way) buledaid—sgny Ajunwiwod
ulyum saoinies doys qol 0} ajdoad [B20| 108UUOD 0] YIOM SBBJILULIOYD e
sbumas

Page 56



6l

10|1d swwelbo.d 3IOAA 10} Apeay ay)
JO uonenjeAs AQq pawiojul 8o pasnoo) JaAea ale) e dojoasp Jayung e

"SISEq |enplAIpuUl Ue uo asuodsal 9|qIxa|)

e Jo swuwelbolid a)810sIp B Jayle asldwod pinod siy] ‘sanunuoddo

JuswAojdwa pue aouslladxa YIOM [1I0UN0D 0] SIBABST ale ) 108UU0d
J8)18q 0} YH pue S82IAIBS S, Usip|iy) wol) Sanbes||0d YIM YIOA\ e

‘'sgnH Alunwwo) anua) pjeulbay ay) pue Asjwly ‘peoy Aingsmaq
WOJJ YoM SIo)IOoM 8] ‘swa|qold yjjeay |ejusw [9AS] MO| SABY OYM
SJUBPISal YIIM YIOM O} PUIl\ Spea BIA paAojdwe MOU aJe SISNIOM Z

‘9oual|Isal uiebal pue JaAodal

AJIny 01 YOIym Ul JUSWIUOIIAUS MBU B Paau OYM aSoU} 1o aoe[dyiom Jo

pury Aue 0} buluinal 8soy} Joj 8q p|no9 siy] “seniunuoddo sousuadxs
YoM aAloddns ‘a|qixa)) Jayo 0] siauped yjjeay |ejusl YIM YIOA\ e

sdnoub Ajuoud 1oj s8)e10}08UIp ||B SS0IOE SI9)0 8oualladxa YJoM 8}eulpJood
pue dojaaap 0} YH Hoddns 0} 8NURIUOD ||IM SBIIUNWWOD pue SUsziiD

‘BuluoissIwwo-09 104 saiunoddo alojdxa 0} palinbal aq |Im siauped yum
SUOIIBSIBAUO) "SBNSSI Y}|eay |ejuswl YIM 8SO0Y) JO) SBJIAISS JO UOIBUIPJIO0D
pue Buioinosal ‘Burouanbas paroidwi ybnoiayy sepuabe Ajjigelojdwa

pue yjjeay j0auuod o0} saniunuoddo asiwixew [jIm SIS pue juswAojdwg

*AJ10 B} 10} 180 BAISBYOD pue 3|qIXaj} 840w e ul Jayjeboy yoddns pue sadlAIes
Burq o0} uonique pue adooas s| 8oy} Jeajd Apealje Si }l ‘JoASMOH “POAJOAUI
sJauled Jo abuel ay) pue o|gejieAe sadlAlas poddns ay) Jo Ajixajdwod

ay) ‘yjeay || |elusw JO ainjeu JuspiuIBiuUl USYO By} SB Yyons -Junodoe

O}ul S10)oe} Jo AlalieA B aye) 1Isnw Yydiym 3Jom Jo adald Buibuajieys e si siy|

19yJew Jnoge| ay} woly Aeme

}sayuny esoyy djay o} (yyeay |eyusw
‘6°9) sdnoub Ayuond uo yJom ano Buissnoo

*2Z02Z MOuU SI 10|04 8y} Jo uona|dwod Joj ajep
196181 S J\\Q Pue Jeak e AQ )oeq Ind usaq sey Jipai) |[esIaAluN JO INO [j0J 8y |

Ajlunwwon

sqnH
UM  Uolje20|-09/uonelba)ul

Page 57



0¢

"SUOIjUBAJIBJUI mau dojaaap
pue Jayjabo) sadinies 21joIquiAs Jo abuel e Buliq 0} SUOIINQLIUOD PUIy Ul pue
spuny Japim ‘puny Buleqiiem ayj pasiin Ajuanbaly aney saaneniul diysisuued

Hels 1s9q
ay} pue salljenbaul yjeay punoJde saAnieniul sanuold yyesay bunjowold e
UHOojSIoH
ul uone|oslI |e1os ssalppe 0} dde ue Buijjel) pue sQg J9A0 ay} oy
saljiunuoddo qol Buipnjoul -ajdoad Jap|o 10} SUIBOU0D ABY Buissalippy e
‘sanjiunuoddo
gol pue saniAnoe jo abuel e Bunowoud pspnjoul sey siy| -ajdoad
BunoA poddns pue abebus 03 sjosloid mau Jo abuel apim e poddns
0] ‘Buipuny juelb Jo 0/t 1 G9F paroidde sey pun SaljIAIOY UINOA Y| e
Inoineyaq |e1oos-ljue
pue ‘@ous|oIA o1sawop Buipnjoul sanssi Ajajes Ajlunwwod Bullspisuo) e
saluNwWwo9 ul Buipooyy
0} asuodsau ay} Buipesa| Buipnjoul uoljoe |BJUBSWUOCIIAUS |BOO| Buie] e
SJauuIp UoiBSIBAUOD pue sayoun| Biq
Se yons sjuapisal usamiaq anbojelp abebus pue abeinoous 0} saljiAloe
ybnouy) -spunolibyoeq jualayip Wod) saiunwwo? Jjayiabo) builbuug e
:Buipnjoul
‘sanssi Jo abuel sjoym e uo diysiapes| |[ea2o| moys 03 Ajlunyuoddo ay) usye)
aABY Sloquuaw pa}os|g ‘suonelidse pue ‘spasu |BoO| ‘Sanssi [e20] AaY 1e 00|
0} Ajlunjoddo ay} siequiawl pajos|d |BO0| UBAIB aABY S8a)IWILWLIOD AjJlunwiwo)
‘seale |e20| ul Bbupjew-uoisiap 0} yoeoidde Jaliews pue aAlsuodsal
alow ‘@AIsnjoul aJow e spiemo} dajs ueoniubis e usaq aney juswabebus
AJlunwwod pue seapIWwwWod AJuNnwwod 10} sjuswabuelle mau ay |

SaNss| [B00| 9oe) pue asijloud 0} 10}08s
pJIYy} 8y} pue slaquiaw [BO0| ‘S88ILILIOD
Ajunwwod yum Ajaanoays Buiyiopn

SallluNnwWwo9d [eJ0] JO Spaau ay)l 01 aAlsuodsal aiow Bulaq pue Alljigeiunodde [ea0| Buluayibuans

Apoisno wolj pases|al
asoy} Joy Jayo Aupqibie | Aep e si a1ayy alaym siapiroid swwelbold
MIOAA S A10 8y} yum diysssuped e Buliojdxs ybnouyy sispusyo poddng e

Page 58



¥4

:0] }J0M JO awwelboid e paltaalap
pue padoos ‘|1ouno) A9 spasa woly uoddns yum ‘uonepuno4 BunoA ay |

pJIY} pue uolepuno- aalumoy
ydasor ‘uonepuno4 BunoA ayl yum Buijiopn

2bed € uo ue|d, [e90] J1ay) Ul Pad) SHIN SU} YdIym ojul
‘safliold oijeway] JIvy) SaUIjIN0O YdIYM Joyoel) Uonoe ue sey giN yoeg e

SaNIUNWLWOD pue spooytnoqybiau Ylim J0BIUOD [e100S Mau e dojansq e

pue ‘ebueyd
Joy Ayioedeo pue juswabebua Ajunwiwod Jo yibuads ay) alojdxg e

Buiyew aie S82IAI8S PaUOISSILLWOD 1ey) Joedwi ay) sulwexy e

"wiay) 0} Jayew
1ey) SJa)ew ay] Uo SaliuNWWOo9 YIM Buiylom aAi08)e INoge uiea] e

:0} ‘Alanod Aq pajoaye jsow spooyltnoqybiau Ajuoud Ao
Jauul Ino ul sisAjeue [aA8] pooysnoqybiau oy sapinoid eyl ai1nynd aouewlopad
e Buiysijgelse ale am spieog juswaroidw| pooyinoqybiaN ybnouay

"S19pIA0Id B2IAISS Y)IM SUIBOUOD SSNISIp

0] Ssjuapisal |eoo| buligeus -yoeoisdde wnioy uado ue asn sbunaaly “sieuped
JBY}0 pue J0308s pJdiy) ‘10308s 2lignd Aq papuaje ||om ale spleog ||V Al

3y} ssolJoe paysiige)se uaaq aAey (sg|N) spleog juswanoidw| pooylinoqybiaN
apN|oUl 8SAY} ‘SBIIUNWWOD BAISBYOD 8J0W p|INg 0} %89S yoiym Aemiapun

ale sjosloud Jo Jaquinu vy “sajdioulid uowwoo ayj Ajjuapl 0} usyelapun

uaaq sey spaaT ssoloe sonoeud juswdojaaap AJlunwwod Jo Apnys apim Ao v

Sa1}IUNWWOD BAISBYO0D alow pue Jabuous
Jo Aianljep sy poddns 0} Bujiom
diysiaupied aA0aye JO 8INyN0 B a)eal))

uonedioiued Jisy) pyoddns 0} pue puaje
0} sJiequisw J1ay} 8beinoous 0} suoljesiueblo 10108S pJiy} UM BujJop) e
Jodsued; Jo uoisinoid
ay} ybnouy} pajeljioe) usaq sey sdnolb asSIaAIp JO 8ouepuajje ay] e
‘sAem Jo Jaquinu
B Ul pasealoul AjaAljoe usaq sey saapiwwod Ajunwwod ul uonjedoied ay |
"UOI}OE |BO0| 0] P3| pUB ‘pieay aq 0} S8210A Jo) Ayunuoddo ue papinold ‘sjdoad
Jo abuel apim e wouy uonedioied pasealoul sey yoeoudde [20| 8AISN[OUl SIY |

Page 59



¢c

pJEeMIO] 8INJUBA 8] 8ALIP 0] Jnaualdaijus pes| Jo Wes) e Jo UONBANO
[9pow sSsauIsng a|jgeule)sns y
K10 ay) ssouoe 1oedwi SIy) 8|eds 0] |enuslod

spaaT ul Ayljenbaul uo 1oedwi Jueoyiubis 10} [enuajod

‘a)eJisuowap pinoo Yyolym seapl Jybnos elis)lIo uoljos|es

9] "saniunwwod |eoo] wouj Ayljenbaul ssaippe 03 seapl jealb o0y (Buipuny

Jo Buiureny) poddns paiayo siyl ‘G0z 48qo1oQ wodj uoepuno BunoA ay)
AQ palaAlop SeM SI0}BAOUUI/SUOIIBAOUUI [BID0S 10} swwelBboid Jojelsjaooe, uy

"opew Aay} suoIsIoap pue passadoe Aay) S8dIAIeS

paoe} Aay] Senss| Wolj ‘eale SIY} Ul SaIIUNWWOoD pue saljiwe) Jnoge alow
puejsiapun 0} Jybnos siy] "As|buimon pue [|eysyy ‘sj|jiyaieH spooytnoqybiau
pajoa|as ay} ul yoseasal olydesbouyie Jayuny Aq pejuswasddns

sem siy} ‘A110 ay} ssoloe aoe|d o0} sdnoib snooy yydap-ul pue AsAins

ssauisnq |elinaualdasua
S}l JO SS820NS 8y} pue SPaaT Ul J0}0aS pJiy| BuiALy) a8yl pasiubooal
1ey} yoeoludde juswdojaasp AjJlunwwod paseq josse ue 1dopy

SpoaT JO apIsino seale ul padojaaap asiiadxe pue aousliadxa Buimelq

‘01 1ybnos yoeoudde diysiauued siy|

10BJJUOD |BIOOS |BDO| BY) dulyBpal 0} Lels
SUaZIJI0 pue JuswuIdA0b |Bo0| usamiaq diysuolelal sy} abueyo djsH
‘spaan

Ul J0J08s pIg 8y} pue SaliuNnwwod ‘|IDuNoo 8y} ssosoe Ajoeded pjing
‘Buipuny |eulaxa 0} SsS820e aAoIdw|

Aljenbaul Buissaippe Jo sAkem aAljeAOUUl pue Mau

dojenap pue Ajinuspl 0} s10308S pJiy} pue o1gnd ‘eyeaud ‘suaziio bulg
spaaT] ul Ajljenbaul Jo ainjeu ayj Jo Buipueisiapun Jadasp e pjing

Ajjenbauli
3)o.)} pue SadIAI8S apinoid 0}
saljlunuoddo mau Ajinuspi 0} sisuped 10}08s

Page 60



€¢

'sgqny AJlunwiwo) 03 salinbus Jiay} aAow

0] UOM3||Y JoOJ\ pue yuojsioH ‘xeddry 1e saoujo Buisnoy ay) psjgeus sey siy|
‘9102 JO Jawwng ayj JaAo uado 0] anp ‘||lamyloy ‘layioue Yyim uoua||y JOO\
pue yuojsioH ‘xeddry ‘Aespnd je pauado aAey sqny Allunwiwo) Jayuny

sgny Ajlunwwiod ul
S92IAIBS 92IApe pue Aleiql| ‘eseyam ‘Buisnoy
pajelbajul BusAlep pue Ao 8yl ssotoe
sgny Ajunwwod Jo yIomjau e no Buljjoy

S92IAI9S 9|qISSad9k pue paleibalul Bulpinoid

‘uoneoldde aoua2l| J18y} Jo poddns ul

paniwgns Bulaq uoneuswnNIop JUsINPNEe.) JO YSII 8Y) asiwiulw 0} sjuedljdde .o}
ssa004d Buyaa ay) 8oueyus 0) apew alam sabueyd asay| “seabnjal/sioyoss
wnjAse pue ‘suazijio N3 uou ‘suazilid N3 — MN uou ‘Aouspisal pajwl|

UM SUBZIJIO YN ‘SUSZIND YN IO} JUBWISSASSY UOSIad Jadold pue }i4, S, [Iounod
By} 0] apew usaq aAeY sjuawpuswe Jodal ajepdn 1se| 8y} 9oUIS "S82UBI||
pajuelb aie suosiad Jadoud pue 1) Ajuo ainsus 0] aoe|d ul sassad0.d Jea|o ale
alay} pue ‘snqoJ ale Aay ainsua 0} Buisuadl| adiy ajeAld pue Ixe) o) piebal
Yim saio1jod SjI MaIASJ 0] SBNUIIUOD [IoUN0D BY) 8SNge [Bnxas p|Iyd punoJe
WweyJayjoy ul Sndoj Jusdal 8y} 0} Uoe|al U] “WISIWBIIXd JUS|OIA pue WSLI0JI9)
Bunuanaid pue uoneyojdxa |enxas pjiyo ‘Aiaae|s Aep uiapow ‘uonejinui
|eyuab sjews) payybiybiy sey yJom Buipienbajes |1Iounod SsoUd ol10adg
‘g|doad pJenbajes 0} sdais aye) 0} Ajjiqisuodsal jeuosiad e sey |1DUN0)

Ay} Ul suoAIaAe Jey) S109|j8] pue ‘yels aled |eioos-uou ‘Aq Bulpueisiepun

pue ‘Jo ssaualeme oy} Buisiel uo passnooj si yJom [euonesiuebio

$S0.9 S |1Iouno) ay] “(AjAIsnjoxa jou ybnoyye) Ayjenbaul pue Ausaod ajowoud
1By} SUONIPUOD YIIM PaJeID0SSE 8Q UBD SIY) pue a2Us|oIA JO/pue asnge pue
uoljejiojdxa 0} 9|gelau|NA 810w aJe SPaaT Ul SUSZII0 BWos Jey) pasiubooal si

Buipsenbajes [1ounod
-SS0I0 Joj spJepuels ybiy Buiysiqeis3

YIO0M A}I|eOO| pue uolieAouul [e190s 8y} Joddns o} Buipuny pue sjoaloid Jayuny
Ajnuspl 0} /1/910¢ Ul 82e|d 83e} 0} S| J0J08S PJIYL By} pue DO YHM HJOM
BuiobuQ “Ajunwwod a1y} ul 8bueyo |e1os Bulyse| bunesald ul }salsiul ue Aq
pajiun Jayiaboy sjdoad Bulq 0} paalas sey Juswabebus papua)xe ay| ‘(seaie
Apnjs aa4y} ay}) Ao|Buijon pue s|liyaleH ‘|[eisydiy ul Ajjeaioads aiow se

[|om Se ‘spaaT 1noge ejep Jo 18s aAIsuayaldwod e paonpold sey yoleasal ay|

Page 61



ve

e sisiy] -syuswdojeAsp gny Alunwiwio) ay) Ul SBUOZ |elo0s Bulpnjoul aie ap\

|e1oos

uoddns

1ey)

seoeds

bunesi)

"}JOM OJuI senssi Yy)jeay [ejusw pjiw yim ajdoad djay 01 sqny
Alunwwo) ul sedlAlas BulisAllep NI WO Siaquisl Wes) Z 8ABY S\ <«

‘Aem s1y} paj|i Apuaaing ale A)1D ay) ssoloe salelqi

ul sapuedeA qol ay] sdoys qor ayj eiA yum Bupjiom si )l sjuspisal

0} sqol 8say} yojew ueo [1IDuno) dy} Jey} sueaw siy] ‘|| jo sy sdoys
gor 8y} 0} Juawiinioal 4o} 06 [1DuUN0YD By} YlIM SSIDUBJEA QO BWO0S <«

‘'ssaulsnq Bulusp.ieb umo siy dn jes Ajuenbasqgns

sey juapisal siyl "1gep yum padjay sem ay pue ‘Buiyom ajm

SIy se sypaJo xe} 0} padjay sem ay ‘ylom Asejun|oA dn oo} ay ‘pajepdn

Sem AD SIH "SSau||l 0} anp JeaA e yIom Jo usaq pey doysyiom AD

3y} 0] 8wWed oym juapisal Y "Jom Joj asedaud sjdoad djay pue |1ouno)

ay} Aq unu ase sdoysg qor “AD Jivyy Bunepdn yum djay Joy ajdoad |eoo|

wou} syjsenbau Bumab Jaye Aieiqi yuoisioH e paonposjul doys qor <«

:Allunwwo9 J1vy) uo aAey sqny Ajunwwo?) oedw jo sajdwexy

"90IApe ABUo\
pue sadIAI8S uolun Hpal) ‘saiiunuoddo diysaonualddy ‘seiouedea qor ppe
0] Salieliqi] auoje-puess ||e Jo} yoeoidde yonoy jybi| e paonpodjul os|e aAey ap\

"901|0d 8y} 0} $S9008 ‘9jed Ajunwwo) ‘(s 1| pue “J0S3
Buipnjoul sasinod abajj0) A spaa ‘Aleiqi] ayig ‘Ajiseqo pue Bupjows ‘69
Bulaq|em SHN ‘salppng Asuojy ase sajdwex3 “yJomiau gny Ajunwwo) ay}
ul slauled pue 921AI8s Jo abuel ay} papuedxa aAeYy @M dA0Qe 8y} 0} Jayun4

Jeak

[eloueuly siy} Jo pus ay} Aq |eaoidde 1oy Apeal ased ssauisng }xau ay} aney
0} padoy si }l e paue)s sey sawayos ¢ aseyd ay} uo JIoAN “AN0 8y} Ssosoe
sgqnH AJunwwo) g1 89S |IM AJIBAIIBP UO pue 9|0z dunr ul pieog oAlINO8X]
Aq panoidde sem sjuswdojarap gqnH uo aseyd }xau 8y} JO} 8SBO ssaulsnq Y

Page 62



Gc

‘Aep |jooyos
J1Iay} Ul uaJ/p|iyd 8y} uoddns ued pue aleme ale S1ayoes) jeyj oS S|ooyos
10BJUOD UBY} Oym ‘Juasaid usaq aABY UBIP|IYD 8J8YM SJUSPIdUI BOUS|OIA
D1}SOWOP JO SBJIAISS Jawolsnd ugje ad1jod ay} alaym si Buiiom dn pauiof
Jo 8|dwexa uy "saluNWWOoD JNo Ul d|jgelau|nA jsow ay} djay pue jo8jo.ud
0] aoe(d saye} buleys uonewuojul ajeudosdde pue yiom Aouabe niy
"'SpPaaT JO sjuapisal 8y} 10} 821AI8s dn paulol e ajeald 0} Jayj}abo) swod
aAeY SHN pue ‘921104 8y} ‘@ous|OIA dl}sawo ‘S82IAIaS S, ualp|iy) ‘aled
[BI00S }NPY ‘SBJIAISS JBWO0}SNY WO} sisuped se adusg||9oxg JO aljua)
Buipienbajeg ¥ aien ayy ui aoe(d Bupyel si Buppiom diysieuped aanesouu| e

"JOBJUOD JO Julod 1SJ1) e 8uop 8q 0} alow

pajgeus pue ‘Buissasold 3Jom ul sjuswanocidwi 0) pe| sey Xe| |Iounod

0] Syse)] ulwpe pue auoyds|s) Yloq JoA0d oym wes) payinioal Ajjuiol e

‘Uoljippe U| "19BIU0D 1Sl 1B oM Jo Alljenb ay) Buinoidwil ‘e.juad 10.juoD ay)

UIylM sisijeroads Xe) [IDUNoD JO UONEDO0|-02 8Y) Ul pa)|nsal Sey 80us|[@oxg
10 aua) s)iJauaq pue alejjdapA @Yl UIyliM uonelbajul Xe| |1Iouno) e

:9pN|oul 80UB|[89X]
JO Saqua) ay1 JO Yyoea ulyliM usyelapun saliAljoe oljioads ay) Jo swog

"9J]U80 J0BIUOD BY) YIIM JOBJUOD S)ew
OUM SJBWOISND 0} JueAdjal 8q Aew Jey) S92IAISS Japeolq Ajjuapl ued Aay)

1By} 0S S82IAISS paje|al punode pa||ys-ijinw Buiaqg ale (SOSD) SI921O 90IAI8S
Jawolsny "SIaWoISNo JO SpPasu ay) punole }jing SI YoIym 99IAI8S JawoIsno

0} yoeoudde dn pauiol aiow e apircid MOU 80UB||8IXD JO SBIJUBD € By |

aJnjonJiselju] A1 R JUSWUOIIAUT O
s)yauaq pue aiejlap\ O

Buipienbajeg pue aie) o

:SMO||0} SE 80U9||99X]

JO sa)uan € "92IAISS XE] |IOUN0D
pajelbojul Ajny e jJo AisAlep ayj Buipnpoul
‘@)Ue0  10BUOD  Slelodiod Byl  UIYIM
|[opoWw 82Ud||8oXd JO Ssa.uad ay) Buusaldq

“}Jomau
Aselqi) Alunwiwod 8y} SsoUoe siie) YjleaH pue Jiej sqor ‘sbuluiow a8ayo)
‘(anua) pleulbay ay] 1e qnjo ssayo ay) "6°8) saniAioe uny spnjoul Siy} Jo

so|dwex3 -ul uiol 0y ajdoad 1o} sjuane mau Bulonpodjul os|e ale o\ “Buipeal

JO 8A0| B 8beinoous 0} abus|ieyo Buipeal Jawwng ‘sswnawAyy ‘sewniiols
‘sgqnjo yoog 0} pJebal yum bBuiobuo ale syuang -1abuoj Aeys 0y pabeinooua
ale o|doad os s}9|10} 21|gnd pue saulydoew SYULP SABY MOU OS|e A\

‘I4-IM\ 9814 8y} 8sSn ued pue ‘pead ued ‘leyo pue }s ueod ajdoad aoe(d jueses|d

Buipeal Jo ano| e ybnouy} Aoelsay| buioddns
Se |[@M Se uJes| pue Xejol ‘JOAOOSIP
0} Auunuoddo ey} Jayo pue uoIsSNOUI

Page 63



9¢

aoue)sang ‘(L4dA1 Pue HOT) YieaH YoM [BI00S s ualp|iyd ‘9dljod
Buipnjour Auaiino ‘suonesiuebio jo abuel e Jo dn spew sI wes) ay |

1un Buipsenbajes Joog 1uoiH{ e

"9pISIaquINH pue allySHIOA JO 8Joym ay} Joj papiroid si S82IAISS SIY |
'8SINN J0 10}00( e 1o} }sanbal e sI alay) alaym sjelsasal Apoisno aoljod
$$900.d OSs|e wea) ay| "S92IAISS IO} S|elldjal Ajlunwwod juabin pue
[endsoy woJy sabieyoasip aled |eloos pue yjjeay Ajunwwod yum buljeaq

(dNdS) wea] [eniajay 1usabin Jo 1ulod a|buis e

"saseo Buipienbajes Bulia)l SI8JOA) [BI100S palalsiBal Jo wes)

(dul| ,,2) wea] palslsibioy paresbalu] e

"90Ud||99XJ JO asud) Buipienbajeg
9 a1e) ay} uiyum papiaold Ajjualind S82IAISS 8y) 84 MOJaq pajielaq

‘podU Ul saljiwe}

JO suazIo 1o} papinoid aq ueo ey djay jo sadAy pue Ajjenb ayy anoidwi
0] S}8S ||1IYS JueAs|al 8y} Yum siauled pue sadlAles aiow Jayleboy buibulq
‘M0oJb 0} 8nunuod aJ3usY 10BIU0Y B)eb)ISaAN 1B paseq adus||@ox3 Jo aljua)
Buipienbajeg ¥ aie) ayj UIylIm papiAoid SUOIJOUNY/SSDIAISS JO Joquinu ay |

9OUS|OIA 21}SBWOp pue |oyoodje pue sbnip
‘Buipsenbajes Buipnjoul ‘sanssi AJljigeJauinA
ssalppe 0} yoeoudde Ajiwe} yuiyy

e Japun sAemyied pajelbajul BulisAlag

"9)JISqom
3y} Uo uoljewlojul payuasald am moy 0} siy} paljdde uayy pue ‘papasu Aay)
uonewJojul ayj Job Asyj} moy pue sn Bues siswo}snd suoseal sy} paddew
BM 3JayM aJed |elo0s }NpY Ul SI SIy} Jo a|jdwexs uy "SadIAIes paje|al
pue JUBAS|SJ pul} O} SISWO0}SND IO} JBISED )l 8Yew 0} ‘ejelidoidde ateym
‘Spaau 82IAIBS J8peoIq punole alsqem ay) padojaaap aABY 9\ “SIBWOISND
JNo JO spaau 8y} punole sassao0.d anoidwil 0} sisuped yum Ajasolo
payJom aAey o\ ‘epuabe |eybip uno yym A|3sojo syul| pue jeuoioesuel),
aJoW S| 90U||9IXS JO 841U aINjonJISedjul AJI0 R JUSWUOIIAUB By | e

Page 64



LC

‘psemioy Aem arendosdde sy suiwia}ap 0}

souelqi] pue 19| ul senbes||od Yyjm suoliepuswiwodal asay} ybnouayy bupiom
S| S9OIAIBS JBWO}ISNY "SBIJIUNWWOD YIM pUB |1Iounod 8y} yium abebus o)

a|qe ale pue Aj|e}bip papn|oul 8e SudZIjI0 8INSUS 0} JJOM |IDUNOD SSOJD JBYuN}
JOJ U89S 8y} 18S Sey spaaT ul uoisnjou] [eubig ol Ainbuj Aunniog juadal

auIl-uo 186 0] SpaaT Ul SaIIUNWWOD
pue sueznyo sd@y pue  spuoddns
yoiym Abajess uoisnjoul |eybip e buidojoaaq

‘sywuad Bupjied Ajjigesip pue (ssaussajowoy)
suondQ BuisnoH spaaT ‘sieljsibay ‘SUOISSILPY |00YOS ‘SOIAIBS
S, ualp|iyD ‘ese) |e1oosS 1 nNpy 1o} Joeu09 Jo julod }sliy 9.} SIad0

S9JIAISS JBWOISND e

"90IAIBS
pue uosiad Jybu ayy Aq poddns Ajpwi aAIe081 0) SBJIAISS Yjjeay |ejuaw
0} o|doad BunoA pue ualp|iyo Jajal 01 s|euolissajoid Jaylo pue sqo) Jo}
ssa09e Jo julod ajbuls y - qny Buipienbajeg J00q JU0lH4 8y} YIM YIOAA

SJRWPUIN VdS SpoaT e

‘(NAd) Bun Ayjigessuinp
diysiauped e Jo ued se pa)eso|-09 ale uun buipienbajeg spaa]
3y} WOJ} SI821O 9921|0d- Jun Buipienbajeg 100 JUO4 8y} YIM YIOAA

901|0d 91IUSYIOA 1S9\ e

"wiea) sIy) ul pajuasaldal os|e sI aiedyleaH Ajlunwwo)
spaaT 'plIyo e 1noge aAey Aew Aay) suieouod Aue sisuonioeud
JBY]0 YlM SSNISIP 0] 9|ge|leAR SIa)JoMm |eIoos pallienb jo wes) v

(.suaip|iyd) wea] adlApY pue A1nq e

"SOSED 9OUS|OIA 21}SBWOp 0} asuodsal
pajeuIpIo-00 aJ0W pue Jajse)} e apinoid 0y si 8jos Arewnd Jisy | “1Sdi4
saljlwe4 pue uonesnp3 ‘@o1AaS BuipuayQ UINOA ‘wea] Jnoineysg

[BIDOS -IJUY SPaaT ‘©2IAI8S 9NJSay Pue ali4 SJIYSHIOA ISOAN ‘@4
[e100S }NPY ‘(SAN pue DYO) uoieqold ‘sadiAIag 82Ud|oIA disawo(
spoa] ‘sadinIag BuisnoH D91 ‘(14D pue DSIQ) S82IAI8S asnsI

Page 65



8¢

a/\\ "MOU Uo paxJom Buiaq si Inq ‘sAejep paousiiadxs sey wieo-a sjyauag ay |

‘8)Isgam ay) Buinoidwil

pue Yoeqgpas} Jawolsno Buimairal Ajjenuipuod ale am Ing ‘1o Bujoo| ale Aay}
uolewloul 8y} Spuly 8UOAIBAS J0U MOUY SAA “pPloyasnoy Jad S)ISIA #Z 40 ‘GLOZ
AINP JO pud 0} JeaA Ul SYSIA UOI[jIl 9°/ JOAO PBAISDAI D)\ "SIBIS {7 POpIEME SJoM
(%1 1) s[ounod {1 ‘palsa} sajis 9|1 JO [ej0} e JO INQ "disgam Ajuoyine [eoo
A1ana 1581 oym (INLIDOS) siebeuepy || Jo A1o100g ayy wouy (aqissod 1saybiy
ayy) Buneu Jejs Jnoy e paAIgdal Ydlym ‘a)isqam Jno 0} ob 0] anuijuod siswolsnyd

"SBOIAISS [IDUNOD JBYJ0 pue ale) |eloos }Npy
‘BuisnoH ‘sjjeuag pue xe| |19uno) Aq pamoj|o} ‘euljedid ay) ul siensibay
pue a1sep) UM ‘SPasAIN O} Way) ppe 0} S82IAISS J8Y10 Ylm Buiyiom ale app

"9AISS-J|9S JO

aousladxae Jawolsnd ay) anosdwi A[|enuijuod ued am 0S 92IAI8S-J|8S UO A|9|0s
BuiAjal uey) Jayjel sjpuueyo jeuonipeld) Ag sn jJoBjUOD 0] NUIIUOD SIBWOISND
Aym Bunebiysenul ale am pue ‘194 pajoadxa se yonw se paonpal jou

sey s|iewsa pue auoyd eIA 10BjuU09 Jawoisny ‘sAemybiH pue (uonoa||0d wayl
ab.e| Buipnjoul) uonoe |BJUBWIUOIIAUS 8Je 3|ge|leAR AJualInd ale YoIym SadIAISS
ay] ‘(snowAuoue awos) auljuo apew uaaqg aAey (|ejo} JO %Gt) 82IAISS 10}
sisanbal 000‘cz ‘ewn siy) bulnqg -palsisibal aney sjuapisal 00/ Syuow g
1SE| 8y] Ul pue ‘G0z Aep\ @ouls 8Al| usag Sey JUnodoe Jawolsnd spaa]Ap JNO

uonn|os wieo-9
S}Jouaq B pue wlojie|d 10Bju0) Jawoisng
mau s |Iouno) ay) Buusaldep Aq sjpuueyd
[enbip ybnouyy 821AI8Ss-}|8s Jawoisno BulAlLQ

‘opew buiaq s ssalbold poob 0s ‘Mo Sem uoisnjoxa |elbip ||eJano

Jo pooyijay| ,spaa Jey) pajesipul (dewyeay uoisnjox3 [enbid MN NO 09
:90JN0S) ABAINS pajoauu0) Janeg NLIDOS JUsdal }SoW 8y} Wodj s)nsal ay|

‘Buiney

sl siy} 1eyy 10edwi ayy pue ‘euop Bulaq Apealje ylom ay} sem pasieid pue
paybinybiy osjy A0 9,001 & spea buyew o) sue|d pue Abejens ay) adeys
djay 03 sem yoiym Jo aAnodalqo ayy ‘uana Al ajelsyl [eubip e spasa bunjew —
[enbiqg %001, @Yl pepuane Ajusdal se2IAI8S Jawoisn) ‘10}0ss pJiy) pue alignd
‘@1eAlld ay) Jo sanneuasaldal snid ‘salielqi] pue || wolj sanbes|joo YA

Page 66



6¢

.Sanunwwod l1syl pue ajdoad [e20|

10} 8ouUaJa}JIp © axew 0] Jayiabol ajdoad bulbuug, -

‘salouabe JueAs|al Jayjo pue |Iounod ay) yum abebus

UBd suaziIo yoiym ybnouyy pue aoual|isal AJunwiwod pue [enpiAlpul ping

djay 0} sad1A1es pue uoddns apinoid yoiym saoe|d ayj Yiim }I 81e100sse pue
pue.q 8y} asIubooal |IM SBIIUNWWOD pUB SIBWO}SNI ey} 0s puelq ay) dojaaap
0] S| UoljUdlUI BY] ‘MOJa8q UMoys sI sIy] ‘yoeosdde ayj Jo wie ay} }no S}as

1ey) auldesis e yum Buoje padojanap usaq sey 060| Ajunwiwod INoA, mau

uoddns

:Juswabebus Ajunwiwod parosdwil
0} sepAoe  spas|@sudziD
Jno ||e Joy yoeoudde Bunaxiew

pue Bulpuelq juaiayod e buidojeasqg

"JeaA sIy) wiejo-a ay} youne| 0} uonisod e ul 8q 0} adoy

Page 67



Section 2 — case studies

Leeds City Credit Union Working in Partnership with Housing Leeds.

Case study 1: Mr Y had suffered from depression for a number of years and struggled with
daily activities, his financial position suffered because of his illness. Following a referral from
Bramley Housing Office, LCU made an appointment to see Mr Y. He was extremely anxious
when he came to the appointment and said he wasn’t very good with things like this. He soon
became more comfortable and started to explain why he had such a high level of rent arrears
and other priority bills. He hadn’t had a supply of gas or electric for over 2 years due to getting
behind with payments to his pre-paid meter and not having enough income to pay the arrears
and get back in front.

Earlier in the year his father had passed away leaving his sister and himself some money. His
sister paid for the electric to be put back on for him from these funds and he had been able to
continue to pay the weekly amount allowing him to keep warm. LCCU applied to the water trust
and they awarded him a grant for the full amount of arrears which was over £450. Mr Y was
over the moon and rang to tell us his good news. Mr Y successfully applied for Housing Benefit
to be backdated on his rent account leaving a much smaller amount outstanding, DHP
(Discretionary Housing Payment) was also applied for and was granted. Mr Y has been paying
his rent arrears through his bill paying account and this is now reducing. He said: “I want to
say thank you very much for all your help it has turned my life around, things are well and it's
mostly down to you Thanks again”

Case study 2: Mr A was seen by a Tenancy Management Officer who quickly identified that
he had no food and hadn’t eaten for a few days, it was also identified that he was in desperate
need of help with his finances. He had rent arrears of nearly £500. He lived alone in a three
bedroom property that had been his family home, he was going to be affected by the under
occupancy charge and as his income was only £87.00 per week this would mean him having
to pay approximately £20.00 per week for this charge. He was in arrears with council tax, water
rates, gas and electric and had no TV licence and only left him with £15.00 per week for food.
He was still coming to terms with the loss of his wife and had not been paying his priority bills.
He had a large overdraft and also a large loan that he had stopped paying some months
before. A Housing Leeds financial inclusion officer visited Mr A and organised a food parcel.
He was put forward for the rent assist fund, his application was successful and so this meant
that his rent account was cleared. He opened a LCU budgeting account. Mr A was offered a
new home which was a one bedroom bungalow. LCU wrote to the bank on his behalf sending
them a full income & expenditure and asking them to accept token payments against both
accounts, this was accepted and will be reviewed every six months. Mr A now pays his bills
through his bill paying account.

Case study 3: A couple were struggling with numerous debts. Both had been in a serious car
accident and now receive benefits. They were struggling to budget for priority bills and rent
arrears starting to grow. Both were extremely anxious leading to further health issues. Leeds
Credit Union (LCU) attended several appointments with the couple including 2 home visits
(due to their injuries making it difficult for them to travel) to tackle all their debts and open them
a Bill Paying account. Both have now been paying into the LCU bill paying account for 7
months and have cleared their rent arrears to LCC. A non-dependent charge is now paid

30
Page 68



through the Bill Paying account. Their health has improved knowing that they have cleared
their rent arrears and can budget for all priority bills in the future.

Local Welfare Support Scheme

The scheme is designed to provide emergency support. The instances below show a range of
emergencies that customers find themselves having to deal with and how the local support
schemes help.

Case study 4: Customer called to ask for help. The customer had been given custody of his 3
small girls following their removal from their mother. The customer collected his children but
needed food, beds and bedding and help with fuel which we provided. We maintained contact
with the customer and helped again with food when there was a delay in paying his DWP
benefits and again when, following a period of part-time working, he lost his job. In total we
supported the customer on 5 separate occasions while he dealt with this significant change.

Case study 5: One customer had been the victim of a violent street robbery which had
resulted in brain injuries. They were also a victim of harassment and hate crime (an arson
attempt on house) and, as a result had to move home. Customer did not have a cooker at the
new home and instead had been cooking in his garden on a bonfire. Once we became aware
of the case we provided a cooker, sofa and a bed and carpeting to help furnish the new home.

Case study 6: 60+ year old lady who was being financially abused by her family and was
isolated in the area and said she had no friends. We assisted her with food & fuel following the
latest abuse and made a safeguarding referral to Adult Social Care. We also rang Morley
Elderly Action group where they arranged to visit her home and for her to come to any of the
daily activities they run. We spoke to this lady again following the meeting she had with one of
the workers and she advised she was especially looking forward to playing Bingo with the

group.

Case study 7: There was an elderly gentleman who approached our scheme to request help
with an electric cooker. For several weeks he had been visiting his wife in hospital as she
required some treatment which would potentially save her life. He had been trying his best to
save money from his pension credits and state pension (for fear of not being able to afford to
visit) by parking up outside Leeds City Centre and walking nearly 1.5 miles every day to visit
her as it would save him around £15 a day in parking. His wife however wasn’t well enough to
withstand the operation as she had dropped down in weight so much so she no longer had the
use of her legs. The hospital advised she was ok to return home with her husband and was
given a specific type of food which would help her gain enough weight so that she could get
through the operation without risk of her life. He needed the electric cooker as his had broken
some time ago, but due to the amount of money he had spent over the last few months, he
simply couldn’t afford to replace it meaning he couldn’t cook the food his wife needed. We
provided him with an electric cooker and also a large store card payment so that he could
purchase the food he and his wife needed.

Case study 8: Not all cases are referred to us — sometimes we go and find the cases. A
member of staff saw an article in the Big Issue from one of the Big Issue sellers in Leeds, who
after many years of sofa sleeping, had finally got his first tenancy in private rented sector and

31
Page 69



he was paying council tax for first time. In the article he stated that he still needing basic
household items for his tenancy. We contacted Big Issue to make contact, arranged speedy
assessment of his Housing Benefit and Council Tax Support speedily and also provided him
with plates, cutlery, towels, etc.

Case study 9: a key element of the support provided relates to connecting the customer to
other areas of support and addressing more than just the emergency need. One customer
contacted us for a fridge freezer and flooring for his lounge and flooring. The customer,
however, had complex needs and needed more help. A referral was made to Leeds Housing
Options who undertook a visit to who provided additional support including help with
decorating and support in terms of budgeting, employment and lifestyle issues. The customers
issues with Council Tax were also addressed and additional support from a 3™ sector agency
was arranged to help with debt issues.

Helping people into work

Case study 10 — Job Shops A 22 year old care leaver “C”, was referred to Hunslet Job Shop
by her support worker for extra help and guidance. C was working in a low paid job that she
had no real interest in. However, she was very keen to find employment in care/support
worker roles with young adults, where she felt she could put her own negative experiences to
good use. Her lack of confidence, particularly when it came to going for interviews was holding
her back from achieving her goals.

Through working closely with C the Job Shop worker helped her to increase her confidence,
gave her detailed guidance on support on interview techniques, including mock interviews and
also helped her to identify key transferable skills and how to reference them in her interview.
Thanks to this help C was able to secure a full time support worker position.

Case Study 11 — Job Shops An unemployed lone parent “S” dropped in to Hunslet Job Shop
to seek advice for herself and her 16 year old son “L”. Although S had wanted to move into
work for some time, she had been prevented from doing so because of bad advice given by
another agency regarding family tax credits. Her son L didn’t know where to start looking for
job/apprenticeship opportunities.

S registered with the Jobshop and complied her CV. She was referred to the LCC website as
it was identified that she had experience as a non-teaching assistant, she successfully applied
and gained a position in a local special school. Her son L was supported to successfully apply
for a vacancy as an apprentice at a BMW garage (it had emerged during a careers guidance
session at the Jobshop that L had a previous interest in motor cars).

As a result of this a family that had been struggling financially now had both members in
sustainable careers that gave them both increased confidence and self-esteem as well as the
financial gains.

Case Study 12 — Job Shops A 55 year old divorcee “H” had previously lost her job of 15
years due to family illness and bereavement and marriage breakdown. She was also
experience multiple debt problems resulting in her selling her car to pay mortgage arrears.

32
Page 70



However, her debts were still mounting leading to stress and health problems. Her confidence
and self-esteem were at rock bottom. She was referred to Hunslet Jobshop through the
Council Tax Support Personal Work Support Programme.

As a result of her contact with the Jobshop, she was referred to Money Buddies who helped
her put together a budget plan and to negotiate affordable weekly payments to her creditors.
She was encouraged to approach her GP for help and her support with her depression. The
Jobshop managed to secure ‘Stay Well this Winter’ pack. As well as this H was given support
and guidance with her CV and interview techniques she eventually successfully gained a
position with Santander bank meaning she could come off benefits.

Case Study 13 — Closer working with the NHS at the Reginald Centre The Reginald
Centre Community Hub already has good links with the NHS, as Westfield medical practice,
Lloyd’s pharmacy, Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAHMS), Dentist, Health
Education facilities and NHS back offices are all co-located in the centre.

The Reginald Centre and NHS are taking a 3 tiered approach using the Integrated Healthy
Living system model developed by Public Health as part of the Healthy Living Breakthrough
project to further their partnership working:

Tier one — providing activities and clubs which provide health benefits to prevent and combat
low level mental health issues. These are funded and run by various private and public sector
organisations and examples are as follows:

e Granted £10,000 by Yorkshire Bank to establish ‘Bike Libraries’ across several
community hub sites. These include Reginald Centre, Moor Allerton, St Georges Centre
and will include Dewsbury Road and Compton Centre in the near future. This is part of
the Tour de Yorkshire legacy and is to encourage local residents to take a more
environmentally and physically healthy mode of transport.

e Leeds Get Active funding has been acquired for Zumba, Chapeltown military fitness and
yoga to be delivered at the Centre by a member of the community for a 12 week period.
These activities are in addition to Chess, Dominoes and Oware clubs; giving the
Reginald Centre a timetable of activities across four evenings and Saturday morning.
The Centre has also received funding from Table Tennis England for the purchase of its
own table tennis table. Regular groups will now run and customers will be able to
reserve time for free throughout the week

e Worked closely with the Community Committee to access several pots of funding such
that the Centre now has a Community Defib in place (MICE money), an outdoor Chess
set (Wellbeing Fund) and outdoor games for young people (Youth Activities fund).

e In partnership with Black Health Initiative, a third sector organisation, a formal lease has
been drawn up for them to deliver a community café from the ground floor of the
Reginald Centre. The café will be run by a group of volunteers. In this space a further
timetable of community activities is being planned by the Community Health
Champions, initially this will include a Dementia Film Club.

e The Centre is working toward the establishment of a community health champion model
— aiming to identify community leaders, and volunteers from within the local community

33
Page 71



that can run groups/activities/clubs from the community Hub so we can deliver on a
sustainable basis. This also helps to attract members of the community in as the
sessions are run by someone local that is trusted. Currently, four Community Health
Champions have been recruited to run activities in the Reginald Centre, to which, 45
clients have participated in the activities. Of this, 66% of participants return for a second
time and 38% are regular weekly attendees. Initial evaluation of a session attended by
10 clients showed 80% strongly agreed it was an opportunity to meet others in their
community, 80% strongly agreed attending activates helped with their self-confidence
and 100% strongly agreed they had a positive experience.

e Work has been ongoing to establish a North Leeds Debt forum — this has in excess of
20 local agencies in attendance and we have established an outcomes based
accountability action plan which will ensure the group delivers meaningful work moving
forward.

Tier two — the Reginald Centre has successfully co-located the Connect Well Social
Prescribing service within the Community Hub. This generates £7500 toward overall rental
costs of the centre. Social prescribing is about connecting primary care centres to community
based, non-medical interventions. This is to relieve the pressure on GP practices and manage
patients out to their community. To date there have been 215 referrals to the service with 185
patients taking up the service. Many of these patients have been referred across to the
Community Hub team for help with housing/finance and to access clubs/activities that we are
running. The principle reasons for referral to the service are outlined in the table below.

Reason for Referral to the Connect Well

. No of Referrals
Service
Need emotional support 80 37%
Feeling stressed or anxious 80 37%
Feeling lonely or isolated 95 44%
Need advice on health, housing or finance 61 28%
issues
Want to find out about local groups and activities | 57 27%

Other services co-locating within the Reginald Centre and linked to the Connect Well Social
Prescribing Service alongside the work of the Community Hub, include:

e Northpoint who are providing Cognitive Behavioural Therapy sessions 3 days a week
which generates £800 pounds a month income for the Centre.

e Work Place Leeds who are working with people with low level mental health to help
them access work and are also training the Hub staff in the skills needs to help clients
into work when mental health difficulties are their main barrier.

34
Page 72



Tier three — Funding has been secured from the Council and North Leeds CCG for a Project
Development Worker to be employed, whose role is to connect the health services in the North
Leeds area to services on offer in the Community Hub through the Social Prescribing team.

To-date, the Wellbeing coordinators based from the Reginald Centre have attended team
meetings, shadowed Hub staff and have spent a half day experiencing a Community Hub
‘Customer Journey’. The Social prescribing database is now established to include areas to
record when a patient has been referred into the Community Hub and any service we provide.
This will help us to track success for the lifetime of the service. The project development
worker will produce a high level report at the end of the 12 month contract which will be
submitted to the CCG chief officers for each area of the city. The aim of this is to influence the
inclusion of community hubs into any future city wide commissioning that may take place.

Community Committees - Being responsive to the needs of local communities

Case study 14: social isolation among older people has been recognised as a key issue by
the Inner South Community Committee, a problem which becomes significantly worse during
the winter months. In partnership with the council’s health service, the committee has invited
local organisations to apply for £8000 funding to carry out targeted work in the winter with
older, isolated people. Five local organisations were successful and have undertaken a variety
of targeted winter warmth projects, including delivering purpose-made wellbeing packs made
up of extra bedding and hot meals. Importantly his approach enabled workers in the
neighbourhood networks to make contact with older people who may be lonely or socially-
isolated over the winter months.

Case study 15: following a review of census data and consultation with key partners, the
Heights and Bawns estates were identified as the priority neighbourhoods in the outer west.
Draft plans were developed identifying actions, elected member champions have progressed
on behalf of the partnership. Within a relatively short space of time there have been some key
initiatives, including a range of events in the area with local residents, where they were able to
address their concerns and aspirations. The events have been a great opportunity for
volunteers to get more involved in their community by being involved in the planning and
delivery. West Leeds Extended Services — a council service providing support to children and
families beyond the school day - and Leeds Youth Services have held three well-attended fun
days of activities for children and young people. To keep the partnership going the Outer West
Community Committee has committed £11,000 funding for a full-time community development
worker to work in the Heights, Bawns, Gambles and Swinnow estates.

Case study 16: Community Action To Change Harehills (CATCH) is a charity set up by
passionate local residents to help improve Harehills and work with young people to offer them
better life chances. Since 2011, CATCH has worked with hundreds of young people in
Harehills to provide social and sporting activities and educational workshops. These are
helping reduce crime and antisocial behaviour and encourage people from different
communities to get to know each other in one of the most deprived and diverse communities in
Leeds. Over the last 12 months, the Inner East Community Committee has worked together
with West Yorkshire Police and CATCH to find a new home for the charity in the heart of
Harehills. The charity now has a new base in Hovingham Park in a building donated by the

35
Page 73



police on land leased by the council. Funding to install the building, connect it to utilities and to
make it more appealing was granted by local councillors and the Inner East Community
Committee.

The new facility, which opened for business in June 2016, has been primarily used to continue
CATCH’s work providing activities for young people from different backgrounds. However it
has also developed a wider partnership approach, providing some additional much-needed
community space for other groups and partners to deliver services.

36
Page 74



Appendix 3:

Citizens@Leeds — Priorities for 2016/17

Ambition and Approach: The Citizens@Leeds programme supports the council's ambition for Leeds to be the
best city and for Leeds City Council to be the best council in the UK. Through our Citizens@Leeds approach we
will ensure that: essential services are provided in an integrated and accessible way to those most in need of
services, support and advice; those requiring financial assistance have quick and easy access to financial advice
and cost effective credit facilities; those seeking employment and/or training have easy access to advice, support
and awareness of training and employment opportunities and; that we are better connected with the citizens of

Leeds.

Our Core Outcome: To improve the quality of life for all our residents, particularly those who are vulnerable or

experiencing poverty.

Objectives and priorities for 2016/17:

Helping People out of Financial Hardship:
Tackling the financial challenges of poverty, deprivation
and inequality with a focus on:

1. Delivering financial support schemes which support
the most vulnerable.

2. Delivering integrated pathways of support within
welfare and benefits services, community hubs and
the corporate contact centre.

3. Reviewing advice services with a view to making
efficiencies and meeting demand.

4. Developing solutions that increase financial
resilience

5. Maximising the impact of the Social Inclusion Fund
at a local level including working with community
committees.

6. Preparing for and mitigating the full impact of
welfare reform and Universal Credit on both the city
council and on residents in Leeds.

7. Reviewing the Council Tax Support scheme
including the introduction of a hardship fund.

Helping People into Work:

Helping people into work by providing easy access to
advice, support and awareness of training and
employment opportunities with a focus on:

1. Continuing to deliver the new Council Tax Support
scheme which has a clear focus on helping people
into work.

2. Working with Community Committees to ensure a
localised focus on helping people into work.

3. Creating an effective partnership with the
Department of Works and Pensions that delivers an
accessible and effective Universal Credit service.

4. Strengthening our partnership approach with
Jobcentre plus and exploring integration/co-location
with Community Hubs.

5. Ensuring that our approach to volunteering provides
opportunities to develop the skills required for work.

6. Making stronger links between the council’s job
shop services and clients and employment
opportunities in Leeds City Council.

7. Utilising community hubs to maximise matching
employment opportunities with local people.

Strengthening local accountability and being more
responsive to the needs of local communities:
Supporting and enabling local people and communities
to engage and interact with the council on issues that
are important to them with a focus on:

1. Working effectively with community committees and
local members to prioritise and tackle local issues.

2. Increasing the community use of, and interactions
with, the Community Hubs and ensuring they meet
local need.

3. Working effectively with third sector partners to
support the delivery of stronger and more cohesive
communities.

4. Developing a new approach for community
cohesion and integration including tackling
extremism in all its forms.

5. Reviewing the taxi and private hire fleet to ensure
there is a wide range of vehicles which meet
customer access requirements.

6. Providing the strategic lead for migration in the city.

Providing accessible and integrated services: Creating
integrated access to council and partner services that
places the customer at the centre of what we do and
meets their needs with a focus on:

1. Rolling out a network of community hubs across the
city.

2. Delivering integrated housing, welfare and advice
services in community hubs.

3. Delivering the centres of excellence model within the
corporate contact centre, including the delivery of a
fully integrated council tax and benefits service.

4. Delivering integrated pathways around vulnerability
issues, including safeguarding, drugs and alcohol
and domestic violence.

5. Delivering a digital centre of excellence at the
contact centre and improving the council’s website.

6. Delivering a benefits e-claim solution that becomes
the principal method for claiming benefits.

7. Undertaking a council wide review of licensing and

37

Page 75




7. Delivering the 2016 local elections and PCC
elections and the EU referendum.

regulatory functions to assess scope for improved
integration.

Page 76

38




Agenda Item 11

LEEdS Health &_ Report author: Mike Eakins
Wellbeing Board

Report of:  Mariana Pexton (Chief Officer, Strategy and Improvement, Leeds City
Council)

Reportto: Leeds Health and Wellbeing Board
Date: 20 October 2016

Subject: Making a breakthrough: impact of breakthrough projects on health outcomes
and reducing health inequalities

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion [ ] Yes X No
and integration?

Is the decision eligible for Call-In? [ ] Yes X No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information? [ ] Yes X No
If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:
Appendix number:

Summary of main issues

This report provides an update on Leeds City Council’s eight breakthrough projects and
outlines each project’s key aims and activity. The projects are designed to be cross-cutting
and outcome focused and the report notes that each one has a link to the most recent
Health and Wellbeing Strategy. The report recognises the important role the Health and
Wellbeing Board can play in helping to make a breakthrough in these areas and so each
project includes one key ask where the Board’s support and influence would be a valuable
addition.

Recommendations
The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to:
e Consider the contents of this report and the aims of the eight breakthrough projects.
e Discuss each project’s asks on how the Board and its members might help to make
a breakthrough and agree any actions to be taken forward.

Page 77



11

2.1

2.2

2.3

3.1

3.2

3.3

Purpose of this report

To provide an update on the establishment and development of Leeds City
Council’s eight breakthrough projects, to discuss the relationship of each to the
Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-21, and to consider how the Health
and Wellbeing Board can help to make a breakthrough.

Background information

Leeds City Council, along with partners from the city and across Yorkshire,
successfully delivered the Tour de France Grand Depart in the summer of 2014. It
represented a watershed moment for the council in terms of both inwardly and
outwardly demonstrating what could be achieved when a common purpose and
aim was fundamentally grasped at all levels and working barriers removed to
deliver a shared outcome.

Following this success, there was a wish to harness the benefits of this way of
working and bring them to bear on other key areas of importance. The
breakthrough projects were created as the vehicle through which this can be
achieved. The projects are intended to be cross-cutting and focused on improving
service delivery to make even more impact on the best city outcomes and tackle
poverty and inequalities.

There are currently eight breakthrough projects each at different stages of
development. Many of them align closely with the ambition and priorities set out in
Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-21.

Main issues

Since their inception in 2014 the breakthrough projects have continued to develop
so they better align with the council’s and city’s key priorities. There are currently
eight projects. These are:

Making Leeds the best place to grow old in
Cutting carbon and improving air quality

Tackling domestic violence and abuse

Early intervention and reducing health inequalities
Housing growth and high standards in all sectors
More jobs, better jobs

Strong communities benefitting from a strong city
World class events and a vibrant city centre

The breakthrough projects now sit at the centre of the most recent iteration of the
Best Council Plan and are important channels through which services can be
examined and improved, often using an outcomes-based approach to test plans
and changes.

Each of the breakthrough projects can be attributed to one or more of the twelve
priority areas in the Health and Wellbeing Strategy. They also each have their

Page 78



3.3.1

3.3.2

own challenges which the Health and Wellbeing Board could contribute to
overcoming. Each project’s aims, activity and asks are outlined below.

Making Leeds the best place to grow old in
Led by Councillor Rebecca Charlwood

This project aims for Leeds become a city where aging is seen as a positive
experience that brings new challenges and opportunities, and where older people
have access to services and resources they need to enable them to live healthy
and fulfilling lives.

Leeds should be a welcoming city which is accessible to all and where older
people feel, and are, safe. To achieve this, a wide range of issues need to be
considered and joined up. These include enabling a range of affordable and
accessible transport to make getting into the city easier, delivering housing to
meet the needs of an ageing population and involving older people in culture,
education and employment. As part of the project work streams are in place for
each of these issues.

Making a breakthrough:

e Mirroring the city’s approach towards children, discuss options for moving
towards taking a ‘whole system approach’ to older people’s service delivery.

e Continue to forcefully raise awareness of the need to improve the reliability
and accessibility of public transport as a means of overcoming loneliness and
fears about safety amongst older people.

e Discuss how to ensure that ‘improving the health of the poorest fastest’ also
relates to older people when currently services are often focused on larger
populations in the outer-city areas.

Cutting carbon and improving air quality
Led by Councillor Lucinda Yeadon

Leeds needs to be a healthy and green city in which to live, work and visit.
Tackling climate change is an obligation upon us in terms of meeting EU air
quality standards but also our own ambition for the city’s air quality improvement
and climate change mitigation. The Council cannot do this alone and strong work
with partners is intrinsically important to the success we want to see.

At the headline level, improving air quality would bring about enormous health and
wellbeing benefits for the citizens of Leeds. However the benefits run deeper too.
Through this project’'s work on creating an energy supply company, rolling out
district heating and increasing the profile of domestic energy efficiency we aim to
reduce fuel poverty and widen access to affordable warmth, thereby delivering

Page 79



3.3.3

3.34

further health and wellbeing benefits. The project will also support job and
apprenticeship creation within the environmental arena.

Making a breakthrough:

e The project already has good links into Public Health but further engagement
with wider health partners on the improving air quality aspects of the project
would be welcome.

Tackling domestic violence and abuse
Led by Councillor Lisa Mulherin

While often a hidden problem, domestic violence and abuse continues to be an
issue for the city both in terms of people living safe, healthy and happy lives and
in terms of the impact on the lives of children. It remains a factor in the lives of
many of the children which the Council has to take into care. This project seeks to
realise four key benefits:

e A reduction in the repeat victimisation rate

e A reduction in children with child protection plans where domestic violence is a
factor

e A reduction in the repeat suspect rate

e A reduction in victim attrition rates during investigations

There is a wide range of work which has now been ongoing for some time.
Already a new Front Door Safeguarding Hub has been established through which
daily case discussion meetings now take place with relevant partners. The Caring
Dads pilot programme has also been adopted by the Council’s Children’s
Services department to form part of their permanent offering. There is more to do,
not least continuing to raise awareness of domestic violence and abuse across
the city, and improving public knowledge about where help can be sought. The
project also seeks to develop a Smart City response to support victims and
establish a network of Domestic Violence Ambassadors.

Making a breakthrough:

e For the Board to continue to promote the work of the project both within their
respective organisations and outwardly to service user groups.

Early intervention and reducing health inequalities
Led by Councillor James Lewis

When you consider that there is a 10.8 year difference in life expectancy between
the most and least deprived wards in Leeds, and that behavioural factors
contribute 40% to avoidable deaths, the remit of this breakthrough project is clear
— we want to change this.

Page 80



3.3.5

The programme for this project contains three key elements. First, the
commissioning of an integrated Healthy Living Service. Second, ensuring services
commissioned by partners are aligned within this new service. And third, inspiring
communities and partners to work differently to make Leeds healthier.

This work is complex and requires significant partnership working. The ambition
includes developing better use of technology to facilitate self-help, peer support
and access to non-commissioned services. We also want to work with transport
partners, leisure services and the third sector to boost physical activity and active
travel. The expansion and development of the wider health network is also crucial
for aspects such as building capacity for health coaching skills.

Making a breakthrough:

e Consider the mechanisms by which complementary interventions
commissioned by a range of organisations in the city can be better aligned
including:

o Identification of key stakeholders and organisations (primary care,
secondary care, voluntary sector, council services) and understanding
how performance is monitored.

o Potential to develop clear shared aims, work plans and monitoring
indicators.

Housing growth and high standards in all sectors
Led by Councillor Richard Lewis

Leeds has a growing and ageing population. In order to meet the needs of the
city’s current and future residents we aim to build 70,000 new homes by 2028.
However, this breakthrough project recognises the importance of quality and
affordable housing to meet the differing needs of the city’s residents.

The project is focused on accelerating the growth of private sector housing
alongside the delivery of around 1,000 new council homes through direct new
builds, off plan acquisitions and bringing empty homes back into use. In addition,
a new Leeds Standard will be developed as a benchmark to influence quality.

Of particular importance to the Board and with clear links to the Health and
Wellbeing Strategy is the Older People’s Housing and Care Programme which
forms part of this breakthrough project. This involves the promotion and delivery
of specialist accommodation (i.e. extra care, dementia and nursing care) for older
people.

Making a breakthrough:
e Engagement with the board about how the project can work with health service

institutions to understand and help meet their requirements for an attractive
housing offer including in relation to clinical recruitment.

Page 81



3.3.6

3.3.7

e The project is keen to explore ways in which land under the ownership of
health partners can be unlocked for sustainable, quality housing development.

More jobs, better jobs
Led by Councillor Mohammed Rafique

Leeds is experiencing the fastest rate of private sector jobs growth of any major
city in the UK, yet productivity still lags behind the national average. Work should
provide a route out of poverty but zero-hour contracts, low paid and low skilled
jobs with limited progression opportunities are seeing rates of in-work poverty
grow.

This breakthrough project seeks to tackle low pay, promote the Living Wage,
support businesses to invest in sustainable and inclusive growth, upskill the
workforce and work with the education sector to support young people to develop
strong enterprise and employability skills. The work ongoing is wide-ranging, from
developing a careers advice and in-work progression service, to strengthening the
relationship between business and schools, and endeavouring to increase
graduate retention rates in the city. The project also aims to develop integrated
health and employment support, delivering programmes of tailored support to out-
of-work claimants with mental ill-health helping them to secure and retain
employment.

Making a breakthrough:

e The Board’s support is sought on the integration of health and employment
support services — particularly to address the very high and growing number of
Employment Support Allowance claimants with mild to moderate mental ill-
health.

Currently, the number of claimants stands at around 32,000. These are largely
concentrated in the inner city and in social rented housing. Around 50% of
claimants suffer from mental ill-health and 50% have muscular skeletal
conditions. Further work is required to enable referrals and ensure provision is
integrated and aligned.

Strong communities benefitting from a strong city
Led by Councillor Debra Coupar

Leeds is one of the fastest growing cities in the UK with an economy which
continues to strengthen, and is home to people from many different backgrounds.
Yet not everyone is benefitting from the city’s success with 20% of households
living in poverty and unemployment still above the national average.

This is the most recently established breakthrough project and it seeks to help
Leeds become a welcoming city for all by building strong, cohesive, resilient and

Page 82



3.3.8

4.1

41.1

sustainable communities. Its programme aims to better link the opportunities
created by economic success with those who need access to it most, and to raise
aspiration in some of the city’s most deprived communities. Through the creation
of integrated neighbourhood delivery teams we aim to re-shape, join up and boost
the impact of services delivered by both the Council and its partners in our most
challenging neighbourhoods. The project also seeks to build awareness of and
confidence in the Leeds Prevent programme.

Making a breakthrough:

e The Board’s support to widen engagement with the project would be very
valuable, particularly including GP surgeries.

e The project would also benefit from any opportunities to influence
commissioning processes regarding the role of community cohesion and
improving community relations, and from opportunities to engage with health
partners’ service users.

World class events and a vibrant city centre
Led by Councillor Judith Blake

This breakthrough project aims to ensure Leeds is recognised as one of the best
cities for hosting world class events by sponsors, residents, businesses and
visitors through their experience of attending or viewing events held here. It also
seeks create a city centre that is widely recognised as an exemplar 21% Century
city centre that is inclusive, friendly and cutting edge.

The project encompasses some clear deliverables such as a new events strategy,
a new culture strategy, and a bid for European Capital of Culture 2023. In the
context of the Health and Wellbeing Strategy, within the project there are
important opportunities to influence the transport strategy and ambition to create
an age-friendly and child-friendly city centre. This should involve removing traffic,
being more pedestrian friendly and improving the public realm.

Making a breakthrough:
e Can the Board consider how it might wish to feed into the ongoing transport
conversation?

e Can the Board offer insights, suggestions or actions on helping to create a
child and age friendly city?

Health and Wellbeing Board Governance
Consultation and Engagement

Consultation on all work streams within each project will be undertaken and
publicised as appropriate.

Page 83



4.1.2

4.2

42.1

4.3

43.1

4.4

441

4.5

45.1

5.1

6.1

In order to create this report all breakthrough project leads were consulted,
particularly around formulating their key asks of the Health and Wellbeing Board.

Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration

There are no equality and diversity implications of this report. Specific equality
impact assessments will be carried out as required as part of each individual
breakthrough project’'s work programme.

Resources and value for money

There are no direct resources or value for money implications of this report.
Individual breakthrough projects will report on the impact of actions proposed
within them.

Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In

There are no access to information and call-in implications arising from this report.
Risk Management

There are no significant risk implications of this report.

Conclusions

Leeds City Council’s eight breakthrough projects have been established to bring
about a new way of working to tackle some of the city’s biggest challenges. While
at different stages of development, each project contains a programme of work
which is wide-ranging, cross-cutting and will require significant partnership
working. As part of this, the Health and Wellbeing Board can use its role and
influence to help make a breakthrough on some of the key challenges each
project faces.

Recommendations

The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to:
e Consider the contents of this report and the aims of the eight breakthrough
projects.
e Discuss each project’s asks on how the Board and its members might help to
make a breakthrough and agree any actions to be taken forward.

Page 84



Agenda Item 12

Leeds Health & Report author:
I Dr Jane Mischenko & A
Wellbeing Board scarborough

Report of:  Steve Walker (Acting Director of Children’s Services, Leeds City Council)
and Matt Ward (Chief Operating Officer, NHS Leeds South and East CCG)

Report to: The Leeds Health and Wellbeing Board

Date: 20 October 2016

Subject: Future in Mind: Leeds: A strategy to improve the social, emotional, mental
health and wellbeing of children and young people aged 0-25 years

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion [ ] Yes X No
and integration?

Is the decision eligible for Call-In? [ ] Yes X] No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information? [ ] Yes X No
If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:
Appendix number:

Summary of main issues

Future in Mind: Leeds (Appendix 1) is a single overarching strategy, underpinned by the
Future in Mind: Leeds Local Transformation Plan (Appendix 2). This strategy brings
together the Leeds response to the recommendations from the Department of Health’s
publication Future in Mind (2015) and its duties within the Children & Family Act (2014), in
terms of the SEND requirements for pupils with Social Emotional and Mental Health
needs.

The connection of these large programmes of work is an innovative and ambitious
approach and whilst challenging is the right thing to do for our children and families.

The strategy recognises the pressures on the public purse and how in order to deliver it we
need to work together. The strong emphasis on prevention and developing the emotional
resilience of children, young people and their families, alongside strengthening access to
local early help services makes both economic sense and is the right thing to do for our
children and young people. This approach will make best use of the Leeds pound.

Recommendations
The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to:

e Support, approve and champion the Future in Mind: Leeds strategy and
underpinning Local Transformation Plan (LTP). The refresh of our LTP has to be
published on NHS Leeds CCGs and council websites by the end of October 2016
(NHS England requirement).

e Recognise and share the achievements to date (detailed in the plan), progressed in
the first years of the Future in Mind LTP funding allocations.

Page 85



1.1

2.1

2.2

2.3

3.2

Endorse how the child and young person’s voice has been integral in developing
the priority work-streams and going forward is embedded in the co-production of
their delivery.

Discuss how they will support the delivery of the vision, the strategy and
underpinning plan.

Advise how they would like to receive future reports of progress and on the
frequency of these reports.

Purpose of this report

This report sets out our shared and ambitious strategy to transform how we
support and improve the emotional and mental health of our children and young
people and therefore, ultimately impact on the wellbeing of all of our population.

Background information

The mental health of children and young people is a priority within the Joint Health
and Wellbeing Strategy (2016-2021) and the Leeds Children and Young People’s
Plan (2015-2019) and is also integral to the Leeds Sustainability and
Transformation Plan (2016-2021).

The commitment of the council is clearly demonstrated with the £45m investment
into world-class specialist education provision for children and young people who
due to social, emotional and mental health needs require additional support in their
learning. The specially designed buildings and the nurturing ethos that informs this
provision will significantly improve outcomes of one of the most vulnerable cohorts
of children and young people.

The 3 CCGs in Leeds invested the ring-fenced funding allocation received from
NHSE, circa £1.5m, to initiate the transformation of social, emotional and mental
health support and services, following assurance of our LTP last year. The
continued commitment of the CCGs to this critical agenda is demonstrated in the
continuation of that investment in 2016/17. NHSE requires a refresh of the LTP to
be published by the end of October. The refresh of this plan in Leeds now reflects
the strategy and integration of these significant programmes of work.

Main issues

Our vision is to develop a culture where talking about feelings and emotions is the
norm, where it is acceptable to acknowledge difficulties and ask for help and where
those with more serious problems are quickly supported by people with skills to
support their needs.

To achieve this in a context of tightening resource and evidence of increasing
demand we need to work together in a single approach and to combine and
transform our services. The strategy and plan evolves from the already strong
relationships across the children’s partnership, across health, education, social care
and the third sector.

Page 86



3.3

3.4

411

4.2
4.21

4.3
4.2.1

4.4

Within the strategy you can find our shared priorities, our shared approach and how
we will know we have made a difference to the lives of children and young people in
the city. Key strategies and plans that sit alongside this are the Best Start Plan, the
Special Educational Needs and Disabilities Strategy and the Mental Health
Framework.

Underpinning this strategy is a positive and universal focus on wellbeing. We will
build resilient communities to support social, emotional and mental health through a
city-wide continuum of support, thereby preventing and reducing the need for
specialist interventions. The Future in Mind: Leeds strategy is driven by a relentless
focus on the question:

“What is it like to be a child or young person growing up in Leeds and how do we
make it better?”

The strategy (is for ages 0-25 years) and incorporates 11 priorities from primary
prevention through to specialist provision, from pre-birth, to transition into adult
services.

Health and Wellbeing Board Governance

See attached the governance chart that details working groups and reporting
structures (Appendix 3). The key delivery and governance structure for all this work
is the Future in Mind Programme Board made up of officers and leads from across
the programme of work.

Consultation and Engagement

Listening to the voice of the child and young person and their families is the first and
abiding principle. The voice of children, young people and the views of their
parents’ have strongly informed our key priorities. The task groups continue with
this principle in the delivery of the priorities. An example is where young people
have led from the start the content, design and language of the MindMate website.

Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration

As reflected in the national Future in Mind (2015) publication there has to be an
additional effort in Local Transformation Plans to respond to the needs of certain
vulnerable groups of children and young people. In Leeds there is a history of taking
such an approach and there are already examples of multi-agency services
supporting young people in the youth justice system and care system. A specific
priority is to continue to review and check that the needs of vulnerable young people
are met. This is supported by the intelligence gathered by the recently
commissioned Future in Mind: Leeds Health Needs Assessment (2016), which
reports both quantitative data and qualitative intelligence (via focus groups).

Resources and value for money

Page 87



441

4.5

4.5.1

4.6

4.6.1

5.2

5.3

6.1

There are strong principles underpinning this strategy that will maximise the best
use of resource and best value for money; these are listed below:

Prevention (following the principles of the WAVE report)

New ways of working to develop emotional resilience and support self help

Early support/help to prevent escalation

Evidence based practice

Use of digital technologies

Transforming existing services and combining resources across the partnership to
prevent duplication

Noting that getting it right in childhood supports reduced need and demand in
adulthood

Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In

There are no legal implications from this report. There are no access to information
and call-in implications arising from this report.

Risk Management

The programme board reviews the risks to the delivery of the strategy and LTP
every time it meets. The key risks reflect those known nationally, reducing resource
but rising demand, rapidly changing policy across education, health and social care,
and workforce challenges in recruiting the staff with the right skills. Mitigation is in
place and constantly reviewed for all of these areas.

Conclusions

The first 12 months of delivery of the Leeds Local Transformation Plan is already
demonstrating progress against key priorities (as reflected in the refreshed plan).

This strategy and refreshed plan creates even more opportunities to drive forward
the transformation we need and to deliver our vision.

The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to endorse, approve and champion the
strategy and LTP and to advise how it would like to receive reports on progress.

Recommendations
The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to:

Support, approve and champion the Future in Mind: Leeds strategy and
underpinning Local Transformation Plan (LTP). The refresh of our LTP has to be
published on NHS Leeds CCGs and council websites by the end of October 2016
(NHSE requirement).

Recognise and share the achievements to date (detailed in the plan), progressed in
the first years of the Future in Mind LTP funding allocations.

Page 88



Endorse how the child and young person’s voice has been integral in developing
the priority work-streams and going forward is embedded in the co-production of

their delivery.

Discuss how they will support the delivery of the vision, the strategy and
underpinning plan.

Advise how they would like to receive future reports of progress and on the
frequency of these reports.

Appendices

Appendix 1 - Draft Future in Mind Leeds overarching strategy & plan on a page
Appendix 2 - Draft Future in Mind Leeds Local Transformation Plan
Appendix 3 - Draft governance structure

Page 89



NHS

Appendix 1

Future in Mind: Leeds

A strategy to improve the social, emotional, mental health and wellbeing of
children and young people aged 0 - 25 years

Leeds
City

: Social, emotional and
Council ’

mental health and
wellbeing

Parents/

Schools

and Carers

Settings

2016 - 2020

£
‘*ﬁ
MindMate" =

Page 90


20091553
Typewritten Text
Appendix 1


Contents

Foreword
Introduction
Mental Health and Wellbeing
Some key local facts
Reviews in Leeds
National Policy
What will we do?
Behaviours and cross-cutting themes
Accountability
How will we know we’ve made a difference?
Appendices
Governance Structure
Glossary

References

Page 91

Page 3
Page 4
Page 5
Page 6
Page 7
Page 8
Page 10
Page 11
Page 11
Page 12

Page 13

= C1TY COUNCIL



NHS

Foreword

Content in development

Page 92



NHS

Introduction

Future in Mind: Leeds

A strategy to improve the social, emotional, mental health and wellbeing of
children and young people aged 0 - 25 years

The Leeds ambition is to be the best city in the UK for children and young people to grow up
in.

Leeds is becoming a child friendly city and is investing in children and young people to
create a compassionate city with a strong economy. The Children and Young People’s Plan,
2015-2019, outlines the priorities and obsessions to help achieve the Leeds’ ambition.

Our vision for this strategy is to develop a culture where talking about feelings and emotions
is the norm, where it is acceptable to acknowledge difficulties and ask for help and where
those with more serious problems are quickly supported by people with skills to support
their needs.

To do this, a joined-up, city-wide approach is crucial; improving the social, emotional,
mental health and well-being of our children and young people can only be achieved by
working collaboratively.

This strategy and its implementation plan reflects the commitment of partners in the city to
work together to achieve our vision. It is an innovative and adventurous partnership,
working across health, education and social care.

Within the strategy, you will find our shared priorities, our shared approach and how we will
know we have made a difference to the lives of children, young people and their families in
the city.

Underpinning this strategy is a positive and universal focus on wellbeing. We will build
resilient communities to support social, emotional and mental health through a city wide
continuum of support, thereby preventing and reducing the need for specialist
interventions.

This high level strategy is supported by the more detailed implementation plan, which is our
Future in Mind: Leeds Local Transformation Plan. Key strategies and plans that sit alongside
this are the Best Start Plan, the Special Educational Needs and Disabilities Strategy and the
all age Mental Health Framework.

The Future in Mind Leeds strategy is driven by a relentless focus on the question:

“What is it like to be a child or young person growing up in Leeds and
how do we make it better?”

Page 93



NHS

Mental Health and Wellbeing

Being in a state of wellbeing means we are able to cope with everyday life, feel good or okay
about life most of the time and behave in a way that does not have a negative impact on
ourselves or others; this helps us to fulfil our potential.

The World Health Organisation (WHO) defines mental health as a state of comprehensive
physical, mental and social wellbeing that accordingly applies at both a personal and
collective level. For individuals this would, on a mental health front, involve a state in which
one:

“Realises his or her abilities, can cope with the normal stresses of life, can work productively
and fruitfully, and is able to make a contribution to his or her community” (WHO, 2001)

A more expanded statement describes mental health as:

“The capacity of each and all of us to feel, think, and act in ways that enhance our ability to
enjoy life and deal with the challenges we face. It is a positive sense of emotional and
spiritual wellbeing that respects the importance of culture, equity, social justice,
interconnections and personal dignity” (N. Joubert and H. Raeburn, 1997).

Children and young people may need support for a limited period, when life events create
challenging times. For others there is a need for more sustained help. This may relate to
difficulties in a child or young person’s life, for example family breakdown, problems with
friendships, or bullying. It may relate to traumatic experiences, e.g. bereavement, abuse, or
violence. It could also be associated with having special educational needs (SEN), e.g.
autism, or relate to a specific mental health condition, such as anorexia nervosa. Often it is
a combination of factors. Research identifies how some vulnerable groups, such as those
who have been removed from their birth family and placed in the care of the local authority,
are at higher risk of mental ill health.

The most vulnerable groups of children and young people who may be at risk of developing
social emotional and/or mental health problems are:

e looked after children. e [Living in poverty.
e In the justice system. e Have special educational needs.
e Excluded from school. e Have experienced trauma.

e New to the country and
particularly asylum seekers.
Supportive parenting, a secure home life and a positive learning environment in schools
are key protective factors in building and protecting mental well-being at this stage of
life. Individuals who have a secure and supportive childhood and adolescence and are
able to exercise emotional control and social skills, are subsequently better able to deal

Page 94



NHS

with the choices and challenges that they will encounter throughout their life (World
Health Organisation, 2012).

Protective factors consist of individual, family and school/community factors, which all
interrelate. So for example a good attachment as a baby with your parent, or carer
develops your ability to self-regulate your emotions and make friends in childhood. This
research is covered in more depth in the Future in Mind: Leeds, Health Needs
Assessment (2016) and has informed the priorities of our strategy.

Resilience is a concept that refers to being able to ‘bounce back’ from adversity or difficult
life events. Resilience can be increased by a positive interaction between the protective
factors at the individual, family and community level.

This strategy includes initiatives to prevent mental health problems in childhood; it
identifies the need for universal support for children and families (early in the life of a child);
and recognises the importance of early intervention (early in the life of the problem). The
strategy also recognises the need for more targeted services for some vulnerable children
and young people and the need for swift access to more specialist help when needed.

Some key local facts

Leeds is an expanding city, with a growing population of over 761,000 people. This
population continues to change in size and composition, which creates an incredibly vibrant,
diverse city which is welcomed and celebrated. As the second largest local authority, Leeds
is consistently updating its services to meet shifts in demand. Some key local facts are

e 186,000 children and young people under 20.
e 253,000 aged 0-25.
e Over 10,000 births a year.
e Of our school-aged children and young people:
0 16% have English as an additional language.
0 29% are from Black, Asian or Minority Ethnic groups.
0 19% are eligible for free school meals.
O 16% have Special Educational Needs and/or a Disability.
e School attendance has improved to record levels but over 1,000 primary school
children and over 2,200 secondary school children still miss 15% of school time.
e 20.7% of children come from ‘low income’ families, compared to 18.6% nationally.
Of the 28,000 children in Leeds living in poverty, 64% come from a working family.
e 22% of the Leeds population (167,607) live in the 10% most deprived areas in the
country.

Page 95



RIS
..'
."__.‘* " !
= C1TY COUNCIL

e For our young people who do not achieve 5 good GCSE’s, there is a 1 in 4 chance
that they will not be in education, employment or training two years later.

e 92% of Leeds primary and secondary schools are rated good or better.

e Over the past decade, whilst overall attainment has risen in schools, the
performance gap between pupils from more and less advantaged backgrounds in the
UK has remained prevalent.

e Leeds has a higher incident rate for domestic abuse per 1,000 of the population.

e In accordance with national reports, Leeds service data indicates a rising demand for
services for emotional and mental health needs and a rising presentation at
emergency departments of young people who have self-harmed.

The Future in Mind: Leeds, Health Needs Assessment (2016) is a comprehensive document
and should be read in conjunction with this strategy. Some of its key findings show the
complexity of the picture for the young people of Leeds. The Public Health England Public
Health Profiles are a useful resource to give us the estimated prevalence of mental health
disorders in 5-16 year olds (2014), including emotional disorders, conduct disorders and
hyperkinetic disorders.

=
£ & Leeds Population
B @28 .
3 E z E . Estimates
E % Fo| ©
Indicator Period E S 2=l = mm
Estimated prevalence of any mental health
i X 2014 9.3* 97* | 95*% 9,584 10,752
disorder: % population aged 5-16
Estimated prevalence of emotional disorders: %
Rk 2014 3.6 37* | 3.7* 3,733 4,188
population aged 5-16
Estimated prevalence of conduct disorders: %
. 2014 56* 59* | 58* 5,851 6,564
population aged 5-16
Estimated prevalence of hyperkinetic disorders: %
. 2014 15* 1.6* | 1L6* 1,614 1,811
population aged 5-16
Prevalence of potential eating disorders among
young people: Estimated number of 16 - 24year 2013 * - |15604* 184,007 182,292
olds
Prevalence of ADHD among young people:
. S el 2013 * - 16163* 16,274 16,122
Estimated number of 16 - 24year olds
Children who require Tier 3 CAMHS: estimated
. 2012 - - 2905 2,976 3,214
number of children <17
Children who require Tler4CAMHS:_est|mated 2012 i i 10 123 133
number of children <17
Child admissions f tal health: rat
ild admissions for mental health: rate per 2014/15 o cos 100 290 346
100,000 aged 0-17 years
Young people hospital admissions for self-harm: 2010/11- =l = — e o
rate per 100,000 aged 10- 24  12/13 ’ ’ ) ! !

Page 96



NHS igiLeeds

There is a much lower rate of CYP admitted for mental health issues compared to the
national figure, but a much higher rate of hospital admissions for self-harm.

The picture for Leeds in terms of indicators that serve as protective factors for good mental
health and development is not good.

Leeds is lower than the national average for:

e Breast feeding.

e Achieving a good level of attainment at Early Years Foundation Stage.

e Achieving 5 or more A* to C grades at GCSE level which include Maths and English.
e Taking part in an hour of moderate-to-vigorous physical activity per day.

Leeds is higher than the national average for:

e Rates of domestic abuse.

e Self-reported rates of tobacco, cannabis and alcohol use in 15 year olds.
e The number of children who are Looked After.

e Rate of children in need.

The information hides a great variation across Leeds due to its mixed deprivation and
populations.

Local Reviews

During 2015, partners in the city reviewed the current system of local support and services
for children and young people’s mental health and wellbeing. The results of these reviews,
which included the significant involvement of children, parents, and professionals has
supported the development of the Future in Mind: Leeds strategy, priorities and plan. The
key issues identified were:

e Alack of clarity of what support and services are available and how to access them.

e Arequest from young people to have more local support as early as possible and for
teachers to receive relevant training.

e Having to wait too long for some services, such as Child and Adolescent Mental
Health Services (CAMHS), without any support or contact whilst you waited.

e Variation in the quality and quantity of support and services available in different
parts of the city.

e The lack of a coherent vision and system of connected support and services across
the partnership.

Page 97



NHS igiLeeds

e Concern about the quality and range of specialist education provision for those with
social, emotional and mental health needs.

e Recognition of some gaps in services, for example joined up support during mental
health crisis and support during transition to adult services.

e A lot of unknowns, due to poor connection of data systems and a lack of shared
outcome measures.

Strengths were also identified, such as the city-wide cluster offer built from the support of
partners to deliver the Targeted Mental Health in Schools (TaMHS) model. Also satisfaction
was very high once children and young people were in any of the local services.

National Policy

‘Our children deserve better: programmes and early help for children and young people
suggest that this can both change lives and reduce spending incurred in later life due to
unmet needs’ (Chief Medical Officer, 2012)

National policy increasingly reflects the importance of improving children and young
people’s mental health and wellbeing. A national taskforce led by the Department for
Health and NHS England led to the creation of the ‘Future in Mind’ report (March 2015),
which resulted in the need for local areas to develop Local Transformation Plans. These
received ring-fenced additional funds, with Leeds in receipt of circa £1.5 million. In addition
to this:

e NHS England are increasing the number of inpatient beds for those children and
young people who need this level of support, which will be beneficial for Yorkshire
and the Humber.

e The Education Committee Inquiry (2016) identified how children who are looked-
after face significant challenges in getting access to mental health support.

e The Department for Education (DfE) has published guidance for schools such as
‘Mental Health and Behaviour in Schools (2014) and the ‘Blueprint for counselling
services, (2015)".

e The DfE also launched initiatives such as the MindEd website to support
professionals to identify signs of mental health problems in children and to get them
the support they need.

e The 2014 Children and Families Act introduced reforms to services for children and
young people with all kinds of Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND),
including mental health needs.

Page 98



NHS igiLeeds

e The term Social, Emotional and Mental Health needs (SEMH) replaced the term
behaviour difficulties in the SEN code of practice (2014). The reforms sought to
empower families in decision-making about the services they use, and to speed up
and simplify access to support.

What will we do?

1. Develop a strong programme of prevention that recognises how the first 1001 days of life
impacts on mental health and wellbeing from infancy to adulthood. In Leeds this is
delivered through our Best Start Plan.

2. Work with young people, families and schools to build knowledge and skills in emotional
resilience and to support self-help.

3. Continue to work across health, education and social care to deliver local early help
services for children and young people with emotional and mental health needs who
require additional support.

4. Commit to ensuring there is a clear Leeds offer of the support and services available and
guidance on how to access these.

5. Deliver a Single Point of Access for referrals that works with the whole Leeds system of
mental health services so that we enable children and young people to receive the support
they need, as soon as possible.

6. Ensure vulnerable children and young people receive the support and services they need,
recognising that this is often through mental health practitioners working alongside
education, social care or third sector colleagues in multi-disciplinary teams (current
examples in Leeds being The Market Place, the Therapeutic Social Work Service, and Youth
Offending Service).

7. Ensure there is a coherent citywide response to children and young people in mental
health crisis.

8. Invest in transformation of our specialist education settings to create world class provision.

9. Work with children and young people who have mental health needs as they grow up and
support them in their transition into adult support and services.

10. Establish a city-wide Children and Young People’s Community Eating Disorder Service in
line with national standards and access targets.

11. Improve the quality of our support and services across the partnership through evidence
based interventions, increased children and young people participation and shared
methods of evidencing outcomes.

The Future in Mind: Leeds Local Transformation Plan is the implementation plan underpinning
this strategy and should be read alongside it.

Page 99



NHS

Behaviours and cross-cutting themes

Our local reviews, which captured the views of Leeds children, young people, families and
professionals, have informed our strategy and plan.

The three behaviours that underpin everything:

a) We will listen to the voices of children and young people in supporting and planning
their care.

b)  We will work restoratively: doing things with children, young people and families
instead of to them, for them or doing nothing.

c) We will regularly check that the support is helping and making a difference.

Cross cutting themes:

a) We recognise that improving the Social Emotional and Mental Health of children and
young people in Leeds needs everyone to play their part.

b) We will work together to plan and deliver our strategy and make best use of our
collective resources to improve the experience and outcomes of children and young
people with social emotional mental health and wellbeing support needs.

c) Indirect response to the request from children and young people we will maximise the
opportunities digital technologies offer us, whilst safeguarding children and young
people from some of the risks the internet poses.

Accountability

To help make this happen we have a Health and Wellbeing Board, Children and Families
Trust Board and a Leeds Safeguarding Children Board. They bring key strategic partners
together from the main organisations working with children and young people to make sure
we are doing what we should to deliver our Children and Young People’s Plan and to keep
children safe.

We also have strong local partnerships. There are 25 clusters around groups of schools, a
Special Inclusive Learning Centre cluster and Area Inclusion Partnerships that have
membership from; schools, governors, children’s social care, police, Leeds City Council
youth service, Youth Offending Service, children’s centres, housing services and locally
elected members.

Integral to the delivery of the strategy is a clear governance structure, which is included as
appendix A.

Page 100



NHS igiLeeds

We recognise the pressures on the public purse and this strategy requires us all to work
together to make best use of the Leeds £. Our strong focus on prevention and developing
emotional resilience, and our emphasis on supporting staff groups across our educational
settings is critical to this. This not only makes economical sense but also improves the
experience and outcomes of our children and young people. In addition to this, having our
local early help and targeted services as integral to the wider network of services in the city
ensures that children and young people in need of specialist help are seen more quickly.

How will we know we’ve made a difference?

The ambition of the Leeds Children and Young People’s Plan is to become the best city for
children and young people to grow up in, a “child friendly city” where:

e All children and young people are safe from harm.

e All children and young people do well at all levels of learning and have skills for life.
e All children and young people enjoy healthy lifestyles.

e All children and young people are happy and have fun growing up.

e All children and young people are active citizens.

Alongside these ambitions the Future in Mind: Leeds Local Transformation Plan has a series
of indictors that will measure our achievement on each of the priorities. Using these and
other key indictors a dashboard is being developed for the Future in Mind: Leeds
Programme Board. The Board will use this dashboard to measure the success of the
strategy. This will be supported by the local work with the Child Outcomes Research
Consortium (CORC). CORC are the UK'’s leading organisation that collects and uses evidence
to improve children and young people’s mental health and wellbeing.

Critical to the delivery of this strategy is working with and listening to children and young
people and their families. This is reflected across all priorities in the Local Transformation
Plan. And finally, ultimately the voice of the child and young person will inform us if we
have been successful.

Page 101



é‘j
= C1TY COUNCIL

Glossary

A&E: Accident and Emergency department

ACE: Adverse Childhood Experiences

AIP: Area Inclusion Partnerships

AMHS: Adult Mental Health Services

ARMS: At Risk Mental State

BME: Black and ethnic minority

CAMHS: Child and adolescent mental health services

CBT: Cognitive Behavioural Therapy

CBTp: Cognitive Behavioural Therapy for psychosis

CCG: Clinical Commissioning Group

CEDS: Community Eating Disorder Service

CEDS-CYP: Children and Young People’s Community Eating Disorder Service
CLA: Children who are looked after

CORC: Child Outcomes Research Consortium

CORE 24: the core 24 hour a day service standards for people experiencing a mental health
crisis

CSWS: Children’s Social Work Service

CSWS EDT: Children’s Social Work Service Emergency Duty Team

CYP: Children and young people

CYP-IAPT: Improving Access to Psychological Therapies for young people
CYPP: Leeds Children and Young People’s Plan

DfE: Department for Education

DH: Department of Health

ED: Eating Disorder

EIP: Early Intervention in Psychosis

FE: Further Education

G&S: Guidance and Support multi professional meeting

HOPE: Harnessing Outcomes, Participation and Evidence

HWBB: Health and Wellbeing Board

Page 102



?«_i
= C1TY COUNCIL

HNA: Health Needs Assessment

IMHS: Infant Mental Health Service

FiM: Future in Mind

LCC: Leeds City Council

LD: Learning Difficulties

LGBT: Lesbian, gay bisexual and transgender
LTHT: Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust

LTP: Local Transformation Plan

LYPFT: Leeds and York Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
Mindwell: The adult information portal website
MM: MindMate

MST: Multi-systemic Therapy

MM SPA: Mindmate Single Point of Access
NCCMH: National Collaborating Centre for Mental Health
NEET: Not in education, employment or training
NHS: Nation Health Service

NICE: National Institute of Clinical Excellence
NHSE: NHS England

OMG: One Minute Guides

PHSE: Personal, Social, Health and Economic
PNMH: Perinatal mental health

S136: Section 136 assessment suites

SDQ: Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire
SEMH: Social, emotional and mental health

SEN: Special educational needs

SEND: Special educational needs and disability
SILC: Specialist Inclusion Learning Centres

SPA: Single Point of Access

STP: Leeds Sustainability and Transformation Plan

TaMHS: Targeted Mental Health in Schools Project

Page 103



NHS Leeds

TCP: Transforming Care Programme1

Tier 4: Inpatient beds for young people

TMP: The Market Place, a city centre based third sector organisation
TSWS: Therapeutic Social Work Servicer

York MBSR: York Mindfulness Based Stress Reduction

YOS: Youth Offending Service

UNICEF: United Nations International Children's Emergency Fund
WHO: World Health Organisation

L TCP aims to improve services for people (all age) with learning disabilities and/or autism,
who display behaviour that challenges, including those with a mental health condition.

Page 104



é‘j
= C1TY COUNCIL

References

Future in Mind Leeds, Health Needs Assessment, 2016, can be found at (to be completed
once published)

Leeds Best Start Plan, 2015-16 can be found at
http://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/documents/s126845/10%202%20Best%20Start%20Plan%20lI
ong%20version%20FINAL%20VERSION%20for%20HWB%20Board%204%202%202015.pdf

Leeds Children and Young People’s Plan, 2015-19, can be found at
http://www.leeds.gov.uk/docs/CYPP.pdf

Leeds Future in Mind Local Transformation Plan, 2016 — 2020, can be found at (to be
completed once published)

Leeds Joint Strategic Needs Assessment, 2015, can be found
at http://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/documents/s131982/10%201%20JSNA%20May%2007%2
Odraft%20v15.pdf

Leeds Special Educational Needs and Disabilities Strategy can be found at
http://www.leeds.gov.uk/docs/SENDStrategy2014 2017.pdf

Leeds Sustainability and Transformation Plan, 2016-2021, can be found at (to be completed
once published)

World Health Organisation, 2012, can be found
at http://www.who.int/mental health/mhgap/risks to mental health EN 27 08 12.pdf

Page 105


http://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/documents/s126845/10%202%20Best%20Start%20Plan%20long%20version%20FINAL%20VERSION%20for%20HWB%20Board%204%202%202015.pdf
http://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/documents/s126845/10%202%20Best%20Start%20Plan%20long%20version%20FINAL%20VERSION%20for%20HWB%20Board%204%202%202015.pdf
http://www.leeds.gov.uk/docs/CYPP.pdf
http://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/documents/s131982/10%201%20JSNA%20May%2007%20draft%20v15.pdf
http://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/documents/s131982/10%201%20JSNA%20May%2007%20draft%20v15.pdf
http://www.leeds.gov.uk/docs/SENDStrategy2014_2017.pdf
http://www.who.int/mental_health/mhgap/risks_to_mental_health_EN_27_08_12.pdf

Future in Mind: Leeds 2016-2020

A strategy to improve the social, emotional,

Priorities

1. Focus on the first 1001 days

Building emotional resilience

Early Help services for CYP with SEMH

needs

Clear and published Local Offer

Single Point of Access and swift

response

Integrated and targeted approach for

vulnerable children

Children in mental health crisis

Create world class specialist education

provision

Transition to adult services

10. Community Eating Disorder Service

11. Improve the quality of support and
services

w N

0 N goT@™beqyu &

©

mental health and wellbeing of

children and young people aged 0 -25 years

Vision
Our vision is to develop a culture
where talking about feelings and
emotions is the norm, where it is
acceptable to acknowledge
difficulties and ask for help and

where those with more serious
problems are quickly supported by
people with skills to support those
needs.

School investment via clusters £1.5 million

Core annual service spend here across partnership:£10.3 million
New investment: LCC £45million for specialist educational buildings
New Investment: NHS CCGs £1.5 million for support and services
Investment in primary prevention £0.5 million
High Needs Block investment to AIP’s £6.5million

v Leeds

Increased number of women identified and
receiving perinatal mental health support
Schools and Children Centres with
MindMate champion accreditation

CYP supported through Early Help services
Swift access to support

Increased attainments of CYP with SEMH
Increase in school attendance

Increased number of vulnerable groups
accessing services (e.g. Children Looked
After)

Hospital admissions for CYP in crisis reduce
Reduction in out of authority education
placements

Reduction in NEET

. CYP have improved mental health following

support and interventions

MindMate

Cross Cutting Themes

* Listening to the voice of CYP and their families
*  We will regularly monitor that support is helping and making a difference
*  Regularly communicate to all stakeholders

e — C | TY COUNCIL




Appendix 2

Future in Mind: Leeds (Local Transformation Plan, 2016 — 2020)

This plan should be read in conjunction with the Future in Mind Leeds Strategy; this is the implementation plan of that strategy. This plan sets out achievements to date and
the key deliverables to be delivered in 2016/17, 2017/18 through to 2018/19 and will be refreshed on an annual basis. This plan is supported by the publication of headline
information on spend, activity and workforce for 2014/15 and 2015/16 (Appendix 1).

Priority 1 - Develop a strong programme of prevention that recognises how the first 1001 days of life impacts on mental health and wellbeing from childhood through to

adulthood

Leadership Team

Achievements to Date

Key Deliverables for 2016/17

Key Deliverables for 2017/18 2018/19

Sharon Yellin/
Jane Mischenko/
Andrea
Richardson

/0T abed

Joint clinics/ training and protocols between
obstetrician, specialist midwife and perinatal
mental health (PNMH) psychiatrist in LTHT

HNA PNMH completed

Additional psychology resource commissioned for
2016/17 as part of Infant Mental Health Service

Emotional and Mental Health (MindMate) links in
children’s centres in place

Implementation of Best Beginnings Baby Buddy
app (with localised information) as part of
Northern impact study

Infant Mental Health Service (IMHS) funded by
LYPFT to work with Leeds PNMH Mother and Baby
unit

Inaugural Baby Week (UNICEF) held in Leeds during
September

Delivery of Leeds Baby Steps programme (targeted
perinatal education programme for families with
additional needs)

Publish revised PNMH pathway (universal through
to specialist) January 2017

Anti-stigma campaign (PNMH) finalised and
commenced January 2017

Digitalise and launch Understanding Your Baby into
Baby Buddy app (with Best Beginnings) March
2017

Evaluation report of Best Beginnings
implementation

Target IMHS attachment training to adult mental
health professionals

Work with MindMate links in children’s centres to
develop MindMate accredited Champion settings

Workforce development plan to support
implementation of PNMH pathway agreed
and commenced

Re-procurement of 0-19 Healthy Child
Pathway services (delivery of priorities
within Best Start Plan and PNMH pathway
will be integral to this)

Revised children’s centre offer in the city
(MindMate Champion accreditation integral
to this)

New Models of Care for practices with high
levels of vulnerable children and families
(safeguarding), aiming to break the
intergenerational cycle of ACE*”

* ACE: Adverse Childhood Experiences evidenced to impact on whole life outcomes and into the next generation



20091553_1
Typewritten Text
Appendix 2


Priority 1 Continued

Child and Young People & Parent Voice:
Co-production of PNMH pathway and offer with women and families

Key performance Indicator:

Placeholder: Additional number of women receiving specialist perinatal care compared to baseline
% of Children’s Centres with MindMate Links

% of Children’s Centres with MindMate Champion accreditation

Workforce:

PNMH workforce development plan

IMHS training programme

MindMate Champion subsidised training offer
Think Family training

Priority 2 - Work with young people, families and schools to build knowledge and skills in emotional resilience and to support self-help

Leadership Team | Achievements to Date Key Deliverables for 2016/17 Key Deliverables for 2017/18 2018/19
Sharon Yellin/ Val | MindMate website co-produced with young people | Further animations about the services in Leeds Develop further the self-care/interactive
Waite/ Ruth — provides details of support in the city, (narrative | added to MindMate website March 2017 games and tools component of the
Gordon and animations), information and self-help tools — MindMate website
g'? see mindmate.org.uk New issues pages added to MindMate website i.e.,
Lg “angry, body image, feeling different” (content Accreditation of MindMate Champion
R Parent page of MindMate website (developed with | reflects MindMate Lessons curriculum content) settings to commence
8 parents and carers) uploaded
Anti-Stigma (local Time to Change) plan agreed (co- | Interactive MindMaze board and digital tool
Emotional and Mental Health (MindMate) Links in produced with CYP) and commenced December launched in 2017/18
all schools 2016 (Space2 provider)
Work with regional NHSE Clinical Network to
School Health Check tool for schools to self-assess | School assessment visits as part of MindMate develop competencies for school workforce
if MindMate friendly and able to go for Champion accreditation to commence
accreditation as MindMate Champion setting Commissioned Evaluation of anti-stigma
completed Publication of MindMate Champion subsidised campaign: reports October 2017

training offer to schools November 2016

Rollout of MindMate Lessons (PHSE
curriculum) across schools to commence.

Feasibility study of Mindfulness in schools

Complete content / lesson plans of the MindMate
programme completed

Lessons (PHSE curriculum for social, emotional and
mental health) — free to schools March 2017

Conference on emotional resilience delivered by Launch of Trylife play early in 2017/18
Boing Boing and local leaders in Education Test schools for pilot of MindMate Lessons
Psychology held in October (250 front line school curriculum identified — pilot to commence October | York MBSR to produce a Mindfulness in

and social care staff attended) 2016




Priority 2 — continued

Leadership Team | Achievements to Date

Key Deliverables for 2016/17

Key Deliverables for 2017/18 2018/19

Children’s Social Care established Family Group
Conferencing

Restorative approaches being used to engage with
families to come up with solutions to problems

“Fix This” a one woman play and workshop to raise
awareness and coping strategies for self-harm to
tour 20 schools in autumn term

An adapted version of the ‘Headspace’ course
targeting parents to improve whole family
wellbeing to be piloted via 4 primary schools —
commencing September 2016. Delivered by Oblong
(Impact on CYP emotional wellbeing will be by pre
and post SDQ)

Schools programme (co-produced with 5
primary schools, a SILC and FE college and 2
secondary schools) by July 2017

Mindfulness in Schools pilot reports March
2018

Child and Young People’s Voice:

CYP integral to development of MindMate self help tools and games

ix This’ play developed in consultation with CYP
Q@ontent of anti-stigma campaigns to be led by CYP

Content, design and development of MindMate website led from the start by CYP

.MindMate Lessons (curriculum) content informed by what CYP said was critical

&y Performance Indicators:
umber of MindMate website visits

% of schools with MindMate links
% of schools to achieve MindMate Champion accreditation

Placeholder: MindMate website indicator — linked to use of self help tools/resources

Workforce:
MindMate Champions programme
Resource pack of practical tools to promote resilience to be produced




Priority 3 - Continue to work across health, education and social care to deliver local early help services for children and young people with emotional and mental
health needs who require additional support

Leadership Team

Achievements to Date

Key Deliverables for 2016/17

Key Deliverables for 2017/18 2018/19

Jane Mischenko/
Val Waite/
Siobhan/ Sal Tariq

OTT 9bed

25 school clusters in place across the city and all
have an early help offer, commissioned from a
range of NHS and 3" sector providers for CYP with
SEMH needs.

Pilot of CCG contributing additional funds to school
cluster offer commenced 2015/16

Database for reporting of SEMH needs and service
activity in school clusters developed

First report (6-months of data) delivered to
programme board September 2016

Agreed pilot sites for testing school cluster/
CAMHS liaison models September 2016

Provider Network established across the whole
system — first meeting September 2016

Established the SEMH Pathways Panel to support
improved learning pathways for children and
young people at risk of exclusion

12 months data from school clusters due October
2016. Report to Programme Board due January
2017

Review most effective mechanism to ensure
sustainable early help offer by March 2017

Pilot of rapid access to counselling at The Market
Place (city centre 3" sector provision) report
March 2017

Develop a city-wide partnership approach to
alternative educational provision for SEMH in
Leeds

Strengthen the relationship between clusters and
Area Inclusion Partnerships to improve the core
offer of targeted support for children, young
people and families

Early Surrport teams to be led by social workers to
provide coordinated support for children, young
people nad their families

Children’s Social Care to review services for
adolescents

Clear commissioning framework for NHS,
LCC and schools in the city to deliver early
help offer (will need to be agile in
recognition of changing and variable forms
of school networks) June 2017

Joint commissioning of The Market Place
by NHS and LCC for youth work and
counselling provision from April 2017

Review protected groups and ensure early
help offer in Leeds accessible and

acceptable for them — address if inequity

Pilot of social workers in clusters

Children and Young People Voice:
Consultation of CYP in Leeds by Youthwatch and Young Minds identified need for local accessible services 2015

Key Performance Indicators:

Spend on CYP mental health by NHS, LCC and schools
Numbers of CYP accessing early help mental health service (defined as from qualified mental health practitioner — cluster and third sector)
Numbers of CYP starting treatment in NHS funded community CAMHS
Reduction in % of CYP excluded from school (permanent and fixed term exclusions)




Priority 3— continued

Leadership Team | Achievements to Date

Key Deliverables for 2016/17

Key Deliverables for 2017/18 2018/19

Improvement in Attendance

Improvement in Achievement
Placeholder: increased % alternative provision categorised as good or outstanding
Placeholder:% of key protected groups accessing early help service and education measures as above (i.e. Children who are Looked After, BME, CYP in youth justice system,

LGBT)

Workforce: SEMH Pathway Panel briefings for schools and targeted services

Priority 4 - Commit to ensuring there is a clear Leeds Offer of the support and services available and guidance on how to access these

Leadership Team

Achievements to Date

Key Deliverables for 2016/17

Key Deliverables for 2017/18 2018/19

Barbara Newton/
Ruth Gordon/
Chris Sutton

TTT abed

Single Leeds strategy (Future in Mind Leeds)
incorporating requirements of Future in Mind (DH)
and SEND/ SEMH (DfE) and refreshed LTP is the
plan that drives the delivery of this

The current Leeds offer of available support and
services and how to access these is published as
part of the SEND LCC Local Offer and is integral to
the MindMate website

Easy to understand animations of services are
available on the MindMate website

Communication Plan agreed at Programme Board,
March 2017

One Minute Guides available for professionals on
support and services on offer and how to access,
March 2017

Local Offer reviewed and updated at least
annually

Children and Young People Voice:
Consultation with CYP by Youthwatch and Young Minds (2015) informed priorities of Local Offer
Common Room supported to work with CYP to have CYP version of Future in Mind Leeds Strategy

Key Performance Indicators:

Workforce:

Strategy launch and briefings
Cascade of One Minute Guides
Quarterly Newsletter to health, education and social care staff




Priority 5 - Deliver a Single Point of Access (SPA) to include assessment and an initial response for referrals that works with the whole Leeds system of mental health
services to enable children and young people to receive the support they need, as soon as possible

Leadership Team

Achievements to Date

Key Deliverables for 2016/17

Key Deliverables for 2017/18 2018/19

Jane Mischenko
/Nick Wood

The ‘MindMate SPA’ as a whole system referral
management system was launched in January 2016

Monthly reports are received on the number of
CYP referred through the SPA, and of the end
service destination

Mitigation additional funds were provided to The
Market Place and to clusters receiving high
numbers of referrals September 2016

Embed systems for the MindMate SPA and ensure
that there are effective operational relationships
for referral management

Develop the future model: with a potential to
include an assessment and initial response function
to routine referrals, as integral to the SPA redesign.
Develop and agree this revised service model (in
co-production with key stakeholders across the
system). March 2017

Embed and evaluate new service model
throughout 2017/18

Ensure restorative approach/ health
coaching model is integral the whole
system of support and service delivery

Children and Young People Voice: The SPA was created in direct response to reports by CYP and their families of difficulty of navigating the system to get support

CYP and Parents will be involved in the development of the future model

y Performance Indicators:
laceholder: Numbers managed by SPA (new model) without requiring further service response
Rlaceholder: CYP requiring further service (early help or CAMHS, etc) accessing right service swiftly (detail to be developed)

Workforce:

Restorative Practice training and Health Coaching programme

Priority 6 - Using an integrated approach to ensure vulnerable children and young people receive the support and services they need

Leadership Team

Achievements to Date

Key Deliverables for 2016/17

Key Deliverables for 2017/18 2018/19

Sal Tarig/ Jane
Mischenko/
Barbara Newton

Specialist CAMHS psychologist integrated into
Therapeutic Social Work Service (dedicated team
for children with a child protection plan and who
are in the care system)

Training (8 x SafeTALK courses and 1 x applied
Suicide Intervention Skills Training — ASSIST) is
commissioned from Community Links for delivery
to key foster carers, children’s homes residential
staff and YOS staff. 129 had attended at last report
(September 2016)

Residential course with support re emotional and
mental health delivered for care leavers and

Develop clear criteria for fast tracking from TSWS
to CAMHS

In direct response to CYP request a film is being
created to hear voice of children in care/ care
leavers. This will be used as workforce training tool
for staff across health, education and social care —
complete by March 2017

Review cost and feasibility of extended remit of
TSWS to provide support for Leeds Looked After
Children placed out of area (March 2017)

Commission and extend remit of TSWS
during 2017/18 if feasibility study results
are positive.

Work with regional colleagues in Centre of
Excellence bid to secure post adoption
therapeutic support

As part of all age Transforming Care
Programme (TCP) work to develop a
dynamic register of CYP with LD and or
autism and mental health needs at risk of
admission to an acute bed




Priority 6— continued

Leadership Team | Achievements to Date Key Deliverables for 2016/17 Key Deliverables for 2017/18 2018/19
evaluated well Ensure clear pathways of local emotional and In addition develop effective transition
mental health support as part of CYP SARC pathway as part of TCP; embed and deliver

The Market Place commissioned to specifically

pathway
offer support to care leavers from 2015/16

As part of HNA focus groups were held (by
Common Room) with key vulnerable groups
(Gypsy/Traveller group, Youth Muslim forum and
LGBT group) Report to be published October 2016

Embedded CAMHS nurses (4) within YOS team.
Work taken place within 2016 to enable fast track
to specialist CAMHS support if required

Leeds MST supports chronic and violent offenders
working in their system of homes and families,
schools and teachers, neighbourhoods and friends.

CCG co-commissioning 2-year pilot of targeted
mental health support in place with SILC cluster
commenced in 2016/17

€TT abed

Community Treatment Reviews as required
and deliver early support and intervention
of CYP and their families (detailed in Leeds
TCP)

Pilot emotional and mental health support
for unaccompanied asylum seekers who
are children, utilising art/therapy approach

A focus on transforming outcomes for
young people who offend (or are at risk of
doing so), who have special educational
needs, through supporting professionals to
bring about a culture and behaviour
change around effective SEND joint
working

Work with NHSE to explore transfer of
commissioning of secure CAMHS Outreach
Service from NHSE to CCGs (with funding
stream to support)

Children and Young People Voice:
Targeted focus groups held in 20116 with vulnerable CYP as part of the Future in Mind HNA
CYP in the care system part of workshop December 2015 to improve support for children who are looked after and care leavers

Key Performance Indicators:
Placeholder: Increased % of vulnerable groups accessing services (CLA, YOS, LD)

Workforce:

Film of CYP in the care system for use in workforce development
Safe TALK training

ASSIST training




Priority 7 - Ensure there is a coherent citywide response to children and young people in mental health crisis

Leadership Team

Achievements to Date

Key Deliverables for 2016/17

Key Deliverables for 2017/18 2018/19

Jane Mischenko/
Sal Tarig/ Jane
Williams

yTT abed

As part of CORE 24 work pump priming is
supporting new posts - Specialist Practitioners in
liaison psychiatry are working in emergency
departments (out of hours) with all-age (16+)

CAMHS continue to deliver a four hour response to
those young people presenting in emergency
department in crisis (self-harm/ psychosis)

Section 136 Suite for CYP opened in Leeds 2016

2 years since a CYP has been held in a police cell
when in mental health crisis in Leeds

Key event held with stakeholders (across
emergency services, health, education and social
care) to initiate work-stream to review and
improve whole system response to CYP in mental
health crisis September 2016

All age EIP service in Leeds for ages 14-65 seen
within 2 weeks of referral and receiving a package
of care. Work undertaken with regional clinical
network to benchmark service against NICE
recommended treatment and standards (current
absence of sufficient CBTp and ARMS service

Leeds is a relatively low user of inpatient Tier 4
beds, facilitated through the on-going investment
in the outreach team, as part of the core CAMHS
offer

Working group to commence review of whole
system offer early in 2017: Key components which
will be informed by the soon to be published
NCCMH national guidance are:

e Data pack (of needs, activity and performance)

e Co-produced with CYP and parents

e Swift access to mental health assessment and
handover (in and out of normal hours)

e Effective integration/use of all existing
resource (CSWS EDT, AMHS, Police response,
CAMHS self-harm rota and intensive outreach
team) to create the service model

e Explore safe haven provision (alternative to
A&E)

e Ensure all practitioners aware of local pathway

Staff training programme in place for EIP service

Continue to work across the whole system
to ensure that there is an effective and
compassionate response to young people
in mental health crisis 24 hours a day —
working group to make recommendations
to Programme Board by September 2017

Further development of EIP service to
deliver access to CBTp and ARMS service

Child and Young People Voice:
Co-production with CYP and their families will be integral to the work-stream to improve the response in the city to CYP in crisis




Priority 7 — continued

Key Performance Indicators:
Hospital admissions for self-harm rate per 100,000 0-17 (inclusive)
Number of CYP s136 detentions taken to police cell as a place of safety

Number of CYP held in suite 136 in mental health crisis

Number of CYP admitted to paediatric bed in mental health crisis
Placeholder: Number of CYP in adult in-patient wards
Placeholder: Number of CYP bed days in adult in-patient wards
Number of CYP in tier 4 bed per CYP population

Number of CYP bed days in tier 4

Workforce:

Training and protocols in place between CAMHS and acute paediatric settings (A&E and paediatric wards)
Training and protocols in development between new A&E mental health practitioners (core24) and CAMHS
Further workforce development plan to be integral to final report of the review

EIP training programme

Priority 8 - Invest in transformation of our specialist education settings to create world class provision.

keadership Team | Achievements to Date Key Deliverables for 2016/17 Key Deliverables for 2017/18 2018/19
Sndrew LCC committed to invest £45 million into new Start the building projects in creating capacity of Complete the building projects in creating
Pastwood/ buildings for specialist SEMH places 340 specialist SEMH places in Leeds (4-19yrs capacity of 340 specialist SEMH places in
E’arbara Newton/ provision) Leeds
&’/-Iiv Buckland Converted specialist SEMH provision to the

Springwell Academy Leeds Increased primary school capacity October 2016 Site completion by:

East: January 2018
South: April 2018
North: September 2018

Child and Young People Voice:

Key Performance Indicators:

Reduction in CYP being placed out of authority for education
Improved attendance at Specialist provision

Improved educational progress

Workforce:




Priority 9 - Work with children and young people who have mental health needs as they grow up and to support their transition into adult support and services

Leadership Team

Achievements to Date

Key Deliverables for 2016/17

Key Deliverables for 2017/18 2018/19

Jane Mischenko/
Jane Williams/
Barbara Newton/
Sal Tariq

9TT abed

Small CAMHS transition team in place for case
management of CYP into adult support and
services

Engagement with young people on “what great
looks like” for services 17+

CYP panel (16 plus) in place and advising
MindMate website content for young adults

Workshop held at FE Colleges event to map
pathways to support and promote MindMate
website and resources

Commissioned a play on transition from primary to
secondary school

Pilot in the student medical practice supporting
university students, with mental health liaison
workers delivering early intervention support

The Market Place and Leeds Mind part of national
pilot testing out peer to peer support model (led
by young adult with life experience)

Report received by Programme Board on peer to
peer support models and use of digital media

Young Adults page developed with MindMate 16
plus panel to support transition with young people
and linked to adult MindWell portal November
2016

Tour and evaluate the play (on transitions between
primary and secondary schools)

Determine model of peer to peer support for
young people in Leeds, March 2017

Adult mental health services to establish a young
people champions

SEMH Pathway Panel to ensure transition points
are well managed and tracked to support children
to continue to make progress

To work on pathway for young people at the point
of transition who are in Tier 4 beds, to create a
protocol to support those in most urgent need of
care (Working with adult and children
commissioners, including NHSE as commissioner of
Tier S beds)

Identify mechanisms to increase the
flexibility of the pathways between CAMHS
and adult mental health services for the
transition of young people between
services

Increase the range of options available to
young people in primary care for mental
health support

Child and Young People Voice:

MindMate page for young adults developed by CYP
CYP members of the transition task and finish group
A Young Person is key in the leadership of the testing of the THRU peer support model

Key Performance Indicators:
Reduction in CYP NEET

Numbers of CYP supported by the CAMHS transition team to adult service support
Numbers of CYP champions in Adult Mental Health Services

Workforce:

Training programme for Young People Champions in adult mental health services
MindMate Links training and accreditation will support this agenda

10



Priority 10 - Establish a city-wide Community Eating Disorder Service in line with national standards and access targets

Leadership Team

Achievements to Date

Key Deliverables for 2016/17

Key Deliverables for 2017/18 2018/19

Nick Wood

LTT abed

The service model, pathway and funding is agreed
for a Leeds service commissioned by the 3 Leeds
CCGs

Children and young people are receiving the
agreed pathway of care

Recruitment is complete and staff co-located

Experienced and interested paediatricians within
the acute trust are identified

The provider is reporting into the national baseline
data collection process

Both parents and CYP are involved in the service
development

An interim service specification is in place

A training programme for universal settings, such
as school-based staff, is underway

Embed the pathways for young people to, and
within the Community Eating Disorder Service

Secure sustainable base for the service

Offer training to universal staff to support
identification and response to people with
suspected eating disorder including primary care

50% of staff in CEDS to commence training to be
accredited in Family Based Therapy March 2017

Transition pathways agreed with adult mental
health providers of Eating Disorder Services, March
2017

Ensure that the Community Eating Disorder
Service meets national standards and
access targets

Work to optimise impact of CEDS-CYP to
reduce crisis and inpatient admissions (and
monitor the same)

Child and Young People Voice:

CYP involved in recruitment of CEDS-CYP staff

CYP and parents involved in development of the service
CYP informed content of MindMate website on body image

Key Performance Indicators:
Placeholder: Proportion of CYP with ED seen within 1 week (urgent) or 4 weeks (routine)

Spend on CEDS-CYP

Number of CYP with eating disorder admitted to tier 4 bed

Number of CYP with eating disorder supported by intensive outreach team

Workforce:

Training programme for universal staff in schools
Primary care targeted communication and training
CEDS-CYP specialist team training programme

11



Priority 11 - Improve the quality of our support and services across the partnership through evidence based interventions, increased CYP participation and shared
methods of evidencing outcomes

Leadership Team

Achievements to Date

Key Deliverables for 2016/17

Key Deliverables for 2017/18 2018/19

Jane Mischenko/
Steve Walker/
Peter Storrie

8TT abed

Leeds NHS CAMHS is part of the CYP-IAPT (since
wave 3)

Leeds is part of the CORC national pilot to develop
cross-sector outcomes and data linkage across
services involved in children and young people’s
mental health and wellbeing

Further investment has been made by Leeds to
increase support from the CORC and EBPU centre
for this priority

A conference took place in March 2016 to formally
launch this work

A formal steering group is established, named
HOPE (Harnessing Outcomes, Participation and
Evidence)

Commissioned HNA to be published November
2016

Develop resource explaining Leeds methods of
outcome measurement across the system

Future in Mind: Leeds Dashboard first draft
produced March, 2017

Consultation of CYP, parents and professionals re:
CYP mental health support and services
(coordinated by Youthwatch and Common Room)
underway and reports before March 2017

CORC works with 3 clusters, the TSWS and NHS
CAMHS to identify issues around recording
outcomes in individual services, and using them to
greatest effect to improve service quality

Partnership workshops held in local areas
to promote importance of Evidence Based
Practice and outcomes and share useful
resources

All emotional health services are recording
outcome data of some kind, and all
services have clear statements of the high
level outcomes they seek to achieve by end
of 2018

Explore data linkage and unique identifier
i.e., NHS number opportunities

Child and Young People Voice:
Commitment that CYP participation is integral to our definition of quality to agree care plan and goals

Key Performance Indicators:
Future in Mind Dashboard will provide overview of progress in Leeds of the strategy and plan

Placeholder: proportion of CYP showing reliable improvement in outcomes following mental health service intervention
Placeholder: proportion of CYP meeting their mutually agreed goals against number of CYP accessing services

Workforce:

Numbers of staff completing CYP-IAPT courses
Delivery of workshops to local areas/cluster promoting evidence base, participation and value of outcome monitoring

12



Communication and governance

In delivering the plan we need to:

Engage young people and families to co-produce communication to ensure we use a language they understand
Effectively communicate with all key partners, including frontline staff

Develop a workforce plan to ensure delivery of the strategy and local transformation plan

Develop a clear governance structure for the assurance of work streams through an effective Programme Board and through to the Children and Families Trust Board
and the Health and Wellbeing Board

Cross cutting themes:

We recognise that improving the Social Emotional and Mental Health of children and young people in Leeds needs everyone to play their part

We will work together to plan and deliver our strategy and make best use of our collective resources to improve the experience and outcomes of children and young

people with social emotional mental health needs.

3. In direct response to the request from children and young people we will maximise the opportunities digital technologies offer us, whilst safeguarding children and
young people from some of the risks the Internet poses.

Y

o)

Q

®

H

|—\

©

13



Appendix 1:
Increased investment

14/15 (£) 15/16 (£) 16/17 (£)
(planned)
Core service funding for direct delivery 11,464,353 | 11,898,500 (12,128,500

(CAMHS, The Market Place, MST, school
clusters, Therapeutic Social Work Service)
and creation of the SPA

Funding in core services to pump prime 1,500,000 526,486 496,551
school cluster commissioning and
targeted waiting list initiatives across the
system of provision

Developing capacity and promoting 30,000 960,000 Not committed
resilience yet

2v)
Q

& Funding into services that support direct contact with children and young people who have social, emotional and mental health needs has increased

o between 2014/15 and 2016. In core services this amount has risen from £11.5 million recurrent spending by both the CCGs in Leeds and Leeds City

©Council to £11.9 million. This is increasing to over £12 million in the current financial year. In addition to this there is the considerable investment school
clusters are delivering over the same time period (circa £1.5 million per annum).

There have also been several examples of non-recurrent investment to support the whole system to transform. In 2014/15 this was significant with £1.5
million being devolved to local school clusters to improve their local offer to children and young people. In 2015/16 over half a million pounds has been
provided to increase face to face contacts in services with increasing waiting lists as the system responded to the introduction of the SPA.

In 2015/16 a key focus of the new investment was to develop confidence, capability and capacity across the system and especially in families and schools. The
investment on this has risen significantly from £30k in 2014/15 to £960k for 2015/16. This money will support children and young people to receive help early

in the life of their presentation of emotional health need and so ultimately help reduce escalation and a requirement for specialist services.

14



Increased numbers of Children and Young People seen:

14/15 15/16
(number (number
accepted into | accepted into
services) services)

Core service activity (CAMHS, The Market Place, 6993 7694

MST, school clusters, Therapeutic Social Work

Service)

12T abed

The MindMate Single point of Access is supporting an improved and swifter pathway from referral to the right service.

701 more children and young people are being supported by core services in the city. Some of this increase can be explained by the additional investment to
reduce waiting lists in the city for a number of core services.

Children and Young People requiring admission to a mental health bed

14/15 15/16
Occupied bed days 2089 2814
Total number of new 26 37
admissions

CCG commissioners are reviewing the current increase in need for inpatient beds and working with NHSE commissioners to understand the particular
needs presenting.



Increased numbers of mental health practitioners:

14/15 (wte 15/16 (wte
staff as of staff as of
June 2015) June 2016)
Core service workforce (CAMHS, The 125.76 163.3
Market Place, MST, school clusters, Therapeutic
Social Work Service) and SPA

2c1 abed

38 more practitioners are in place. The increased investment into services is demonstrating an increase in practitioners delivering face-to-face services to
children and young people. This increase is across a full range of staff from those delivering local psychological support into schools to those providing
counselling at the Market Place and those within specialist CAMHS.



€21 abed

Furbure in M Leeds
Programmemne Eosnd

Appendix 3

Resilience and seif

el Local cmer g pom et
Best Start stratery Primairy prevention Clustar and TSL Loszail offier review bt SPa proviceg |

Eroun Eroun matings Eroup rtwark:

..--"--'I "'.I

Peri-natal mental AIF Maragement Earty help task gron Miindmate website | | -] SPA redesign
et task: proun Somrd -] et prow Ereup
-
e o F
ity o £
= o~ £
o~ -~ !
e - /

e .__n"JI ri
o o £

Transtormation of

Mieta] Hesith Crisy our specialist 5: . :ﬂ:' Exting disorder Quality servioss
education settings -
o] l
=) Ol teeic mned finish - . - - - CAMES
] Criisis care task ard Springwell Lesds Trarsition steering v .
,.-'; grem finitsn Eroup Group Eroup ca“::f'rg [POFE Steening Eroug
=] WO sk proun Pesemr bo T
working proup
¥
P —— il ame crisis worky
— | Partnenmin Eroups
SEMH pattway
el

This is supported by embedded processes for co-production with children and young people and their families, a communication plan and a workforce development plan.



20091553_2
Typewritten Text
Appendix 3


This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Iltem 13

Report author: Dr lan C ,
Leeds Health & et o Pus e
Wellbeing Board

Report of:  Dr lan Cameron, Director of Public Health
Reportto: The Leeds Health and Wellbeing Board
Date: 20 October 2016

Subject: The Director of Public Health Annual Report 2016

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion X Yes [ ] No
and integration?

Is the decision eligible for Call-In? [ ] Yes > No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information? [ ] Yes X No
If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:

Summary of main issues

This year, 2016, both marks the 150" anniversary of the first Medical Officer of Health in
Leeds, and the launch of the five year Leeds Health & Well Being Strategy 2016 — 2021.
This year’s digital Annual Report is entitled “1866-2016: 150 years of Public Health in
Leeds — a story of continuing challenges”. The report includes a film presentation and slide
pack covering the first 150 years of Public Health in Leeds; the current health status of
Leeds ahead of the next five year implementation of the Leeds Health and Wellbeing
strategy; and a progress report on the recommendations from last year’s Annual Report.

Recommendations
The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to:

e Note the availability of:

o0 This year’s digital Annual Report at www.leeds.gov.uk/dphreport

o the digital materials on 150 years of Public Health in Leeds
o Indicators on the current health status for the Leeds population

e Support the inclusion, by Leeds City Council of improving health status as a
specific objective within the new Council approach to locality working,
regeneration and the Breakthrough projects as a contribution to the delivery of
the Health & Wellbeing Strategy and the Best Council plan.

e Recommend that improving health status is a specific objective within the

development of New Models of Care being led by the NHS, as a contribution
to the delivery of the Health & Well Being Strategy.

1

Page 125


http://www.leeds.gov.uk/dphreport

11

2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4

2.5

2.6

2.7

2.8

e Note the progress made on the recommendations of the Director of Public
Health Annual Report 2014/15.

Purpose of this report

To summarise the background and content of the Director of Public Health’s
Annual Report 2016 entitled “1866-2016: 150 years of Public Health in Leeds — a
story of continuing challenges”, which this year is in a digital format.

Background information

Under the Health and Social Care Act 2012 (Section 31) the Director of Public
Health has a duty to write an annual report on the health of the population. Within
the same section of the Act, the Council has a duty to publish the report.

This year’s digital Annual Report looks to the past, the present and the future and
is different to the usual format of a single hard copy report.

In terms of the past, this year, 2016, marks the 150™ anniversary of the first
Medical Officer of Health in Leeds. This appointment was made in 1866, ahead of
this being made a statutory requirement for urban areas under the 1872 Public
Health Act. Directors of Public Health are the direct descendent from those days.

The Annual Reports of the Medical Officer of Health became a statutory
requirement under the 1875 Public Health Act but the Leeds Medical Officers of
Health had produced such reports for earlier years.

The Annual Reports of the Leeds Medical Officers of Health and Directors of
Public Health are held at Leeds Central Library and over 150 years provide an
insight and a story into the different public health challenges faced by different
postholders.

This year’'s Annual report includes a film and slide pack of a presentation given by
the Director of Public Health on October 1* at the Thackray Medical Museum
covering the first 150 years of Public Health in Leeds. In addition there is an
accompanying trail through the Thackray Medical museum with a focus on the
role of immunisation to the present day.

In April 2016, the Leeds Health & Wellbeing Board launched the Leeds Health &
Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2021 looking ahead to implementation over the next five
years. This year’s Annual report includes the present position for Leeds on the
health status indicators set out in the Leeds Health & Wellbeing Strategy. A
comparison with the position for England as a whole sets outs the future
challenge for Leeds if we are to realise the Strategy’s ambition “to be the best city
for health & wellbeing and wider Best Council Plan outcomes, notably for
everyone in Leeds to enjoy happy, healthy, active lives”.

This year’s report also includes an update on progress on the recommendations
from last year’s report.

2

Page 126



3.1

3.2

3.2.1

3.2.2

3.2.3

3.24

3.25

3.2.6

3.2.7

3.2.8

Main issues

1866 — 2016: 150 years of Public Health in Leeds — a story of continuing
challenges

The following sections cover the three elements of this year’s annual report.
1866-2016: 150 years of Public Health in Leeds.

The first Medical Officer of Health for Leeds was appointed in 1866.0n October 1
the Director of Public Health gave a presentation at the Thackray Medical
Museum on the first 150 years of Public Health in Leeds. Using their previous
Annual Reports, the presentation covered the different roles, priorities,
personalities and experiences of the Medical Officers of Health/Directors of Public
Health for the years 1866-1913, the First World War, the inter-war years, from the
creation of the NHS to 1973, 1974-2002 and to the present. During that time their
base has been in the Council for 111 years and in the NHS for 39 years.

The presentation is available as a film link and as a slide presentation.

That journey begins when more than one in five babies died before the age of one
year old and arrives 150 years later when Leeds has currently its lowest ever
infant mortality rate.

The presentation covers the Victoria and Edwardian era when the Leeds Medical
Officers of Health were dealing with a continuing cycle of epidemics against a
background of appalling insanitary conditions. The presentation also covers what
they believed caused these infections both before, and after, definitive evidence
that “germs” were the cause.

The First World War saw the only time that infant mortality got worse in Leeds.
This was due to the “Spanish flu” pandemic plus a measles outbreak. The
presentation covers the devastating impact that the pandemic had on the lives of
the people of Leeds.

The presentation also covers the period from 1919 to 1986 which saw
considerable national criticism of public health by academics and considers
whether those criticisms were justified for Leeds. The presentation also shows
how the stereotypes for Medical Officers of Health/Directors of Public Health have
changed over the 150 years.

The interwar years saw a significant rise in the influence of the Medical Officer of

Health and the creation, through the Council, of a state medical service for Leeds
that included taking over the Poor Law hospitals. The expectation that the Council
through the Medical Officer of Health would take on the lead for the new National

Health Service were not realised and were a major disappointment.

The Medical Officers of the 1950’s and 1960’s focused on the development of a
wide range of personal health services for mothers, children, the elderly, those

3

Page 127



3.2.9

3.2.10

3.211

3.3

3.4

3.4.1

3.4.2

3.4.3

3.4.4

3.4.5

with mental health problems, learning disabilities. Leeds Medical Officers of
Health of the past had despaired about the rise in deaths caused by cancer. The
action taken in Leeds, when the link between smoking and cancer was finally
understood, is re-assessed.

In the years up to the 1974 NHS re-organisation, the Medical Officer of Health in
Leeds lost responsibility for a number of services and ultimately transferred to the
NHS in a different, confusing role which led to a focus on the NHS and NHS
financial pressures — plus the end of Annual Reports by Medical Officers of
Health.

The subsequent reduction in the role of Public Health and the loss of expertise
became highlighted as a national problem through the disastrous handling of a
salmonella outbreak at Stanley Royd Hospital, the emergence of Legionnaire’s
disease and HIV/AIDS.

The presentation covers the subsequent creation of Directors of Public Health, the
re-instatement of annual reports, the swine flu pandemic and the subsequent
move to the Council under the latest NHS re-organisation.

To supplement this presentation the Thackray Medical Museum with Public Health
has developed a trail in the museum that links the timeline of Public Health in
Leeds with a focus on immunisation going up to the present day.

Improving the Health status of Leeds beyond 2016

The Leeds Health & Wellbeing Strategy 2016 — 2021 was launched in April 2016.
The strategy is described as a blueprint how the best conditions are to be put in
place in Leeds for people to live fulfilling lives. The vision being that Leeds is a
healthy and caring city for all ages, where people who are the poorest will improve
their health the fastest.

The strategy has a wide remit with five outcomes twelve priority areas and twenty
one indicators. Seven of these indicators are directly related to health status.

The Leeds Health & Wellbeing Strategy has as its ambition to be the best city for
health & wellbeing — but how will we know we have achieved this? There are 69
cities in the United Kingdom. Leeds has the second largest city population with
the range down to the 1,841 people living in St David’'s in Wales. A comparison
across 69 cities is probably not appropriate.

So 2016 marks the beginning of our five year journey with the new Leeds Health
and Wellbeing Strategy. Let's imagine that the first Medical Officer of Health for
Leeds was now arriving. He or she would want to hear our latest position against
the seven health status indicators set out in the strategy alongside key indicators
that relate to those Public Health issues described as priorities within the same
strategy (Appendix 1).

Even a cursory glance at Appendix 1 highlights the scale of the challenge for
Leeds. We might take a defensive position with the new first Medical Officer of

4

Page 128



3.4.6

3.5

3.5.1

3.5.2

3.5.3

3.54

3.5.5

3.5.6

3.5.7

Health and describe how many of the trends for health are going in the right
direction (true) and that we can demonstrate examples of where we are narrowing
the health inequalities within the city (again, true). We can demonstrate progress
with our first Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy (2013-2015) and we can point
to a wealth of health data that is now available at local level
http://observatory.leeds.gov.uk

However, on behalf of the new first Medical Officer of Health, let’s take a cold
eyed look at where we are now in relation to the health and wellbeing for children
and young people, the health and wellbeing of adults and preventing early death,
the protection of health and wellbeing. This is our new starting position.

Improving the health and wellbeing of children & young people

Infant mortality (deaths aged under one) continues to be a significant marker of
the overall health of the population — and is one of the seven health status
indicators in the Health & Wellbeing Strategy. The concerted focus over the last
few years has seen a reduction to the lowest level ever seen in Leeds —
remarkably below the rate for England as a whole. There is evidence of the
benefit of sustained partnership action.

The focus is now on the broadened Best Start programme (from conception to two
years). The proportion born with a low birth weight is significantly higher than
across England, although the proportion of women smoking at the time of delivery
is around the national figure. While the levels of breastfeeding at 6 — 8 weeks is
high, the actual numbers of mothers starting to breast feed is lower than in
England.

The teenage pregnancy rate is significantly higher than for England.

Nearly one in three children at the age of five years old have some tooth decay.
This worrying position is worse than for England as a whole and has been subject
of a report to the Scrutiny Board (Health & Well-being and Adult Social Care).

The recently launched national Childhood Obesity action plan reflects concerns
over the weight of children. While the percentage of children with excess weight is
lower than for England, it is clearly of concern that one in three children at the age
of 10-11 years are either overweight or obese. Children above a healthy weight is
one of the seven health status indicators in the Health & Wellbeing Strategy.

The Leeds My Health, My School survey supported by the Healthy Schools
programme demonstrates a significant reducing trend in the use of illegal drugs
and in under-age use of alcohol.

Children’s positive view of their wellbeing is a specific indicator in the Health &
Wellbeing Strategy. The Leeds My Health, My School survey shows that around
one in five of children feel stressed or anxious everyday or most days and that
around a third feel they have been bullied at school. The trends since 2009/10
appear to be getting worse for stress/anxiety and bullying.

5

Page 129


http://observatory.leeds.gov.uk/

3.6

3.6.1

3.6.2

3.6.3

3.6.4

3.6.5

3.6.6

3.6.7

3.6.8

3.7

3.7.1

Improving the health & wellbeing of adults & preventing early death.

Life expectancy and healthy life expectancy for males and females is below that of
England. The years of life lost from avoidable causes of death is an indicator in
the Health & Wellbeing Strategy — and is significantly higher than for England. The
biggest gains for the Health & Wellbeing Board lie in reducing deaths from
cardiovascular disease, cancer, respiratory disease for men and women plus
reducing liver disease deaths for men. The suicide rate for men and women is not
significantly different from that of England as a whole. Deaths from drug misuse is
above the England rate.

Early death for people with a mental illness is an indicator in the Health &
Wellbeing Strategy, recognising that there continues to be excess deaths in this
population. The Leeds position is worse than that for England as a whole. More
work needs to be done to determine whether this is a significant difference, but
regardless, there is a specific challenge here for the city.

There is a concern nationally over the future health service burden due to the
rising numbers of diabetics. The consistently low numbers reported for Leeds has
always looked a complete anomaly to the Director of Public Health. Recent
national modelling suggests an additional 9,000 cases to be identified across the
city resulting in an estimated 50,000 people with diabetes.

There are 45,000 people who are currently known to be at high risk of diabetes.
Leeds is a pilot for the National Diabetes Prevention Programme aiming to reduce
those becoming diabetic by two thirds. National modelling suggests there could
be an additional 19,000 people at high risk of developing diabetes in Leeds.

The smoking level for adults is 18.5%, which is above the England figures.

Physical activity is a priority area and an indicator of progress within the Health &
Wellbeing Strategy. The picture of Leeds mirrors that for England with just over
half the population taking more than 150 minutes of physical activity per week. Of
greater concern is that, similar to England, over a quarter of adults in Leeds
achieve less than thirty minutes of physical activity per week.

Around two-thirds of adults in Leeds are either overweight or obese

Life expectancy at the age of 65 years is significantly below that for England both
for males and females. The number of injuries due to falls in those aged over 65
years is significantly higher in Leeds, with the number of hip fractures in females
also higher.

Protecting the health & wellbeing of all

Although having a lower profile than in days gone by, infections continue to cause

significant ill health with personal and organisational costs. Prevention; reducing
transmission and effective treatment are still required.

6

Page 130



3.7.2

3.7.3

3.74

3.7.5

3.7.6

3.8

3.8.1

3.8.2

3.8.3

3.9

3.9.1

3.9.2

4.1

The overall mortality rate for communicable diseases (including influenza) is
below that of England as a whole. Vaccination rates are at or above national
levels.

In terms of sexual transmitted infections, there are higher levels of gonorrhoea
diagnosed in Leeds and the same is for HIV. The detection rate for chlamydia in
Leeds is higher than for England which is positive but this also reflects the high
levels of chlamydia in the 15-24 yr population.

The number of new cases of tuberculosis has currently fallen to below the rate for
England.

Excess winter deaths relate in particular to respiratory infections and also cardio-
vascular events due to the cold and Leeds mirrors the England rates.

Air pollution affects mortality from cardiovascular and respiratory conditions,
including lung cancer. Poor air quality in Leeds has been estimated to be
attributable to the equivalent of 350 deaths per year in those aged over 25 years.

Progressing health status improvement 2016 and beyond

For the Health and Wellbeing Board to demonstrate meaningful progress with the
new Health & Wellbeing Strategy, this will require an improvement in the health
status of the Leeds population as a whole against the health of England.

The Council’s intention to enhance locality working to reduce inequalities within
the city should include specific objectives to improve health of those populations.
In a similar way the Breakthrough projects should have a greater focus on those
health challenges already highlighted.

The NHS is going through significant changes in response to the current financial
problems. This includes developing New Models of Care involving primary care
and community health services. This should be seen as an opportunity to narrow
the health gap and not end up solely focusing on the financial gap.

Progress update on the recommendations from the 2014/15 Annual Report
of the Director of Public Health.

The Annual Report of the Director of the Public Health 2014/15 — won the
Association of Director of Public Health Annual report competition beating just
under 100 submissions. This success has followed the previous year’s report
which was awarded second prize in that year’'s competition.

Progress on the recommendations are summarised in appendix 2.

Health and Wellbeing Board Governance

Consultation and Engagement

7

Page 131



41.1

4.1.2

4.1.3

4.2

42.1

4.3

43.1

4.4

441

4.5

45.1

5.1

6.1

Various initiatives described in previous recent Annual reports have been
developed with the public.

Members of the public have helped write previous annual reports through
personal stories and experience.

The public have the opportunity to use the trail developed by the Thackray
Medical Museum.

Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration

There are no direct implications on equality and diversity, from this report.
However, it is worth noting that there equality and diversity implications with the
Leeds Health & Wellbeing Strategy (2016 — 2021).

Resources and value for money

The costs of producing the Annual Report of the Director of Public Health are
contained with in the ring fenced Public Health Grant.

Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In

Publication of the Annual Report of the Director of Public Health will enable the
Council to meet its statutory requirements under the Health and Social Care Act
2012.

Risk Management

There are no risks identified with the publication of the Annual Report of the
Director of Public Health.

Conclusions

This year’s digital Annual Report has, through the Annual Reports of Medical
Officers of Health & Directors of Public Health, set out the 150 year story of Public
Health in Leeds, from 1866 to the present day. A review of the current health
status baseline for the new Health & Wellbeing Strategy highlights where there
needs to be focus and significant improvement over the next five years if Leeds is
to be the “best city for health & wellbeing”.

Recommendations
The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to:

e Note the availability of:

0 This year’s digital Annual Report at www.leeds.gov.uk/dphreport

o the digital materials on 150 years of Public Health in Leeds

o0 Indicators on the current health status for the Leeds population

8

Page 132


http://www.leeds.gov.uk/dphreport

7.1

8.1

8.2

8.3

e Support the inclusion, by Leeds City Council of improving health status as a
specific objective within the new Council approach to locality working,
regeneration and the Breakthrough projects as a contribution to the delivery of
the Health & Wellbeing Strategy and the Best Council plan.

e Recommend that the Health & Wellbeing Board ensures that improving health
status is a specific objective within the development of New Models of Care
being led by the NHS as a contribution to the delivery of the Health &
Wellbeing Strategy.

¢ Note the progress made on the recommendations of the Director of Public
Health Annual Report 2014/15.

Background documents

None.

Appendices

Appendix 1: Health status indicators

Appendix 2: Progress report on the recommendations from the Director of Public
Health Annual Report 2014/15

Appendix 3: Equality, Diversity, Cohesion & Integration Screening (EDCI)

9

Page 133



-ﬂ CITY COUNCIL

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2016

.1 |

ITTI'_-TF@I b

$3§$§&JM % . Wi llll!l

i'
' *],9

Page 134



20091553_3
Typewritten Text
Appendix 1

20091553_4
Typewritten Text


Improving the health and wellbeing of children and young people

:::icator Indicator England Leeds Bfir_:_e::‘i;?
la Infant Mortality 4.0 3.6

1.b Low birth-weight of term babies 2.9% 3.4%

1l.c Smoking Status at time of delivery 11.4% 11.9%

1d Breast feeding initiation 74.3% 68.0%

le Breast feeding continuation 43.8% | 48.7%
1.f Teenage Pregnancy 22.8 29.4

1lg 5 year-olds free from tooth decay 75.2% 68.6%

1.h Excess weight in children in Reception Year 21.9% 21.5% | No change
L.i Excess weight in children in Year 6 33.2% 33.0% | No change
1j Never taken alcohol (secondary school students) n/a 50.2%

1.k Never taken illegal drugs (secondary school students) n/a 92.6%

1. Feeling stressed or anxious (primary and secondary students) n/a 20.0%

1.m Being bullied at school (primary and secondary students) n/a 31.9%

1.a Deaths per 1000 live births 2012-2014; 1.b Percentage of term babies with weight measured who were under 2.5Kg, 2014; 1.c Percentage
of mothers who were smokers at the time of delivery 2014/15; 1.d Percentage of mothers who partially or entirely breast fed their baby at
delivery 2014/15; 1.e Percentage of mothers who partially or entirely breast fed their baby at 6 to 8 weeks, 2014/15; 1.f Conceptions in
women aged under 18 per 1,000 females aged 15-17, 2014; 1.g Percentage of 5 year olds who are free from obvious dental decay 2014/15
(PHE dental survey); 1.h Proportion of children aged 4-5 years classified as overweight or obese, 2014/15; 1.i Proportion of children aged 10-11
classified as overweight or obese, 2014/15; 1.j My Health My School Survey Alcohol use (Q.24), 2014/15; 1.k My Health My School Survey
Illegal Drugs (Q.28), 2014/15; 1.1 My Health My School Survey Stress (Q.41), 2014/15; 1.m My Health My School Survey Bullying (Q.48),
2014/15

Page 135



Improving health and wellbeing of adults and preventing early death

I;:.icator Indicator England | Leeds ?::\e;tlion i
2.a Life Expectancy at birth (Males) 79.5 78.4

2.b Life Expectancy at birth (Females) 83.2 82.4

2.c Healthy Life Expectancy at birth (Males) 63.4 60.6 | No change
2.d Healthy Life Expectancy at birth (Females) 64.0 62.1 | No change
2.e Preventable Mortality (Persons All Ages) 182.7 209.1

2.f Cardiovascular disease mortality (Males under 75) 106.2 127.0
2.8 Cardiovascular disease mortality (Females under 75) 46.9 53.8

2.h Cancer Mortality (Males under 75) 157.7 181.5

2. Cancer Mortality (Females under 75) 126.6 140.9

2. Respiratory Disease Mortality (Males under 75) 38.3 47.6
2.k Respiratory Disease Mortality (Females under 75) 27.4 37.6

2. Liver Disease Mortality (Males under 75) 234 26.5
2.m Liver Disease Mortality (Females under 75) 12.4 11.8

2.n Suicide Rate (Males) 15.8 17.4
2.0 Suicide Rate (Females) 4.5 3.3

2.p Deaths from drug misuse (Persons All Ages) 34 3.7
2.q Excess under 75 mortality in adults with serious mental illness 351.8% | 395.1%

2.r Smoking Rate (adults) 16.9% 18.5%

2.s Physically Active Adults 57.0% 56.3% | No change
2.t Physically Inactive Adults 28.7% 28.9% | No change
2.u Excess weight in adults 64.6% 62.3% | Not known
2.v Life Expectancy at 65 (Males) 18.8 17.9 _
2.w Life Expectancy at 65 (Females) 21.2 20.2 | No change
2.x Falls (Persons over 65) 2125 2382 | No change
2.y Hip fractures (Females over 65) 1895 2031 | No change

2.a Life Expectancy at birth (Males 2012-2014); 2.b Life Expectancy at birth (Females 2012-2014); 2.c Healthy Life Expectancy at birth (Males
2012-2014); 2.d Healthy Life Expectancy at birth (Females 2012-2014); 2.e Age-standardised mortality rate (All Ages) from causes considered
preventable per 100,000 population, 2012-2014 ; 2.f Cardiovascular disease mortality (Males under 75), per 100 000 (DSR), 2012-2014; 2.g
Cardiovascular disease mortality (Females under 75), per 100 000 (DSR), 2012-2014; 2.h Cancer Mortality (Males under 75), per 100 000 (DSR),
2012-2014; 2.i Cancer Mortality (Females under 75), per 100 000 (DSR), 2012-2014; 2.j Respiratory Disease Mortality (Males under 75), per 100
000 (DSR), 2012-2014; 2.k Respiratory Disease Mortality (Females under 75), per 100 000 (DSR), 2012-2014; 2.l Liver Disease Mortality (Males
under 75), per 100 000 (DSR), 2012-2014; 2.m Liver Disease Mortality (Females under 75), per 100 000 (DSR), 2012-2014; 2.n Suicide rate
(males) per 100 000 (DSR), 2012-2014; 2.0 Suicide rate (females) per 100 000 (DSR), 2012-2014; 2.p Drug misuse mortality (Persons All Ages),
per 100 000 (DSR), 2012-2014; 2.q Ratio of rate of mortality for people with severe mental illness compared to the general population,
2013/14; 2.r Smoking prevalence in adults (Annual Population Survey), 2015; 2.s Physical activity > 150 minutes per week; 2.t Physical activity <
30 minutes per week; 2.u Percentage of persons aged 16+ who were overweight or obese, 2014-2014; 2.v Life expectancy for males aged 65,
2012-2014; 2.w Life expectancy for females aged 65, 2012-2014; 2.x Injuries due to falls in people 65 and over (persons), 2014/15; 2.y Hip
fractures in women aged 65+ per 100 000, 2014/15

Page 136



Protecting the health and wellbeing of all

:lg.icator Indicator England Leeds gfir_?:atl:r;

3.a Mortality from Communicable Diseases (including influenza) 10.2 8.8

3.b Gonorrhoea - Diagnosis Rate 70.7 78.5

3.c HIV - New Diagnosis Rate 12.3 15.1

3.d Chlamydia - Detection Rate 1887 2433
3.e Tuberculosis incidence 13.5 12.7

3.f Excess Winter deaths 15.6 18.1 | No change
3.g Fraction of Mortality attributable to particulate air pollution 5.3% 5.0% | No change

3.a Mortality from communicable diseases (including influenza) per 100 000 person, DSR, 2012-2014; 3.b Gonorrhoea diagnosis crude rate per
100 000 persons, 2015 (PHE Sexual Health Profile dataset); 3.c Rate of new diagnosed cases of HIV per 100 000 persons aged over 15 years,
2014 (PHE Sexual Health Profile dataset); 3.d Rate of Chlamydia detection per 100 000 persons aged between 15 and 24, 2015 (PHE Sexual
Health Profile dataset); 3.e Rate of TB incidence, crude rate per 100 000 persons, 2012-2014; 3.f Excess winter deaths index, persons all ages,
2011-2014; 3.g Percentage of deaths attributable to PM2.5 particulate air pollution, 2013

Notes:

Unless otherwise stated, all variables presented in the 3 tables above were sourced from the Public Health Outcomes Framework
dataset produced by Public Health England.

DSR means Directly Standardised Rates, which are used to remove the effect of differing population age structures on the rates
produced; this allows Leeds to be compared with England in an accurate way, despite the impact of the university student and other
population differences on the age structure.

Page 137



Appendix 2
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2015

1. Leeds City Council Public Health Directorate should be involved in early discussions relating
to all new major housing developments, ideally at the pre-application stage, to ensure that
health impacts are considered.

@ There have been examples of public health involvement in housing developments in
Aire Valley, Skelton and proposed Climate Innovation District in Hunslet. Little London and
Holbeck Moor are further illustrations of developments with a strong focus on health and
community.

A more systematic and targeted approach to public health involvement still has to be
developed. When Planning Briefs for new housing developments are prepared, this would be
a good opportunity to require potential developers/architects to involve Public Health at an
early stage. This would only apply to LCC Regeneration Schemes and could be limited by
commercial sensitivities. There is a national proposal that Health Impact Assessment will be
included as part of the Environmental Impact Assessment process which would be a positive
step if implemented.

2. Developers should follow the principles set out in the Neighbourhood for Living document and
use this Annual Report of the Director of Public Health as a complementary guide that draws
out the public health benefits of good design.

@ Neighbourhood for Living is a source of reference for developers as it is an adopted
Supplementary Planning Document. It has recently been updated with reference to the Leeds
Standard for Housing. While The Annual Report of the Director of Public Health has no
weight in making planning decisions it can be used as a point of reference by Planning
Officers. It was circulated to officers and publicised to increase awareness and usage of the
document. In addition the Annual Report should be used to guide strategic (Forward)
planning by influencing high level policy. An example of this is evidenced in the 21*
September 2016 Executive Board report on the adoption of “Integrating Diversity and
Inclusion into the Built Environment” which references the Annual Report.

3. The three Leeds Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) should actively engage with the
planning process in their areas as they take on responsibility for the commissioning of primary
health care services.

@ Each CCG has identified a lead and prepared a report looking at the potential impact
of housing growth on primary care.

4. Leeds City Council Public Health Directorate should promote the NICE recommendations on
physical activity and the environment.

@ Physical activity is being considered as a priority under the Early intervention and
reducing inequalities breakthrough project. The importance of the influence of the
environment was promoted at a large Outcome Based Accountability workshop in July 2016
involving partners from across the city. Public Health are involved in supporting the active
travel agenda to promote walking and cycling. The principles in the NICE guidance have
informed a number of projects and funding bids including City Connect. The Sport Leeds
Board is the strategic body in Leeds for sport and physical activity and now has a transport
representative among its membership.

Page 138


20091553_5
Typewritten Text
Appendix 2


5. Developers should consider design principles around food and climate change that are not
covered specifically in Neighbourhood for Living:

a. Avoid the local food supply being monopolised by a single provider, enabling choice.

b. Wherever possible, safeguard allotments, good agricultural land, gardens or other
growing land.

c. Wherever possible, build cooking facilities into community facilities and schools.

d. Consider measures to prevent overheating of homes including passive ventilation,
providing cool and attractive outdoor areas, and the use of plants to create shade.

@ Many of these issues are covered in ‘Building for Tomorrow Today (BFTT) —
Sustainable Design and Construction’ Supplementary Planning Document which is the
Council’s guidance document for sustainable development. For example food growing is
encouraged in the BFTT doc. There are instances namely ‘Greenhouse’ and LILAC (p24 of the
report) where developers incorporated allotments within developments. In addition the Core
Strategy (CS) contains Climate Change policies EN1 and EN2. The City Centre team have been
asking for EN1 and EN2 compliance since the CS was adopted. This approach could be
expanded to other areas.

In terms of food outlets there is currently a review of Planning guidance around Hot Food
Takeaways the outcome of which will be reported to the Plans Panel.

Page 139



Appendix 3
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and / *@* Leeds
Integration Screening 1791 i\ vt

As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality,
diversity, cohesion and integration.

A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions.
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine:
e the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration.
e whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has
already been considered, and
e whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment.

Directorate: Public Health Service area: The Office of the
Director of Public Health

Lead person: Dr lan Cameron Contact number: 0113 247 4414

1. Title: Director of Public Health Annual Report 2016: 1866 — 2016 150 years
of Public Health in Leeds — a continuing story of challenges

Is this a:

Strategy / Policy Service / Function X Other

If other, please specify DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT

2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening

The Director of Public Health is required to produce an Annual report on the health of
the population. This year the report focuses on the first 150 years of Public Health in
Leeds; a review of current health status indicators and an update on
recommendations from last year’s report.

EDCI Screening Template updated January 2014 1

Page 140



3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or
the wider community — city wide or more local. These will also have a greater/lesser
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.

The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are.
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender

reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that
impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being.

Questions Yes No
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different X
equality characteristics?
Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the X
policy or proposal?
Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or X
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by
whom?
Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment X
practices?
Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on X

e Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and

harassment
e Advancing equality of opportunity
e Fostering good relations

If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7

If you have answered yes to any of the above and;
¢ Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity,
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4.
e Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration within your proposal please go to section 5.

EDCI Screening Template updated January 2014 2

Page 141




4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration

If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality,
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.

Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance).

e How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration?
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected)

The section in the Annual Report on the current health status of Leeds is based on the
seven health status indicators within the new Leeds Health & Well Being Strategy 2016 —
2021 plus those public health issues identified in the Strategy. This Strategy was
launched in April 2016 and included an Equality, Diversity, Cohesion & Integration
screening. The report merely describes the health status based on that Strategy.

e Key findings
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups,
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another)

The report identifies that the health of the whole of Leeds is behind that of England.
Gender differences are noted.

e Actions
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact)

Recommendations in the report centre around using changes in locality working within
the Council, plus the emphasis on Breakthrough projects as a means of improving the
health status of the whole Leeds population in relation to overall national position.

EDCI Screening Template updated January 2014 3

Page 142




5. If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment.

Date to scope and plan your impact assessment:

Date to complete your impact assessment

Lead person for your impact assessment
(Include name and job title)

6. Governance, ownership and approval
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening

Name

Job title

Date

Dr lan

Cameron Director of Public Health

22 September 2016

Date screening completed

22/09/2016

7. Publishing

Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated
Decisions or a Significant Operational Decision.

A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision
making report:
Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full

Council.

The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions

and Significant Operational Decisions.
A copy of all other equality screenings that are
sent to equalityteam@Ieeds.gov.uk for record.

not to be published should be

Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached
screening was sent:

For Executive Board or Full Council — sent to
Governance Services

Date sent: 22.09.2016

For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational
Decisions — sent to appropriate Directorate

Date sent:

All other decisions — sent to
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk

Date sent: 22.09.2016

EDCI Screening

Page 143

Template updated January 2014



mailto:equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk
mailto:equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Iltem 14

R t authors: Janet Wright, ASC &
Leeds Health & str?l;nagar%erelI?rlliedsnlglorth CCG
Wellbeing Board

Report of:  Nigel Gray (Chief Officer, NHS Leeds North CCG)

Reportto: The Leeds Health and Wellbeing Board

Date: 20 October 2016
Subject: Update on Transforming Care three year plan
Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion X Yes [ ] No

and integration?

Is the decision eligible for Call-In? [ ] Yes > No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information? [ ] Yes X No
If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:

Appendix number:

Summary of main issues

Work is ongoing across Leeds to implement the integrated strategic commissioning and
delivery plan designed to deliver the Transforming Care Programme. The Transforming
Care Programme is an ‘all age’ plan to close inpatient assessment and treatment beds,
develop effective local services and reduce usage of out of area inpatient services
including specialised commissioning. This is an NHS England requirement and is
monitored extensively at government level. There is a three year project plan in place
locally which is being overseen by a Transforming Care Executive Group (TCEG). NHS
England has yet to confirm how the programme will be financed with clarification expected
to be provided to local areas imminently.

Recommendations
The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to:
e Note the partnership work which is already happening to meet the requirements of
the transforming care programme.
e Receive further reports on progress against the Transforming Care programme.

1 Purpose of this report
1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide an update on the Transforming Care
Programme and follows on from previous reports to the Leeds Health and

Wellbeing Board in March 2014 and June 2015.

1.2 The local plan is a ‘must do’ from NHS England and has been developed to
address the national programme of work following the publication of the

Page 145



1.3

2.1

2.2

2.3

Winterbourne View report (2012) and subsequently Transforming Care and
Building the Right Support. The national plan “Building the Right Support” (2015)
identifies that local areas develop an “all age” plan to close in-patient assessment
and treatment beds, develop effective local services and reduce usage of out of
area inpatient services including specialised commissioning. The plan is an
integrated strategic commissioning and delivery plan designed to deliver the
Transforming Care Programme.

The Transforming Care Programme supports Leeds to deliver on the five
outcomes of the Leeds Health and Wellbeing strategy. It does this by ensuring
that those people with the most complex learning disability and/or autism have
choice and control over the lives they lead and there is the right community based
health and social care services to support them to lead their lives outside hospital
in-patient provision.

Background information

In 2011, a Panorama investigation broadcast on television exposed the abuse of
patients in Winterbourne View, a learning disability hospital. As a response to this
the minister for care and support gave the Local Government Association (LGA)
and NHS England resources to set up a programme called the Winterbourne View
Joint Improvement Programme (WVJIP). The purpose of which was to help local
commissioners transform care in line with a vision to end any inappropriate
hospital placements for people with learning disabilities by June 2014. The
national failure to meet targets led to the publication of subsequent reports, Time
for Change (2014) and Transforming Care for people with learning disabilities
and/or autism in December 2015.

The Time for Change report recommendations include a focus on local
commissioning plans, pooling of health, social care and housing budgets to draw
up a long term plan for spending and funding to build up community services.
Although initially, Transforming Care could be described as aspirational, it is now
a ‘must do’. NHS England, the Local Government Association and the Association
of Directors of Adult Social Services (ADASS) published Building the Right
Support, a national plan to develop community services and close inpatient
facilities for people with a learning disability and/or autism who display behaviour
that challenges, including those with a mental health condition.

To deliver the programme, NHS England divided Clinical Commissioning Groups
(CCGs) nationally into Transforming Care Partnerships (TCPs) NHS Leeds CCGs
are one TCP, the Senior Responsible Officer (SRO) is Nigel Gray, NHS Leeds
North CCG and Shona McFarlane, Adult Social Care, Leeds City Council is the
deputy SRO. Reporting on progress and data collection from NHS England is
significant; currently there is a requirement to complete three templates a month.
The programme of work is over a three year period from April 2016 to March
2019.

Main issues

Page 146



3.1

3.1

3.2

3.3

This plan is about a very small percentage of the population of children and adults
with learning disabilities and/or autism. Although this cohort is small in number,
the cost to meet their care and support needs is significant. To give an indication,
a placement can cost more than £10,000 per week.

At the time of writing, there are only 36 Leeds individuals in specialist hospital
provision. Of this 36, 23 are people who are the commissioning responsibility of
NHS England through its Specialist Commissioning Team. The remaining 13 are
the responsibility of NHS Leeds CCGs. This figure is fluid as it includes people
who have been admitted to a specialist hospital for a period of assessment and
treatment. Individuals have been detained under a range of provisions within the
Mental Health Act including Ministry of Justice orders.

The requirement from NHS England is to see a significant reduction in the number
of specialist hospital beds across the country. Obviously, our plan is not just about
reducing specialist hospital beds, but ensuring that wherever possible we prevent
hospital admission. To this end, each Transforming Care Partnership is required
to develop an ‘at-risk of hospital admission register’. In Leeds, our register has
identified 9 adults. The risk register is also in a fluid state and is reviewed monthly
therefore the number deemed at risk may fluctuate. We are aware of 11 children
aged between 14-18 however we are exploring how we can develop an all age
dynamic risk register to bring together children, young people and adults, in line
with suggested national good practice.

The following groupings help to illustrate some common needs amongst the
diversity of the population that this service model is about, needs which could lead
to hospital admission if not given the right support:

e Children, young people or adults with a learning disability and/or autism who
have a mental health condition such as severe anxiety, depression, or a
psychotic iliness, and those with personality disorders, which may result in
them displaying behaviour that challenges.

e Children, young people or adults with an (often severe) learning disability
and/or autism who display self-injurious or aggressive behaviour, not related
to severe mental ill health, some of whom will have a specific neuro-
developmental syndrome and where there may be an increased likelihood of
developing behaviour that challenges.

e Children, young people or adults with a learning disability and/or autism who
display risky behaviours which may put themselves or others at risk and
which could lead to contact with the criminal justice system (this could include
things like fire-setting, abusive or aggressive or sexually inappropriate
behaviour).

e Children, young people or adults with a learning disability and/or autism, often
with lower level support needs and who may not traditionally be known to
health and social care services, from disadvantaged backgrounds (e.g. social
disadvantage, substance abuse, troubled family backgrounds) who display
behaviour that challenges, including behaviours which may lead to contact
with the criminal justice system.

e Adults with a learning disability and/or autism who have a mental health
condition or display behaviour that challenges who have been in hospital

Page 147



3.4

3.5

3.6

3.6.1

3.6.2

3.6.3

3.6.4

3.6.5

3.6.6

3.6.7

settings for a very long period of time, having not been discharged when NHS
campuses or long-stay hospitals were closed.

Our Plan

As required by NHS England, we have developed a three year route-map

detailing how the Transforming Care Programme will be delivered in Leeds. The

outcomes that we will achieve over the next three years are:

e Close 50% of the hospital beds used by people with complex learning
disabilities and/or autism

e Prevent specialist hospital admissions where possible for people with
complex learning disabilities and/or autism

e Develop effective pathways through transition for young people with complex
learning disabilities and/or autism

e Ensure people with complex needs relating to their learning disability and/or
autism can be supported in the community.

In order to support this process, a number of different work streams have been
established in Leeds to oversee the development and implementation of the
Transforming Care Programme on a local level. These are:

Data and monitoring progress: To ensure that up-to-date detailed information is
available on those individuals affected by the programme, including and
understanding of future demand.

Finance: To identify capital and revenue budgets available and ensure
affordability of the programme, NHS England has yet to clearly define how funding
transfers will happen from secure care provision.

Access, pathways and processes: To describe current pathways and access to
services, and design new processes which ensure clear pathways to the right
support.

Buildings and facilities: To determine assets available and future requirements
to enable individuals to remain in Leeds in appropriate accommodation.

Coproduction and engagement: Central to Transforming Care is an emphasis
on coproduction of plans. Given the needs of the individuals included in the
programme, significant work will need to take place to ensure the delivery of this
work stream.

Workforce development: To undertake a skills audit of the current local
workforce and develop a workforce plan to meet any skills gaps.

Stakeholder and communication: To deliver and coordinate a communication
and engagement plan across all stakeholders in easy read formats, and develop a
plan on a page to support the briefing of stakeholders.

Health and Wellbeing Board Governance

Page 148



4.1

41.1

4.1.2

4.2

42.1

4.2.2

4.3

43.1

Consultation and Engagement

The principles that underpin the Transforming Care Programme are:

e  Shift in power - People with a learning disability and/or autism are citizens
with rights, who should expect to lead active lives in the community and live in
their own homes just as other citizens expect to. We need to build the right
community based services to support them to lead those lives, thereby
enabling us to close all but the essential inpatient provision.

e Coproduction - To do this people with a learning disability and/or autism and
their families/carers should be supported to co-produce transformation plans,
and plans should give people more choice as well as control over their own
health and care services. An important part of this is through the expansion of
personal budgets, personal health budgets and integrated budgets.

e Strong stakeholder engagement — providers of all types (inpatient and
community based; public, private and voluntary sector) should be involved in
the development of the plan, and there should be one coherent plan across
both providers and commissioners. Stakeholders beyond health and social
care should be engaged in the process (e.g. public protection unit, probation,
education and housing) including people with direct experience of using
inpatient services.

Delivering on these principles is central to our Transforming Care plan in Leeds.
The level of complexity of need of the individuals affected by the plan requires
significant input to ensure that they are meaningfully engaged. This will include
working with advocates and delivering information in easy read formats. This
activity is incorporated in two priority work streams — ‘Coproduction and
engagement’ and ‘communication’. This work has begun and will underpin the
activity in all other work streams on the implementation.

Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration

This report is based on a human rights approach to ensuring people with learning
disabilities and/or autism are supported to have a lifestyle which offers the same
opportunities as any other adult in the local community and feel safe and free from
abuse.

The strategic commitment to ensuring, where possible, that people are supported
to live in Leeds in community settings will promote both community cohesion and
integration. It will also play a vital role in ensuring those within minority groups,
such as people with learning disabilities and/or autism discharged from specialist
hospitals are not disadvantaged and are able to be supported within Leeds.

Resources and value for money
As stated earlier in this report, the cost to meet the care and support needs of this
cohort is significant. From the start of this programme, NHS England has stated

that it expects this transformation to be cost neutral but in reality there is currently
no assurance of this.

Page 149



4.3.2

4.4

44.1

4.4.2

4.5

45.1

45.2

5.1

5.2

5.3

5.4

6.1

Although expected at any point, at the time of writing this report there has been no
clarity as to how funding is to be calculated.

Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In

This report meets the requirement from NHS England to make Health and
Wellbeing Boards aware of the delivery of the Transforming Care Programme at t
local level.

There are no access to information and call-in implications arising from this report.
Risk Management

A Transforming Care Executive Group (TCEG) has been established to oversee
the local implementation. The aims of the group include the management of risk,
the monitoring of progress, to ensure the voices of people included in the
programme are heard, to hold to account officers involved in delivery and oversee
the deployment of resources within the CCGs and Leeds City Council.

The TCEG will report activity to the Leeds Health and Wellbeing Board, the Leeds
Integrated Commissioning Executive and the Leeds Learning Disability
Partnership Board as and when required.

Conclusions

Work in ongoing across Leeds to implement the integrated strategic
commissioning and delivery plan designed to deliver the Transforming Care
programme.

The Transforming Care Programme is an ‘all age’ plan to close inpatient
assessment and treatment beds, develop effective local services and reduce
usage of out of area inpatient services including specialised commissioning.

This is an NHS England requirement and is monitored extensively at government
level. There is a three year project plan in place locally which is being overseen by
a Transforming Care Executive Group (TCEG).

NHS England has yet to confirm how the programme will be financed with
clarification expected to be provided to local areas imminently.

Recommendations

The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to:
e Note the partnership work which is already happening to meet the
requirements of the transforming care programme.
e Receive further reports on progress against the Transforming Care
programme.

Page 150



Agenda Iltem 15

L eeds Health & Report author: Mark Allman
We”being Board Head of Sport

Report of:  Dr lan Cameron (Director of Public Health, Leeds City Council)

Reportto: The Leeds Health and Wellbeing Board

Date: 20 October 2016
Subject: Leeds Let's Get Active Evaluation Findings
Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion X Yes [ ] No

and integration?

Is the decision eligible for Call-In? [ ] Yes X] No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information? [ ] Yes X] No
If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:
Appendix number:

Summary of main issues

The Health and Wellbeing Board received an update report in September 2015 outlining
the significant and successful impact that the Leeds Let's Get Active (LLGA) scheme has
had in engaging people to be physically active. Additionally a further update regarding
funding was presented in January 2016. This report provides a further update on LLGA by
presenting an overview of the research and evaluation findings, prepared by Leeds
Beckett University from Year 3 of the project (1% April 2015 —25" April 2016).

The project is shown to be effective at increasing physical activity levels and reducing
sedentary behaviour among inactive individuals. Since its launch in September 2013,
LLGA participants have now attended over 410,000 visits with 45% of these visits made by
participants who were classified as inactive at baseline. The data collection for the Year 3
evaluation regarding wider lifestyle behaviours and long term conditions emphasises
LLGA'’s potential to engage with individuals with wider Lifestyle Risk Factors and to be
used as a vehicle for promoting wider lifestyle changes.

Recommendations
The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to:

e Note the update of LLGA and evaluation findings based on research from Year
3 of project delivery.

1 Purpose of this report

1.1 The purpose of this report is to present key findings and an outline of the
evaluation report covering Year 3 of LLGA. This includes progress against targets
which have the primary focus of supporting inactive people to become active for a
minimum of 30 minutes per week. It will also illustrate how LLGA has engaged

Page 151



2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4

2.5

2.6

2.7

with individuals with wider unhealthy lifestyles (current smoker, excessive alcohol
consumption and lack of fruit and vegetables). It will demonstrate therefore how
LLGA is helping the board to deliver the Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy key
priorities to ‘get more people, more physically active, more often’ and to have ‘a
stronger focus on prevention’. Additionally the report illustrates how LLGA helps
the board to reduce health inequalities by engaging with individuals from the most
deprived areas of Leeds.

Background information

In 2013, Leeds City Council Sport and Active Lifestyles Service was successful in
applying for £500k of Sport England funding from their “Get healthy get into sport”
pilot grant programme. LLGA was one of 14 national pilots looking at different
ways of increasing the activity levels of those who are currently inactive.

The Sport England £500k was matched by Public Health who also committed
funding of £60k, continued from the previous Bodyline Access Scheme project,
making the funding for the first 18 months (October 2013 — March 2015) of
delivery £1,060,000.

Following the first 18 months of delivery, the project was extended following a re-
profiling of the loss of income expenditure from years 1 and 2 and additional
financial support from Public Health. This allowed for one full additional year of
delivery which ended March 2016.

In January 2016 the Integrated Commissioning Executive agreed an additional 8
months funding for LLGA to allow the final Year 3 evaluation report to be
produced in July 2016 and for a cost effectiveness analysis to be completed for
the scheme. This funding is due to end on the 30" November 2016.

The LLGA scheme provides an offer that includes; free, universal access to all
Leeds City Council Leisure Centres (which includes gym, swim and exercise class
provision); free physical activity opportunities in local parks and community
settings and a continuation of the Bodyline Access Scheme.

Members of the Board will be aware of the significant health and life expectancy
inequalities which exist within Leeds. This project is contributing towards reducing
these inequalities by increasing participation in physical activity, targeted at those
who are presently inactive and doing less than 1 x 30 minutes of physical activity
per week, and whilst providing a universal free offer, the offer is greatest in those
areas with the highest need.

A report outlining progress in relation to the evaluation of years 1 and 2 of LLGA
was previously presented to the board on the 30™ September 2015 with a further
update on 12" January 2016.

Main issues

A full evaluation report has been submitted by Leeds Beckett University — the
research partner for LLGA. The report provides an overview of the findings from
LLGA with results that have been generated for data that was collected from 1%

Page 152



3.2

3.3

3.4

3.4.1

April 2015 —25™ April 2016. A summary of the figures from the full evaluation
report are provided below for the board.

The evaluation was captured through self-report questionnaires completed by
participants signing up to LLGA. The single —item activity measure was used to
capture activity data and data was gathered through XN, a leisure industry IT
management system that provides data on attendance at LLGA. Participants
signed up on-line or via paper-based questionnaires.

In addition, to help determine the reach of LLGA and to gather valuable
intelligence about the impact of LLGA on lifestyle risk factors and long term
conditions, self-reported data on demographics, long term conditions, lifestyle risk
factors, wellbeing and height and weight was also captured within the evaluation
for Year 3.

Key Achievements for LLGA:
Registration and demographics:

Since it began in September 2013 LLGA has recruited over 89,000 participants.
The evaluation for Year 3 was based on 18,175 registered participants in that year
(1% April 2015 —25™ April 2016) and following data cleaning and validation, the
subsequent analysis is centred on 13,579 participants of which 62% were female.
Figure 1 illustrates the breakdown of participant’s age range. The mean age was
37.

Figure 1: LLGA Lifestyle Participants Age Range.
35 4

31.4%
30

25 4 23.5%
21.0%
20

15
12.0%

10 1 7.8%

Percentage of Participants (%)

5 3.4%
0.9%
] T T T T T T 1
16-25 years 26-35years 36-45years 46-55years 56-65years 66-75years 76+ years
Age Range (n=13,579)

Overall 22.3% of participants were classed as deprived (living within the top 20%
of the most deprived areas in Leeds). Table 1 shows the top 5 postcodes for LLGA
sign up by deprivation.

Page 153



Tablel: LLGA Lifestyle Participants Top 5 Postcodes for Sign- up by Deprivation.

Postcode Local Area’s Proportion of participants Proportion from
Deprived areas
LS12 Armley, Farnley, New 8.1% 61.8%
Farnley, Wortley (n=1,093) (n=591/957)
LS8 Roundhay, Oakwood, 6.2% 0.0%
Gledhow, Harehills (n=843) (n=0/739)
LS13 Bramley, Rodley, 5.7% 41.6%
Swinnow (n=768) (n=285/685)
LS28 Calverley, Farsley, Pudsey, 5.3% 3.8%
Stanningley (n=722) (n=23/611)
LS11 Beeston, Beeston Hill, 5.1% 68.2%
Cottingley, Holbeck (n=690 (n=431/632)

3.4.2 Physical Activity Status

Current recommendations suggest that adults should undertake 150+ minutes of
moderate intensity physical activity each week, equating to around five sessions
of physical activity lasting 30 minutes or more each week. Based on activity
scores from the single-item measure Figure 2 shows that 40.1% of LLGA sign ups
were insufficiently active for health and 49.9% were inactive, therefore, 90.0% of
participants presented physical activity as a Lifestyle Risk Factor.

Figure 2: LLGA Lifestyle Participants - Physical Activity Status

60
Lifestyle Risk
49.9% Factor Present

50 4
S
= 40.1% e
S 40 - yd
2 /
2
c
]
a 30 -
s L
Q
&
€ 20 4
Q
2
Q
o 10.0%

10 +

0 T T 1

Inactive Insufficiently Active Physically Active
(<30 Mins MVPA each Week) (2150 Mins MVPA Each Week)
Participants HEPA Category (n=13,579)

3.4.3 Lifestyle and Wellbeing Baseline Data

Chronic health conditions such as cancer, cardiovascular disease, diabetes and
chronic respiratory disease are now grouped together in public health terms as
non-communicable diseases; these conditions are thought to be underpinned by
Lifestyle Risk Factors (current smoker, excessive alcohol consumption,
insufficiently active and lack of fruit and vegetables).

Page 154



3.4.4

Individual Lifestyle Risk Factors:
e 82.3% of participants did not consume enough fruit and vegetables each day.
e 19.3% of participants were current smokers.

e 45.7% of participants reported hazardous and/or harmful alcohol
consumption.

Combinations of Lifestyle Risk Factors (LRF):

e 87.0% of participants reported LRFs in combination.

e 8.3% of participants presented all four LRFs simultaneously.
e 1.7% of participants reported a healthy lifestyle (zero LRFSs).

e 43.4% of participants reported two LRFs. With 33.6% of participants reported
lack of fruit and vegetables and insufficient physical activity. This was the
most prevalent combination of two LRFs.

e 35.4% of participants reporting combinations of three LRFs. The combination
of insufficient activity, a lack of fruit and vegetables and excessive alcohol
consumption was the most prevalent.

Body Mass Index (BMI):
e 56.9% of participants presented an unhealthy BMI.
e Obese individuals were least likely to present a healthy lifestyle (no LRFs).

Long Term Conditions (LTCs):
e 19.7% of participants were diagnosed with a LTC in the last 12 months.
e 8.7% of participants presented with a mental health related condition.

e Participants reporting a LTC were twice as likely to report all four LRFs.

Wellbeing:
e 19.0% of participants reported their ‘life satisfaction” as very low.

e 17.8% of participants reported their ‘happiness yesterday’ as very low.
Attendance Data and Participation at LLGA

For the period covered by the Year 3 evaluation (1% April 2015 —25™ April 2016),
there have been 34,962 visits to LLGA sessions.

e 57% of attendance came from the ‘Swim’ option and 43% came from
‘Bodyline Gym'’ visits.

Page 155



3.4.5

3.4.6

e On average 660 LLGA lifestyle participants engaged gym and swim sessions
each week.

Inactive Participants Attendance at LLGA

e Intotal, 45.6% LLGA visits were made by LLGA participants who were
classed as inactive at baseline.

e Almost fourteen thousand visits to LLGA sessions were made by inactive
participants.

e On average, around 296 inactive participants engaged in sessions each
week.

e Among these inactive participants, male participants who were economically
inactive and participant’s from BME backgrounds attended the most
sessions.

e 32.4% of inactive participants had attended at least one LLGA session.

e Intotal 83.4% of LLGA visits were made by participants who reported
combinations of 2 or more LRFs.

Follow-Up Data (Impact Evaluation)

There was an overall reduction in the proportion of participants presenting
Lifestyle Risk Factors (current smoker, excessive alcohol consumption,
insufficiently active and lack of fruit and vegetables) with 25% of participants
reducing the occurrence and combinations of Lifestyle Risk Factors profile from
baseline to follow-up.

Figure 4 illustrates that there was 8.7% reduction in participants reporting physical
activity as a Lifestyle Risk Factor.

Figure 4: Change in Physical Activity Status

70
Baseline 62.7% Significant reduction in
60 | Follow-Up the prevelance of this
lifestyle risk factor
® 49.9%
£ 50
=
2 41.2%
=2
S 40 -
o
o
—
©
@ 30 §
o}
] 19.8%
S 50 - ° 17.6%
=]
a
aQ,
10 - 8.9%
D T 1
Inactive Insufficiently Active Physically Active
(<30 Mins MVPA each Week) (=150 Mins MVPA Each Week)
HEPA Category (n=541)

Page 156



4.1

41.1

4.1.2

In summary the university suggest the following key messages from their
evaluation findings:

e Findings highlight the need for continued physical activity and lifestyle
improvement opportunities across Leeds

e LLGA was able to reach a large proportion of health needy individuals across
the social spectrum often unreached by other services.

e There are currently a lack of approaches and interventions that intersect
multiple behaviours. Yet LLGA helped to improve and stabilise several of the
most important lifestyle behaviours impacting mortality and morbidity.

e These findings show the potential benefits of LLGA and provide a rationale
for its integration into a long term sustainable programme that helps to
prevent and manage the foundational risk factors for non-communicable
disease incidence.

Health and Wellbeing Board Governance

Consultation and Engagement

LLGA continues to engage a wide variety of stakeholders as part of the project
delivery. Importantly the project team consider community groups already working
with key target groups as being essential in ensuring that the project reaches
those people who are inactive and based in the highest areas of deprivation as
they will have some of the best communication channels. A series of workshops
and events continue to be delivered as part of this holistic approach. In addition to
this the project is also engaging directly with, for example, Sport Leeds, West
Yorkshire Sport, Public Health, Children’s Services, Adult Social Care, Resources
(revenues and benefits).

In addition to a previous communication audit with Leeds Beckett University,
LLGA has pooled resource with the National Governing Body Place Pilot (A
project led by the Sport and Active Lifestyles service (S&AL) funded by Sport
England) to commission a large scale insight report with the following objectives;

e Understand how to better engage inactive people in physical activity and
sporting opportunities in Leeds.
e Understand how barriers to sport and physical activity can be removed.

e Understand how to better influence the range of emotional responses people
have regarding physical activity.

e Understand supportive and engaging messages, channels and credible
advocates for increasing physical activity in the inactive.

e Provide recommendations to S&AL service to help in responding, planning
and the implementation of services to encourage an increase in activity
levels with a focus on those currently inactive.

Page 157



4.1.3

4.2

42.1

4.3

431

This insight work will support S&AL to better engage inactive people following in-
depth qualitative research with large number of residents. This work has also
incorporated focus groups and co-creation workshops to ensure projects are
innovative and accessible with communication methods and channels working to
maximum effectiveness.

The Scrutiny Board (Sustainable Economy and Culture) considered the LLGA
Scheme proposals at its meeting on 16 July 2013 and received an interim
report/update on 16 December 2014. Members of the Board strongly welcomed
the scheme and its aims and objectives. They were pleased that the council has
been successful in obtaining the funding for the pilot from Sport England and
Public Health, and are keen to play a part in seeing the project succeed.

Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration

LLGA has previously been screened for issues on Equality, Diversity, Cohesion
and Integration as part of the Executive Board report on the 24th April 2013. In
general, such considerations are integral to LLGA as one of the major aims of
LLGA is to narrow health inequality, a key council objective. = The screening
noted:

e The pilot project is designed to provide more assistance to get active in more
deprived communities.

e The free swim and gym offer will be doubled at Armley, Fearnville and the
John Charles Centre for Sport — all measured as having the most deprived
catchment areas among the council’s leisure centres.

e The community offer and the pathways to the Bodyline offer will be focused
on areas and individuals where the health need is highest.

e The free offer will be available to the whole population and across the whole
council leisure centre portfolio.

e Consider whether some free sessions should be female only.

e Consider how access to free sessions is extended to disabled groups as far
as possible and practical.

These notes have been actioned as the project has progressed.
Resources and value for money

Continuing this pilot on the same scale as previously was neutral to the council’s
budget in 2014/15. The budgeted cost for 2014/15 of £631k was met with £349k
from Sport England (note, includes £28k that was not claimed in Year 1), £82k
from Public Health, £40k from Public Health funding Bodyline Access Scheme
and £160k in-kind officer time funded by the Council in its base 2014/15 revenue
budget. LLGA ran in Year 3 based on a re-profile of £195k of Public Health money
(Year 2) alongside an additional £145k additional support to build evidence base
and enable delivery until the end of March 2016. And additional 8 months funding
was provided by the Integrated Commissioning Executive to enable the Year 3
evaluation reports to be produced in July 2016 and for a cost effectiveness

Page 158



analysis to be completed for the scheme. This funding is due to end on the 30™

November 2016.
4.3.2 Cost effectiveness results from University of Leeds, Academic Unit of Health
Economics.
In addition to the evaluation carried out by Leeds Beckett University the University
of Leeds, Academic Unit of Health Economics conducted a review of population-
level physical activity promotion programmes. Only economic papers matching
the following criteria (mirroring Leeds Let's Get Active “free exercise” scheme) are
reviewed and discussed:
1) Reviews including economic evaluations of UK-based interventions/
programmes that are aimed at changing/maintaining physical activity related
behaviours solely through the promotion of physical activity.
2) Programmes oriented at whole populations or wide population sub groups of
apparently healthy, community-based people. Programmes where individuals
at risk were targeted and identified to participate (e.g.: typically in primary
care settings, such as exercise referral schemes) were excluded.
3) Economic evaluations reporting incremental cost per Quality-Adjusted Life
Year (QALY), Disability-Adjusted Life Year (DALY) or Return on Investment
(ROI) estimates. Studies based only on cost-effectiveness, such as costs per
change in unit of physical activity, were excluded.
The search identified three review papers meeting the selection criteria and
altogether these included three relevant articles and are presented in Table 2.
Table 2: Economic studies identified in the selected review papers
Cost
. Intervention Cost per savings ) s
Study Year Study deglgn / detail Comparator QALY per Tlr_ne Sen3|t|v_|ty
reference Population . gy Horizon analysis
gained participa
nt*
Different
[d] 2003 Cluster RCT; Free exercise No czﬁc?l;(l);icnhgez(;(s)t
(Munro et to (n=2283) aged 65 . . £ 12,192** - 2 years
classes intervention per QALY
al. 2004) 2004 and over f x
rom £ 3,365
to 23,098**
[10] 2004 e Free o
(Pringle et to MO:ge;a(Qa_ll();)O) swimming intersgntion £103 £2111 Tgaggfg:?nd i
al. 2010) 2006 activities
Model; on the Time horizon 2
[8] whole city Universal, free No years:
(Frew et al. 2011 population aged access to . . £ 400 - 5 years .
2014) 16 -70 leisure centres Intervention £ 2,10aCi)n/e(gALY
(n=~650,000) 9

RCT=randomised controlled trial; QALY=Quality-Adjusted Life Year; *in terms of NHS savings: **converted

from € (0.71 EUR-GBP exchange rate 01/2004)

Page 159




4.3.3 In addition the University of Leeds conducted a preliminary cost-effectiveness
analysis of the LLGA scheme using an existing economic modelling tool (MOVES
version 02.2015; https://www.sportengland.org/sxls-login/). It allows analysts to
input data on programme costs, mean activity levels (visits per week) given set
levels of starting activity, proportions of males/females and age groups. It uses
this data to provide cost per quality-adjusted life year (QALY) and return on
investment (ROI) estimates, comparing the intervention with “no intervention”.
Table 3 includes the cost-effectiveness and ROI results. For both the 5 and 25
years’ time horizon, the ICERs lie below the cost-effectiveness threshold of
£20,000, but the ROI has a positive value only in the longer term. This means that
LLGA is cost-effective. This trend is confirmed after testing the sensitivity of the
main analysis assumptions.

On the basis of the results we can conclude that LLGA is cost-effective in
attaining QALY gains, compared to no intervention and is cost saving in the longer
term.
Table 3: Cost-effectiveness and Return of Investment Results
Cost-
Financial
Time Incremental Incremental | effectiveness RO
Analysis Horizon costs benefits estimate (per £ 1 Interpretation
er
(QALYS) (per QALY ) P
invested)
gained)
#1 Main analysis 5 years £ 212,810 65 £ 3,274 - £0.51 LLGA cost-effective
LLGA cost-effective
25 years - £1,382,120 436 - £3,170 £3.36 _
and cost saving
#1 Sensitivity analyses
5 years £ 462,085 65 £7,109 - £0.70 LLGA cost-effective
In-kind staffing cost
_ LLGA cost-effective
included (£429,093) 25 years - £1,139,268 436 - £2,613 £1.63 _
and cost saving
Starting activity level 5 years £ 208,704 64 £ 3,261 - £0.51 LLGA cost-effective
from LLGA cost-effective
moderately inactive to 25 years - £ 1,438,276 434 - £3,314 £ 3.45 and cost saving
moderately active
Alternative analyses
#2 LLGA not cost-
5 years £ 341,360 16 £21,335 - £0.88
effective
25 years - £ 41,216 112 - £368 £0.10 LLGA cost-effective
#3 5 years £177,284 164 £1,081 - £0.25 LLGA cost-effective
LLGA cost-effective
25 years - £4,080,993 1119 - £3,647 £5.70
and cost saving
#4 5 years £ 604,765 35 £17,279 - £0.85 LLGA cost-effective
25 years - £269,654 238 - £1,133 £ 0.38 LLGA cost-effective

Page 160




4.4

44.1

4.5

45.1

45.2

45.3

5.2

5.3

5.4

Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In

The provision of sport services by councils and their pricing or subsidy is not
subject to statute so the main legal criteria are that these proposals are
reasonable. The Board are reminded of the project development taking due
regard to consultation on groups impacted. There is no access to information and
call-in implications arising from this report.

Risk Management

The main financial risk is that the free offer diverts more paying customers than
anticipated, widening the loss of income and reducing the space in pools for
previously inactive newcomers. This would increase the cost and reduce the
effect of the free swim part of the offer and it might have to be curtailed early to
avoid loss to the council. To manage the risk the income loss and numbers of
new participants continue be monitored for any disproportionate loss of income.

The main policy risk is that this pilot produces an expectation of free access to
high cost facilities and activities at a public subsidy that cannot be sustained. To
mitigate this risk, efforts will be made to offer additional paid sessions to new
customers and to build up evidence of the benefits of the offer, so as to
encourage future funding or sponsorship.

The risk of funding not being secured and ceasing. The Sport & Active Lifestyle
Service are exploring sustainable options, but the pressures of austerity are
making this extremely difficult.

Conclusions

LLGA has demonstrated that it has been effective at getting more people, more
physically active, more often by increasing physical activity levels among inactive
individuals, including those areas that have the highest health inequalities. The
scheme continues to grow with over 410,000 visits being made and 45% of these
visits made by participants who were classified as inactive at baseline.

Since its launch in September 2013, LLGA has recruited over 89,000 individuals
and has captured valuable baseline and attendance data. The continued
investment in LLGA for a third year has enabled valuable intelligence about self-
reported demographics, lifestyle risk factors and long term conditions of its
members to collated. LLGA has the ability to engage and communicate with all its
members and therefore has the potential to be used as a vehicle for promoting
wider lifestyle changes.

Cost analysis carried out by the University of Leeds concludes that LLGA is cost-
effective in attaining Quality-Adjusted Life Year gains, compared to no intervention
and appears to be cost-saving in the longer term.

LLGA is funded till the end of November 2016. Officers are exploring sustainable
options but the pressures of austerity are making this extremely difficult.

Page 161



6 Recommendations
6.1 The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to:

e Note the update of LLGA and evaluation findings based on research from Year
3 of project delivery.

Page 162



	Agenda
	8 Minutes
	Minutes

	9 The Leeds Approach to Commissioning and Decommissioning
	9 .1 Appendix 1 071016
	9.2 Appendix 2 071016

	10 Staying Focussed on the Wider Determinants of Health
	11 Making A Breakthrough: Impact of Breakthrough Projects on Health Outcomes and Reducing Health Inequalities
	12 Future in Mind Leeds - A Strategy to Improve the Social, Emotional and Mental Health and Wellbeing of Children and Young People aged 0-25 years
	1. Leeds HWBB Cover Paper-FiML final
	2. Future in Mind Leeds Strategy final for October HWBB
	Foreword
	Introduction
	Mental Health and Wellbeing
	Resilience is a concept that refers to being able to ‘bounce back’ from adversity or difficult life events.  Resilience can be increased by a positive interaction between the protective factors at the individual, family and community level.
	Some key local facts
	Local Reviews
	National Policy
	What will we do?
	Accountability
	How will we know we’ve made a difference?

	3. Future in Mind Leeds Plan on a Page final for HWBB
	Future in Mind: Leeds 2016-2020�A strategy to improve the social, emotional, � mental health and wellbeing of �children and young people aged 0 -25 years

	4. Future in Mind Leeds LTP final for HWBB
	5. Future in Mind Governance Structure final for HWBB

	13 Director of Public Health Annual Report 2016
	HPT AH Amendments - Leeds HWB report final 19Oct2016
	Appendix 1 Stats Template 20160921
	V2 Appendix 2 - Recommendations update Director of Public Health Annual Report 2015
	Appendix 3 Equality, diversity, cohesion and integration screening form

	14 For Information - Update on Leeds Transforming Care Three Year Plan
	15 For Information - Leeds Lets Get Active Evaluation Findings



